Digital Comprehensive Summaries of Uppsala Dissertations from the Faculty of Medicine 2036

Optimizing the magnetic tracer technique for sentinel lymph node detection and tumour localization in breast cancer surgery

ALLAN JAZRAWI





ISSN 1651-6206 ISBN 978-91-513-2073-1 urn:nbn:se:uu:diva-525195



UPPSALA UNIVERSITET Dissertation presented at Uppsala University to be publicly examined in Ingång 21, Västmanlands Sjukhus Västerås, Västerås, Thursday, 16 May 2024 at 13:00 for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Faculty of Medicine). The examination will be conducted in Swedish. Faculty examiner: Professor Jonas Manjer (Lund Universitet, Institutionen för kliniska vetenskaper i Malmö).

#### Abstract

Jazrawi, A. 2024. Optimizing the magnetic tracer technique for sentinel lymph node detection and tumour localization in breast cancer surgery. *Digital Comprehensive Summaries of Uppsala Dissertations from the Faculty of Medicine* 2036. 58 pp. Uppsala: Acta Universitatis Upsaliensis. ISBN 978-91-513-2073-1.

Breast cancer is the most common form of cancer in women, and the primary treatment modalities are still breast-conserving surgery (BCS) and sentinel lymph node dissection (SLND) in most cases. Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPIO) are gaining momentum as a tracer for sentinel lymph node detection. The aim of this thesis is to further refine the magnetic method and investigate its postoperative effects.

**Paper I:** This feasibility study, involving 79 patients, explored the use of SPIO-guided Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)-lymphography and magnetic-guided axillary ultrasound (MagUS) with core biopsy for sentinel lymph node (SLN) localization and SLN status. MagUS, outperformed baseline axillary ultrasound and successfully traced SLNs in all cases, detecting macro-metastases accurately and missed only one micro-metastasis. The findings suggest that the MagUS technique enables minimally invasive approach in axillary mapping that can meet tailored patient needs and reduce the need for diagnostic surgery.

**Paper II:** This study aimed to compare skin staining incidence and size between different doses of SPIO and blue dye (BD), evaluating their persistence over time. Among 270 women receiving SPIO, 204 also received BD. At six months, 21.5% had SPIO stains and 25% had BD stains Incidence and size decreased reciprocally, with no significant difference between the tracers regarding skin staining after 24 months.

**Paper III:** This study compared the magnetic technique using Magseed® for non-palpable breast tumor localization with guidewire localization and SPIO for sentinel lymph node detection. In a prospective analysis of 426 women, reoperation rates, resection ratios, and SLN detection were assessed. No significant differences were found between the techniques in terms of re-excisions, resection ratios, or SLN detection. However, the magnetic technique showed more successful localizations, shorter operation time, and better overall experience among surgeons, radiologists, and theater coordinators, making it a good alternative for BCS.

**Paper IV:** In this prospective observational study, the impact of postoperative MRI outcome was explored in patients undergoing BCS with a peritumoral SPIO injection for SLN detection. The study affirms SPIO as a safe tracer for SLN detection without compromising MRI interpretation after BCS, ensuring reliable breast cancer recurrence assessment.

*Keywords:* Breast Cancer, Sentinel Node, Super paramagnetic ironoxide nanoparticles, SPIO, Skin Staining, Magnetic resonance imaging, magnetic seed, guidewire

Allan Jazrawi, Centre for Clinical Research, County of Västmanland, Västmanlands sjukhus Västerås, Uppsala University, SE-72189 Västerås, Sweden.

© Allan Jazrawi 2024

ISSN 1651-6206 ISBN 978-91-513-2073-1 URN urn:nbn:se:uu:diva-525195 (http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:uu:diva-525195) To Alexis, my lovely daughter, Baba loves you more than life. To my beautiful wife, thank you for always believing in me even when I doubted myself. To my dear mother and father, thank you for guiding me in life.

'The only limit to our realization of tomorrow will be our doubts of today.' -Franklin D. Roosevelt

## List of Papers

This thesis is based on the following papers, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I. Jazrawi A, Pantiora E, Abdsaleh S, Bacovia DV, Eriksson S, Leonhardt, Wärnberg F, Karakatsanis A. Magnetic-guided axillary ultrasound (MagUS) sentinel lymph node biopsy and mapping in patients with early breast cancer. A phase 2, single-arm prospective clinical trial. *Cancers (Basel)*. 2021;13(17):4285. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers13174285
- II. Jazrawi A, Wärnberg M, Hersi A.-F, Obondo C, Pistioli L, Eriksson S, Karakatsanis A, Wärnberg F. A Comparison of skin staining after sentinel lymph node biopsy in women undergoing breast cancer surgery using blue dye and superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticle (SPIO) tracers. *Cancers (Basel)*. 2022;14(23):6017. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers14236017
- III. Pantiora E\*, Jazrawi A\*, Hersi A-F, Abdsaleh S, Ahlstedt H, Molnar E, Wärnberg F, Eriksson S, Karakatsanis A. Magnetic seed vs guidewire breast cancer localization with magnetic lymph node detection: A randomized clinical trial. JAMA Surg. 2024; 159(3):239–246. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamasurg.2023.6520.
- IV. Jazrawi A, Pantiora E, Abdsaleh S, Wärnberg F, NG Lian C, Zouzos A, Gagliardi T, Karakatsanis A, Eriksson S. Prospective evaluation of imaging artefacts in patients undergoing breast conserving surgery and sentinel lymph node dissection with the magnetic technique. Manuscript.

Reprints were made with permission from the respective publishers.

\*Shared first authorship

## Contents

Introduction	11
Background Breast carcinoma in situ	13 14
Histopathological classification and intrinsic biological subtypes	15
Tumour biology	10 16
Intrinsic biological subtypes	
Staging	17
Sentinel lymph node dissection	19
Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles	20
Non-palpable breast tumours	21
General and specific aims	22
Paper I	22
Paper II	22
Paper III	22
Paper IV	23
Materials and methods	24
Paper I	24
Paper II	24
Paper III	25
	25
Statistical analysis	27
Paper I.	27
Paper II Paper III	27 27
Paper IV	
Ethical considerations	
Summary of results	31
Paner I	31
Paper II	
Paper III	
Paper IV	32

Conclusions	
Paper I	33
Paper II	33
Paper III	
Paper IV	
General discussion	
Future perspectives	35
Sammanfattning på svenska	37
Mål med avhandlingen och delmål	
Metod & Resultat	
Acknowledgements	40
Appendices	43
Appendix 1: Supplement 2 for Paper III	43
Appendix 2: Supplementary material for Paper IV	45
Appendix 3: Errata for Paper I	54
Appendix 4: Errata for Paper II	54
References	55

## Abbreviations

Axillary lymph node dissection
Actual resection volume
Axillary ultrasound
Blue dye
Breast-conserving surgery
Body mass index
Carcinoma in situ
Core needle biopsy
Computed tomography
Ductal carcinoma in situ
Fluorescence in situ hybridization
Human epidermal growth factor subtype 2
Invasive breast cancer
Immunohistochemical/immunohistochemistry
Interquartile range
Lobular carcinoma in situ
Lymph node
Magnetic-guided axillary ultrasound
Magnetic resonance imaging
Magnetic resonance imaging lymphography
Neoadjuvant treatment
Odds ratio
Optimal resection volume
Radioactive isotope
Sentinel lymph node
Sentinel lymph node dissection
Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles
Technetium-99 (medical radioisotope)
Tumour, Node, Metastasis (cancer-staging system)
World Health Organization

## Introduction

Breast cancer is the most common form of cancer among women globally, with 9491 newly diagnosed cases in Sweden in 2022. There is still an increasing trend for newly diagnosed breast cancer both in Sweden and internationally, especially in the developed world (1), which is thought to be caused primarily by improved living conditions.

The first descriptions of breast cancer date back to ancient Egypt, but it is unclear how this form of cancer was treated at that time. The first surgical technique was described at least as early as 548 AD, when a mastectomy was performed during the Byzantine Empire (2–4). Since then, treatment options have progressed with the advent of numerous factors that facilitate surgery, such as anaesthesia and antiseptic drugs.

The primary treatment for breast cancer is currently surgery, which developed from the radical mastectomy described by Halsted and Meyer, involving the removal of the entire breast gland, the pectoral muscle and 30-40 axillary lymph nodes (LNs). Today, surgical treatment for breast cancer mainly comprises breast-conserving surgery (BCS) (5), where the relationship between the tumour and breast size should be such that locally radical surgery can be performed with good cosmetic results. The primary surgical treatment today in Sweden is a combination of BCS and adjuvant radiation therapy, which provides oncological results equal to those of mastectomies (6-8). The introduction of mammography screening also allows for earlier tumour detection, making BCS quite likely. Axillary staging is currently mostly performed using sentinel lymph node dissection (SLND), which is mainly conducted using radioactive isotope (RI) tracers in combination with blue dye (BD), which is considered to be the 'gold standard' method for SLND (9, 10). The axilla is the initial site of metastases in most patients with breast cancer and is considered one of the most important prognostic factors, as it determines the need for radiotherapy and neoadjuvant treatments (NATs).

Following the success of mammography screening, tumours are now more often detected at an earlier stage and are thus usually smaller and more often not palpable at the time of detection. This creates difficulties during surgery, as the surgeon cannot feel and palpate the tumour during the procedure, which makes it more difficult to predict resection margins (11). Therefore, several studies have been conducted in this field to develop methods for localizing non-palpable tumours (12).

## Background

Breast cancer ranks as the predominant type of cancer that affects women in both industrialized and developing nations. In recent decades, there has been a consistently global increase in the occurrence of breast cancer. Interestingly, this increase was accompanied by a concurrent decrease in mortality rates (13). This increasing incidence globally is thought to be related to the prevalence of risk factors for breast cancer, such as high body mass index (BMI), increasing population age, physical inactivity, early menarche and late menopause, addition of hormone therapy, fewer pregnancies and reduced breastfeeding. The introduction of screening modalities for breast cancer has also contributed to an increased incidence of diagnosed cases; however, breast cancer screening is more common in industrialized countries (14, 15).

Mortality from breast cancer is decreasing, with a 5-year survival rate of 83%, while the 10-year survival rate is 71% in Sweden (16). These results are primarily because of the introduction of new oncological therapies and additional treatments. Developments in oncological treatments have made great progress in recent decades from essentially only including selective oestrogen receptor modulators and basal cytostatic drugs. A variety of different treatment therapies are now currently available, such as aromatase inhibitors and monoclonal antibodies. In addition, radiotherapy has also been developed to target tumours with greater precision and dosage volumes. These developments in this field have decreased the morbidity that usually follows NATs. Despite the development of these adjuvant treatments, surgery is still the main method for treating and staging breast cancer.

The Halsted radical mastectomy had a profound impact on patients in terms of both its functionality and postoperative complications. The primary technique today is BCS, which is central for breast surgery. This technique was made possible following treatment combinations, including BCS and postoperative radiotherapy of the breast, which have been shown to have comparable results in terms of recurrence rates compared with mastectomy alone (6–8, 17).

Alongside the development of breast surgery, axilla staging developed during the same time frame. Prior to the development of BCS, a complete axillary lymph node dissection (ALND) was performed routinely, where approximately 10-20 LNs were removed in levels I and II of the axilla during axillary clearance. However, this technique has been shown to be related to a high degree of morbidity with an increased risk of lymphedema (18). Therefore, there was a need to identify another method for properly staging the axilla with less morbidity. During the 1990s, SLND was introduced and validated. The underlying concept for the use of SLND was largely based on the anatomy of lymph drainage from the breast (9, 10, 19). When breast cancer starts to spread, tumour cells will be found in the sentinel lymph node (SLN) because the lymph primarily drains to these nodes. If there are metastases, the SLN will contain tumour cells. If the SLN is healthy and there are no tumour cells, the remaining axilla are considered as being healthy. In this way, SLND becomes both a diagnostic and staging procedure, and it is possible to significantly reduce the postoperative complications that the earlier axillary surgery with ALND entailed, such as lymphedema, chronic pain and wound infections (20, 21). SLND is currently the gold standard method for staging the axilla.

Today, the 'dual technique' is the gold standard for identification and localization of SLNs. The technique is based on combining the RI technetium-99 (Tc99) in combination with BD. This technique is well proven and has been validated with a detection of  $\geq$ 90% (18, 19, 22). However, the method has some disadvantages, which limit its use. The use of BD has a small risk of producing anaphylactic reactions and is therefore preferred to be given after the induction of anaesthesia when the patient's airway is secured. In addition, BD can cause a skin discoloration that takes a long time to disappear in some patients (23). The largest problem with the dual technique is the strict regulation regarding the handling of the RI and its short half-life of 6 hours. Among other things, the use of RIs requires access to nuclear medical facilities. The radiation itself also entails a certain risk for health-care personnel, while the short half-life causes logistical problems regarding surgery planning. All these factors limit the use of this method, especially in developing countries.

#### Breast carcinoma in situ

The in situ and invasive phases are two phases in the development of breast cancer. During the in situ phase, the carcinoma is still restricted and has not penetrated the milk duct epithelia. In the invasive phase, however, the cancer has broken through the membrane and infiltrated the breast tissue; therefore, it has the potential to produce metastases. Traditionally, in situ breast cancer was categorized into ductal breast carcinoma in situ (DCIS) or lobular breast carcinoma in situ (LCIS). DCIS accounts for approximately 10% of all diagnosed breast cancer cases in Sweden (24). DCIS is a precursor to invasive cancer; if left untreated, there is a high risk of transformation to invasive cancer. DCIS is associated with invasive ductal carcinoma, while LCIS is largely associated with invasive lobular carcinoma. Unlike DCIS, the status of LCIS has been re-evaluated and is now seen more as a risk factor for developing breast cancer than the earlier idea that it was an actual precursor. The annual risk to develop breast cancer from LCIS is estimated to be around 2% (25). However, the most common in situ form is DCIS, which has an increased risk of 20%–50% of developing an invasive component if left untreated within a period of 10 years (26). Based on these facts, DCIS is therefore usually treated as a small node-negative breast cancer; however, there are no clear guidelines regarding axilla management for these patients (27, 28).

DCIS is currently divided into three grades based on histopathology. The factors evaluated during DCIS are the number of mitoses, pleomorphism, chromatin and nucleoli appearance. The tumour grading goes from I–III, where I means that the cell most resembles a healthy cell, while grade III shows a low degree of differentiation and thus deviates the most from a normal cell. Regarding DCIS, axillary staging with SLND is advised in mastectomy cases and when there is suspicion of invasiveness based on imaging, clinical examination or biopsy results. In situations involving high-grade DCIS, extensive tumour spread and palpable tumours, a significant number of cases are upgraded to invasive cancer in the final postoperative pathology report. However, due to the risk of arm morbidity persisting even after a SLN biopsy, it is primarily recommended to consider reoperation with a SLN biopsy only after pathology results confirm invasiveness (29).

# Histopathological classification and intrinsic biological subtypes

Invasive breast cancer can be classified according to the type of tumour cells based on the World Health Organization (WHO) classification, according to the degree of differentiation (i.e. Elston–Ellis classification) and according to the tumour biology (i.e. endocrine receptors, oncogenes and cell proliferation).

#### Tumour differentiation (Elston-Ellis classification)

The Elston–Ellis classification system assesses tumour cell morphology microscopically and compares it with that of normal 'healthy' cells to provide what is generally known as the 'grade of differentiation'. The concept of differentiation is common in cancer biology and refers essentially to the question: 'How much or how little do the cancer cells resemble cells from the healthy tissue they originate from?' The Nottingham (i.e. Elston–Ellis) classification is a modification of the previous Bloom–Richardson grading system (34, 35) and assesses three variables: nuclear morphology, tubule formation and mitotic rate, where each variable is scored individually on a scale of 1 to 3 (i.e. 1 = the best and 3 = the worst). These scores are then combined into a cumulative score that correlates with the grade of differentiation, which is then assigned a grade: Grade I (score, 3–5), Grade II (score, 6–7) and Grade III (score, 8–9).

#### Tumour biology

The further classification of breast tumours and decisions about further therapeutic treatments is very much based on immunohistochemical (IHC) techniques, which are used to identify the endocrine properties that a tumour expresses. The main two hormone receptors being tested for are those for oestrogen and progesterone. Internationally, there is a cut-off limit of 1% to confirm a tumour as being hormone receptor-positive, which means that at least 1% of the tumour cells express these receptors. When defining the tumour as 'hormone receptor-positive' in Sweden, the limit is  $\geq 10\%$  (29).

Another receptor protein that has a role in breast cancer tumour biology is the human epidermal growth factor receptor subtype 2 (HER2), a tyrosine kinase receptor. The cancer cell expresses this receptor on the cell surface and those cells with HER2 overexpression are associated with a more aggressive course and have a poorer prognosis. IHC techniques are used to confirm HER2 status and give a score between 0-3+, where 0-1+ is considered as HER2 negative, 2+ as borderline and 3+ as HER2 positive. If the IHC is considered borderline, a fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) or silver in situ hybridization test might be applied to determine whether the tumour cells should be graded as HER2 positive. HER2-positive cancers are currently treated with adjuvant therapy in the form of monoclonal antibodies.

Proliferating cancer cells express an antigen called the KI-67 protein. Anti-KI-67 is a monoclonal antibody directed against this protein, which is expressed as a percentage and used as a marker for assessing tumour proliferation rates.

#### Intrinsic biological subtypes

Tumours in patients with breast cancer show a great deal of biological heterogeneity, which has in turn led to a need for a classification that accounts for all the different biological factors that influence the choice of treatment and prognosis. The ground-breaking research by Perou et al. defined different profiles based on gene expression and the Cancer Genome Atlas Network further refined research based on their work, which has led to an updated definition of the different subtypes (31, 32). Hence, physicians can now refine and specify the appropriate oncological treatment based on the different subtypes as follows:

- Luminal A Oestrogen and progesterone receptors positive, HER2-negative and low to intermediate Ki-67.
- Luminal B Oestrogen and progesterone receptors positive and high Ki-67. Can be HER2-negative or -positive.
- HER2-positive Oestrogen and progesterone receptors negative and HER2-positive. The prognosis has become better since the introduction of treatment with monoclonal antibodies targeting the HER2 receptor.
- Basal-like or triple-negative Oestrogen and progesterone receptors negative, HER2-negative, and high expression of Ki-67. This form of breast cancer has the worst prognosis.

## Staging

Breast cancer is staged according to the tumour, node, metastasis (TNM) staging system developed by the Union of International Cancer Control. This system addresses three different factors: T relates to the size of the tumour and its relation to the surrounding tissue, N corresponds to the prevalence of regional LN metastases, and M corresponds to distant metastases beyond the regional LN. The three factors in the TNM staging system are as follows (where clinical stages are given the prefix c):

- T Tumour size. T1 ( $\leq$ 20 mm), T2 (21–50 mm), T3 (>50 mm) and T4 (invasion of surrounding tissue).
- N Nodal status, which assesses the spread to local and regional LNs (pN0, no metastases; pN1, 1–3 LN metastases; pN2, 4–9 LN metastases; pN3, > 9 LN metastases or spread to the LN at the sternum or the clavicle).
- M Absence or presence of distant metastasis, staged as M0 or M1, respectively. If this is not investigated, the case is staged as Mx.

There are two important aspects to breast cancer staging. The first is based on tumour biology, such as the intrinsic subtypes mentioned previously. The 8<sup>th</sup> edition of the American Joint Committee on Cancer TNM classification includes information from IHC tests and the genomic signature, and is the first to integrate the intrinsic biological subtypes with the TNM classification to classify the tumour and thus modify treatment recommendations underlining the important role of intrinsic subtypes and tumour biology. The second important aspect in the staging of breast cancer is the LN status, as breast cancer mainly spreads via the lymphatic system. While hematogenous spread can occur, the cancer in such cases primarily metastasizes to the liver, lung, brain and skeleton.

## Sentinel lymph node dissection

Considering the axilla in patients with breast cancer, LN status has clinical significance. However, the handling of the axilla has changed from a routinely complete ALND evacuation where it was subsequently seen that a large proportion of the excised glands were healthy, while the accompanying morbidity for the procedure was significantly high (19).

Breast cancer is well known to spread primarily through the lymphatic system to the ipsilateral axilla in the first place. In addition, routine interventions in the axilla for the screening of metastases have a high degree of uncertainty (33, 34). Therefore, there has been a dual surgical approach regarding breast cancer, where a radical resection is sought while a diagnostic procedure is performed on the axilla. As mentioned above, ALND was the classical method in which the axilla was staged; however, this procedure resulted in a high morbidity with a consequence of postoperative complications, such as seromas, hematomas, infections, ipsilateral impaired arm mobility, impaired sensation and ipsilateral lymphedema (35).

The SLN is the first LN where the lymph from a breast cancer drains towards, which can consist of one or several LNs. When the cancer starts to spread, the malignant cells are first found in these nodes. SLND was introduced and validated during the 1990s (36, 37). It has since established itself as the gold standard method when it comes to staging the nodal status in the axilla. This method has significantly improved surgery in terms of staging the axilla and thus improved the best possible choice of treatment postoperatively. SLND has been shown to be as effective as ALND, but with a significantly lower morbidity (20–22).

SLNs are difficult to identify during surgery. Because of their size and location in the adipose tissue, the dual technique has long been considered the 'gold standard' for mapping and identification of SLNs. The dual technique uses the combination of RI Tc99 together with BD for visual aid. The isotope is given a few hours preoperatively, while BD is given perioperatively when the airways are secured, as it can produce anaphylactic reactions in a few patients. The isotope reaches the SLN via the lymphatic system and the surgeon uses a handheld gamma probe to locate the SLN and plan the incision in the axilla. The dual technique has a SLN detection of about 90%–99% (19, 38, 39). However, there are some disadvantages with the dual technique. First, the handling of the RI requires nuclear medical facilities and special rules. The short half-life of the isotope (6 h) causes problems with the logistics and planning of operations, as patients usually need to present the same day or the day before to get their injection of the isotope. Against this background, access to isotopes is limited in developing countries. The BD is also an allergen and can produce an allergic reaction in 0.1%-1% of cases. In addition, it usually leaves skin discoloration, especially at the injection site (23).

#### Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles

For several decades, superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPIO) have been used as a contrast agent in magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) examinations. The first time the substance was used within SLND was in the 2010s (40). SPIO is currently sold under the commercial name Magtrace<sup>®</sup> and was formerly called Sienna<sup>®</sup> or Sienna XP<sup>®</sup>. This is a sterile water suspension of SPIO coated with carboxydextran molecules. These carboxydextran molecules emit the superparamagnetic effect in contact with the magnetic fields from the handheld SentiMag device. The size of the particles together with the coating is 60 nm, which enables them to pass in the lymphatic system to LNs where it is filtered, making it ideal for SLN detection. In addition, the SPIO solution is dark brown and usually stains the LN, which can provide visual assistance during surgery.

In recent years, scholars have shown that the magnetic technique is non-inferior towards the dual technique for SLN detection (41). In the Central-European SentiMag study, SPIO was injected 20 min before the start of SLND, but in the Nordic SentiMag study, SPIO was injected up to 20 min preoperatively and similar results were reported (42, 43). Furthermore, SPIO can be given several weeks preoperatively based on the longer half-life of the substance and it has been possible to give it up to 30 days before surgery (44). Another advantage of SPIO involves substance handling because it is not radioactive, which in turn means that there is no need for nuclear medical facilities. In theory, the management and administration of SPIO could be performed by all health-care professionals. In addition, SPIO also colours the LNs dark grey/brown.

However, there are some disadvantages with SPIO. The main argument against its use is primarily the risk of potential artefacts on postoperative MRI examinations. However, this can be largely avoided, as recent studies show that by reducing the volume of SPIO injected and the use of different injection techniques from a more superficial retro-areolar injection to a deeper peri-tumoural injection, the bulk of SPIO can be removed after BCS and thereby reduces the risk of artefacts on MRI (45, 46). Similarly to BD, another disadvantage of SPIO is that it can cause skin discoloration (47).

## Non-palpable breast tumours

In Sweden, about 50% of all tumours are diagnosed through mammography screening (16), which has led to earlier detection leading to lower mortality and morbidity as well as a better prognosis. All women between the ages of 40 and 74 years are offered mammography biennially. The earlier the tumours are detected, the smaller they are. Therefore, the challenge that the surgeon faces is that more of these tumours are not palpable. From a global perspective, non-palpable tumours represent about 30%-50% of all cases (11), which has led to an increased need for a safe and effective method for locating and identifying non-palpable tumours with adequate surgical margins. The gold standard method for locating and identifying non-palpable breast tumours is the use of wire-guided localization, which is well-used globally (48). The wire is used as guidance to the tumour for the surgeon during surgery and by the radiologist after the specimen is excised and sent for X-ray investigations to assess radiological radicality. Although it is a well-proven and well-used method, it has a few disadvantages. The main problem with the use of a wire is in the logistics, as the patient must receive the steel wire implant on the day of surgery or the day before. In addition, the patient experiences much discomfort and the surgeon risks injury during surgery, as well as the risk of dislocation during and after surgery. There are alternatives to wire-guided localization, but the following techniques are not as well established:

- Coal suspension
- Intra-operative ultrasound-guided lumpectomy
- Cryo-assisted techniques
- Magnetic seed localization (Magseed<sup>®</sup>)
- Radio-guided occult lesion localization
- Radioactive iodine seed localization

## General and specific aims

The overall rationale for this thesis was to find and develop feasible methods using the magnetic approach in breast cancer surgery. Our research group has previously been instrumental in showing the non-inferiority of SPIO against the 'gold standard' dual technique regarding SLND. The next step is to find and develop practical applications for SPIO. Because this is an evolving new method for SLND, the procedure must be refined further, such as dose optimization, evaluation of the injection techniques and further investigation into the effects postoperatively.

The specific aims of the thesis were as follows:

#### Paper I

The aim of this feasibility study was to determine whether a preoperative workup with SPIO-guided MRI-lymphography (MRI-LG) and magnetic-guided axillary ultrasound (MagUS) and core biopsy of the SLN can accurately localize SLNs and predict SLN status, and whether such a technique has the potential of replacing SLND surgery in the future.

#### Paper II

The purpose of this study was to compare different doses of SPIO and BD regarding the incidence and size of skin staining, and how long staining remained in the skin.

#### Paper III

A randomized trial aimed to compare the combined magnetic technique with Magseed<sup>®</sup> for the localization of a non-palpable breast tumour, with guidewire localization in combination with SPIO for SLN detection. The aim was to compare and evaluate the reoperation rate due to positive oncologic margins and the resection ratio between the two techniques in a prospective study.

## Paper IV

The aim of this prospective observational study was to explore the outcomes of postoperative MRI artefacts in patients that underwent BCS and SLND following a peri-tumoural SPIO injection.

## Materials and methods

#### Paper I

Candidates for this study were enrolled at Uppsala University Hospital. All adult women with clinical and ultrasound node-negative early breast cancer (clinical stage, cN0) planned for SLND, from September 2017 to December 2020 were included. SPIO (Magtrace<sup>®</sup> 2 mL was injected peri-tumourally in all patients up to 14 days before MRI-LG for SLN mapping. Axillary ultrasonography was performed after MRI-LG, towards the area where the SLNs were identified on the MRI scans. A handheld magnetometer (SentiMag<sup>®</sup>; Endomag, Cambridge, UK) was used to identify the 'pre-incision hotspot', which is the area with the highest magnetic uptake on the skin. Subsequently, core needle biopsy (CNB) of the identified SLNs was performed. The CNBs were then examined for magnetic SPIO uptake with the SentiMag probe and for the presence of brown staining. Macro- and microscopic control images were then obtained for the retrieved SLNs after the SLND to identify any signs of previous biopsy. Standard histopathology of the SLN specimen served as a reference for the microscopic examination of the CNB.

#### Paper II

Candidates for this study were all women with primary breast cancer cT0– 2cN0cM0, and Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group performance status 0–2, undergoing BCS and SLND. Patients were recruited from the SentiDose trial (2017–2019), which was conducted at six Swedish hospitals (49). Both SPIO and Tc99 were used in all women while BD was used in most patients, according to local routines. The SentiDose trial was a dose optimazing trial comparing SLN detection using 1.5 or 1.0 mL of SiennaXP<sup>®</sup>/Magtrace<sup>®</sup>, respectively, injected at different time points using different injecting techniques. The SPIO was injected in two ways. Either a 1.5 mL retro-areolar injection of Magtrace<sup>®</sup> was used at least 20 min before surgery on the same day, followed by a 5-min massage. Otherwise, a 1.0 mL Magtrace<sup>®</sup> peri-tumoural or retroareolar injection was given 1–7 days before surgery. Massage was optional. As a backup, all women were also injected with Tc99 with or without BD according to local clinical routines. For BD, a 1.0 mL sub-intradermal, retroareolar injection was used. The incidence of skin staining and the size in square centimetres (cm<sup>2</sup>) were self-reported by the patients at telephone interviews conducted at 6, 12 and 24 months after surgery. If there was no staining, or if the staining was gone, no further follow-up was made.

#### Paper III

Enrolment to this prospective randomized study took place between May 2018 and May 2022 at three hospitals in Sweden (Akademiska University Hospital, Uppsala; Västmanlands Hospital, Västerås and Sahlgrenska University Hospital, Gothenburg). Inclusion criteria were non-palpable DCIS or invasive breast cancer (T1-3) planned for BCS and SLND. Patients with small diffusely palpable tumours requiring preoperative localization or multicentric/multifocal tumour amenable to breast conservation were also included. Participants were randomized to a localization method, a magnetic seed or guidewire at the first visit in the outpatient clinic in blocks of 8 with an allocation ratio of 1:1. Patients randomised to magnetic seed localization received the seed guided by ultrasound or mammography, 1-30 days preoperatively at the same time as SPIO (Magtrace<sup>®</sup>) was administered by the radiologist. The magnetic seed was placed ventrally to the tumour and 1-1.5 mL SPIO was injected dorsal to the tumour. If randomized to guidewire, the patients received the SPIO 1-30 days preoperatively and the guidewire was inserted on the same day or the day before surgery. Blue dye was used at the surgeon's discretion.

Routine specimen radiography was performed to confirm radiological radicality and then SLND was performed with the SentiMag probe following a 10% of the maximum signal cut-off to complete the procedure.

### Paper IV

From 2017 to 2022, patients aged >18 years with DCIS or T1–3 invasive breast cancer planned for BCS and SLND were included in this study. Patients planned for BCS and SLND received 1, 1.5 or 2 mL SPIO up to 4 weeks before surgery from the radiologist or surgeon. On the day of surgery, the transcutaneous magnetic signal as well as the presence of any skin stain was registered. Moreover, the presence of brown breast tissue and the residual cavity signal were documented. Transcutaneous signal and discoloration were also documented during the postoperative visit in the outpatient clinic, as well as in clinical follow-up after MRI and mammograms had been performed. A baseline breast MRI and mammogram were performed after 3–6 months postoperatively. Patients without artefacts, as assessed by the principal study breast radiologist, and postoperative transcutaneous signal were not followed up any further. If there was an artefact, then follow-up was prolonged up to a maximum of 5 years with annual imaging using breast MRI and mammograms. Consequently, the presence of skin staining and magnetic signals were correlated to the images to see if there were factors that could predict the presence of artefacts on the MRI.

Apart from the principal study breast radiologist, the imaging (i.e. MRI-mammogram pairs) was assessed by three external dedicated breast radiologists, who all had extensive experience with MRI from large-volume institutes. To ensure objectivity, the review was performed independently and blinded to any patient or procedure-related data.

## Statistical analysis

#### Paper I

The primary endpoint was determination of the MagUS SLN detection rate, defined as successful SLN detection of at least one SLN of those retrieved in the following SLND. In the calculation of sample size, the MagUS trial was conceived as a single stage phase 2 trial following the A'Hern design (50). For a one-sided test, a type one error ( $\alpha = 0.025$  and 80% power), a sample size of  $\geq$ 75 patients was required between a maximum proportion of 95% (corresponding to the proportion of successful SLN detection above which the method can be considered further) and a minimum efficacy of proportion of 85% (corresponding to the proportion of successful SLN detection under which the method should not warrant further investigation).

### Paper II

Skin staining was analysed in women who had received BCS. Descriptive statistics were performed by means (95% confidence interval) or medians (range) for continuous variables. Depending on data distribution, the statistical analyses were based on median values. Continuous data were analysed using nonparametric tests. Dichotomous data were analysed with Pearson Chi-square for non-paired observations and McNemar's test for paired observations. Spearman's rho test was used to measure the correlation between predictive factors for skin staining.

#### Paper III

The available literature suggests that the resection ratio for guidewire-based excision ranges between 1.9–2.8 (51, 52). The resection ratio is defined as the actual resection volume (ARV)/optimal resection volume (ORV), where the latter is the assessed volume needed to excise the lesion with 1-cm margins. The ARV was derived from fresh specimen weight with concomitant volume calculation while the ORV was calculated based on preoperative radiology. The MagTotal pilot study suggested that the MagTotal technique had a resection ratio of 1.5 (44), whereas, in a non-randomized comparison of guidewires

and magnetic seeds with isotope-based SLND, Zacharioudakis et al. found comparable ratios (1.92 vs 1.67) with comparable re-excision rates (14% vs. 16%). In the absence of established reference values, we assumed a 2-sided equivalence of a 0.3 difference in resection ratio as clinically meaningful (corresponding to excision of excess volume of 30%), with a two-sided *P*-value set at 0.05 and power of 80%, corresponding to 191 patients per arm. This population also satisfied the hypothesis of non-inferiority in re-excision rates for a standard of 4% by a 5% margin. Despite that the primary outcomes did not require follow-up, an additional 10% was included for each arm, leading to a total sample size of 430.

Continuous variables were summarized as means with standard deviation or medians with interquartile range (IQR), depending on data distribution. Comparisons were performed with Student's *t*-test for means and the Mann–Whitney *U* test or the Kruskal–Wallis test for medians. Likert items were analysed as ordinal data (median, IQR) and compared with non-parametric tests, as appropriate. Categorical variables were summarized as numbers and proportions (%) with 95% CIs and comparisons were performed with Fisher's exact test for unpaired data (Wald test for differences) and McNemar's test for paired data. Multivariable regression analysis was performed if significant univariate associations between clinically relevant variables were demonstrated. Analyses were performed according to intention to treat and protocols for the primary and secondary endpoints. Effect sizes (odds ratios [ORs] for logistic regression and  $\beta$  coefficients for linear regression) were reported with 95% CIs.

#### Paper IV

As the ferromagnetic signal is present in all patients with skin staining, it should be expected that absence of discoloration or magnetic signal in the resection margins should imply SPIO-free parenchyma. Therefore, all pairs of observations (post-excisional intra-operative background count and postoperative MRI) should be concordant. To test for this hypothesis, with an anticipated discordance rate ( $\alpha$ ) of 0.05 and a tolerance probability ( $\beta$ ) of 95%, a minimum sample size of 93 patients would be required (53, 54).

Continuous variables were summarized as medians with IQR. Categorical variables were summarized as numbers and proportions (%) with 95% CIs and comparisons were performed with the Wald test. Likert items were analysed as ordinal data (median, IQR) and compared with non-parametric tests, as appropriate. Agreement statistics were performed using the Konger  $\kappa$  for multiple raters with 95% CIs or Krippendorf's  $\alpha$  for the Likert items and the intraclass coefficient. Individual rater outcomes were pooled in a panel and items on the presence of artefacts were dichotomized ('yes' vs 'no' and 'unsure') for further analyses to avoid arbitrary weighting that would result in non-clinically relevant groupings. Weighted outcomes summarizing panel ratings were summarized as medians (IQR) and mean ranks. Primary analyses were performed for each imaging set (i.e. MRI and mammogram), whereas per-patient analyses were performed for patient-specific outcomes. Univariable and, if required, multivariable analyses were performed to investigate for associations with the SPIO injection volume, technique (i.e. free-hand vs image-guided), type of surgery and time from surgery to imaging to the questionnaire results. All tests were two-sided and a *P*-value of 0.05 was considered significant.

## Ethical considerations

The studies were all approved by the Uppsala University regional ethics committee and performed according to the 1975 Declaration of Helsinki and the Swedish Act on Patient Insurance. The studies were sponsored by Uppsala University and Uppsala University Hospital, and supported by institutional grants from Uppsala University, Västmanlands Cancer Foundation, Swedish Breast Cancer Association and the Centre for Clinical Research Region Västmanland. Magseed<sup>®</sup> and Magtrace<sup>®</sup> were provided by Endomag (Cambridge, UK).

## Summary of results

#### Paper I

In 79 patients, 48 underwent upfront surgery, 12 received neoadjuvant chemotherapy and 19 underwent surgery for recurrent cancers. MagUS traced the SLNs in all upfront and neoadjuvant cases, detecting all patients with macrometastases (n = 10), and missed only one micro-metastasis, outperforming baseline axillary ultrasound (AUS) (area under the curve, 0.950 vs 0.508; P <0.001) and showed no discordance to SLND (P = 1.000).

#### Paper II

A total of 270 women received SPIO. Of these women, 204 also received BD. A total of 58 (21.5%) women had a SPIO stain 6 months postoperatively with a median size of 6.8 cm<sup>2</sup> (P = 0.56), while 51 (25%) had a BD stain with a median size of 8.5 cm<sup>2</sup> (P = 0.93). The incidence and size of SPIO and BD staining decreased over time reciprocally. At 24 months, for patients with an initial stain, the incidence and median size of SPIO was 23 (8.6%) and 4 cm<sup>2</sup>, respectively. For BD, the incidence was 14 (6.3%, P = 0.13), and the median size was 3.5 cm<sup>2</sup> (P = 0.18). Therefore, there was no statistically significant difference in the incidence or size of skin staining between SPIO and BD over time.

#### Paper III

A total of 426 women were analysed and randomly assigned to two well-balanced arms with 213 women in each arm. The totally magnetic arm included 215 women, whereas the guidewire arm included 208 women in the per-protocol analysis. The overall re-excision rate was 2.90% (95% CI: 1.60–4.80) and the resection ratio was (median, IQR) 1.96 (1.15–3.44). No differences were found between the guidewire and the seed in re-excisions (2.84% *vs* 2.87%; difference, -0.03%; 95% CI: -3.20-3.20; P = 0.99) or resection ratio, 1.93 (1.18–3.43) *vs* 2.01 (1.11–3.47; P = 0.70). Overall SLN detection was 98.6% (95% CI: 97.1%–99.4%) with no differences between arms (98.1% *vs*  99.0%; difference, -0.9%; 95% CI: -3.6-1.8, P = 0.72). More failed localizations occurred with the guidewire (10.1% vs 1.9%; difference, 8.2%; 95% CI: 3.3–13.2; P < 0.001). The surgeons, radiologists and theatre co-ordinators had better experience with the seed.

#### Paper IV

The analysis encompassed 97 patients and a total of 159 MRI examinations were performed. The study showed a discordance among raters for 'any artefact' (range, 24.1%–74.4%; weighted average, 32.4%) and 'SPIO-specific artefact' (range, 12.0%–49.4%; weighted average, 20.9%). The median area of 'any artefact' was 9.24 mm<sup>2</sup> (IQR, 4.72–15.50) and SPIO-specific artefact 9.88 (IQR, 5.32–15.5). Likert scores indicated higher difficulty interpreting MRI (median, 3, IQR, 2–3.5) compared to mammograms (median, 1.5; IQR, 1–2; *P* < 0.001). All six patients with local recurrence were successfully diagnosed on MRI by all raters. Only one radiologist found that SPIO artefacts significantly impacted image interpretation in one case. Logistic regression consistently identified free-hand SPIO administration as associated with artefacts.

## Conclusions

## Paper I

The MagUS technique enables minimally invasive axillary mapping that might meet patients' tailored needs and reduce the need for diagnostic surgery.

## Paper II

No differences in either incidence or size of skin staining were noted when comparing SPIO and BD after 6, 12 and 24 months of follow up following breast cancer surgery.

## Paper III

The combination of SPIO and a paramagnetic seed performs comparably to SPIO and guidewire for BCS and results in more successful localizations, shorter operations and better experience.

## Paper IV

Affirms that using SPIO as a tracer for SLN detection does not compromise MRI interpretation after BCS. The method proves to be safe without concerns for future artefacts affecting breast cancer recurrence assessment in MRI images.

## General discussion

The shift towards using more BCS and SLND in breast cancer treatment leads to increased interest in the various tracers that can be used for SLN detection. In the past, RI has undoubtedly been the unchallenged first choice for the detection of SLN. However, the introduction of SPIO and the establishment of SPIO as a fully effective alternative with several advantages over the classic dual technique has sparked great interest in the new tracer. Above all, this thesis has been designed to optimize and refine the magnetic technique, as well as illuminate and close the knowledge gaps around the postoperative effect of SPIO.

**Paper I** was a feasibility study where the aim was to evaluate whether SPIO could be used for minimally invasive axillary mapping. The study showed promising results where MagUS detected all macro-metastases (n = 10) and missed only one micro-metastasis. MagUS might be a method for the future that allows for alternatives to SLND to meet patients' tailored needs and reduce the need for diagnostic surgery.

**Paper II** followed up the patients from the SentiDose study (49). This study was the first to compare the incidence and size between the two traces. After 24 months, the incidence and median size for SPIO was 23 (8.6%) and 4 cm<sup>2</sup>, respectively, and for BD they were 14 (6.3%) and 3.5 cm<sup>2</sup> (P = 0.13 and 0.18, respectively). There was no statistically significant difference regarding incidence and size of skin staining between SPIO and BD over time. Long-lasting skin staining had been reported previously. In a study by Rubio et al., a retro-areolar injection of 1.0–2.0 mL of SPIO was used and 70.3% reported discoloration 1 month after surgery (55). In this study, however, a lower SPIO dose resulted in a lower incidence, smaller size and faster diminishing of the staining. With the benefits of no nuclear medical facilities, similar detection rates to the dual technique and the possibility to inject well before surgery, SPIO appears to be an appealing choice of RI tracer for SLN surgery.

In **Paper III**, we used the combined magnetic technique and compared it to guidewire localization. This study showed no differences between the two cohorts regarding re-excision and resection ratio, which confirmed previous

findings (56–58). The fully magnetic technique for lesion removal and SLND outperformed the guidewire, offering shorter operative times and easier logistics. Concerns about larger specimen excision were unfounded, with the magnetic technique showing potential for precision surgery and smaller specimen resection. The fully magnetic technique was seen as more favourable compared to the guidewire in terms of better experience for health-care personnel, more favourable in regard to logistics and shorter operative time. Combining paramagnetic markers and SPIO proved successful, presenting a wire- and radioisotope-free technique.

In **Paper IV**, despite notable variability among radiologists in assessing artefacts, the Likert scores were consistently similar, and all six recurrences were accurately identified on MRI. Only one radiologist noted a significant impact on image interpretation due to SPIO artefacts in a singular case. The research demonstrated that a free-hand SPIO injection, compared with an image-guided injection, was linked to a higher prevalence of artefacts (73.7% vs. 9.1%; P <0.001). However, the 5-year follow-up unequivocally confirms the safety of SPIO as an SLN tracer after BCS, as it does not compromise MRI interpretation or raise concerns about future artefacts affecting breast cancer recurrence assessment.

#### Future perspectives

The greatest increase in future breast cancers is expected to be observed in developing countries, where the availability of RI is limited. Therefore, there is a need and a vacuum in which SPIO can be useful. As the incidence of breast cancer continues to rise, the need for further development of different treatment and diagnostic options for breast cancer will continue to be a hot topic in the literature. I believe that the future above all depends on the 'MagUS' technique described in Paper I, as the necessity for correct axillary staging cannot be over-emphasized. Correct axillary staging is the basis by which physicians makes their decisions regarding tailored adjuvant treatments. The advantage that SPIO has over RI is the large timespan in which the substance can be given and the fact that it stays in the tissue for a long time, which makes SPIO an ideal tracer for tracking and localizing SLN. In addition to other advantages, such as easier logistics and the lack of a need for nuclear medical facilities, this makes SPIO an attractive tracer. Further studies regarding the MagUS technique should be conducted to develop this technique and the knowledge regarding minimally invasive axillary staging

so that a further de-escalation of surgery in the axilla may be seen in the future.

Two major concerns when using SPIO are above all the problem with skin staining and artefacts observed postoperatively on MRI. However, we have shown in this thesis that by changing the injection technique and the use of lower doses of SPIO, the problem of staining and artefacts can be reduced significantly. Our research group is currently investigating SPIO doses as low as 0.1 mL for SLN detection.
# Sammanfattning på svenska

Bröstcancer idag är den absolut vanligaste cancersjukdomen som drabbar kvinnor. Introduktionen av mammografiscreening har lett till att ungefär hälften av alla bröstcancerfall som diagnosticeras idag inte är palpabla vid diagnostillfället. Traditionellt har identifieringen av icke palpabla bröstcancrar framför allt gjorts med ståltrådsvajer. Denna metod är den absolut vanligaste metoden för lokalisation av icke palpabla bröstcancrar. Metoden är väletablerad men har sina nackdelar, ståltrådsvajer placeras samma dag alternativt dagen innan operationsdagen. Den vanligaste operationsmetoden idag är bröstbevarande kirurgi i kombination med portvaktskörtelbiopsi. Dock är en viktig grundsten i behandlingen den postoperativa tilläggsbehandling såsom strålning, antihormonell behandling, cytostatika samt biologiska läkemedel.

Bröstcancer kan sprida sig på framför allt tre olika sätt, lymfogen spridning vilket är det vanligaste men även hematogen samt lokal invasiv spridning. Vid en lymfogen metastasering så är 'portvaktkörteln' även kallad sentinel node (SLN) den första körteln cancern metastaserar till. Om denna körtel är 'frisk' det vill säga den saknar metastaserade tumörceller så betraktar man cancern som icke metastaserad. Den axillära stadieindelningen är en viktig punkt i beslutstagandet kring patienternas postoperativa tilläggsbehandling. För att identifiera SLN används vanligtvis radioisotopinjektion (Tc<sup>99</sup>) och blå färg (Patent V Blue), denna metod kallas för dual technique och de båda ämnena används då i kombination. Metoden har en detektionsfrekvens på >90% och metoden betraktas som det 'gyllene standard' metoden. Metoden har dock sina nackdelar, den största begränsningen gäller den korta halveringstid som Tc<sup>99</sup> har (6h), den strikta regleringen som följer vid hantering av radioaktiva ämnen, tillgängligheten globalt är begränsad samt risken för anafylaktiska reaktioner vid användningen utav blåfärg.

Genom de senaste åren har Superparamagnetisk järnoxid nanopartiklar (SPIO) etablerat sig som en likvärdig kandidat till ovanstående beskrivna metod. Flertalet nyligen genomförda studier visar att SPIO har en likvärdig detektionsfrekvens till 'gyllene standard' metoden. Ämnet används på samma sätt och injiceras i bröstet och sprider sig då via lymfbanan för att koncentreras i armhålans första lymfkörtlar. Med hjälp utav en handhållen magnetometer som mäter magnetism kan man då lokalisera SLN. De främsta fördelarna med detta spårämne är framför allt en längre halveringstid (ca 30 dagar), ingen hantering av radioaktiva ämnen eller behov av faciliteter för detta och en större tillgänglighet globalt. Nackdelarna som följer med SPIO är framför allt problemet med artefakter vid undersökningar med magnetkamera postoperativt och liksom för blåfärg så kan SPIO medföra missfärgningar i huden.

Denna avhandling har grundat sig i att förfina och optimera den magnetiska tekniken samt att belysa de kunskapsluckor som finns gällande det postoperativa effekterna av SPIO vad gäller missfärgning i huden samt artefakter på magnetkamera.

## Mål med avhandlingen och delmål

Syftet med denna avhandling har varit att optimera och förfina den magnetiska tekniken vid användning inom bröstcancerkirurgin.

Målsättningen med avhandlingsprojektet är att med utgångspunkt från kliniska studier belysa följande:

- Att undersöka nyttan i användningen av SPIO i den preoperativa upparbetningen vid stadieindelning av körtelstatus i axillen.
- Att jämföra olika injektionstekniker och volymer av SPIO med blåfärg med avseende på förekomst av hudmissfärgning och varaktigheten av dessa.
- Jämföra indikering av icke-palpabel bröstcancer med magnetiskt clip alternativt ståltrådsvajer hos patienter planerade för bröstbevarande kirurgi och SNB med SPIO som enda spårämne.
- Att undersöka kompatibiliteten av magnetkameraundersökning på patienter som genomgått bröstbevarande kirurgi med SPIO som spårämne för SLN detektion samt störningsfrekvens vid kontrollundersökning postoperativt efter så kallade magnetiska artefakter.

# Metod & Resultat

**Delstudie I** var en singelcenter studie där SPIO användes i en ny minimal invasiv metod för stadieindelning av körtelstatus i axillen. Metoden var sådan att SPIO injicerades i bröstet, MRI-LG utfördes efter SPIO-injektion för lokalisation av SLN. Därefter utfördes ett axillärt ultraljud med hjälp utav magnetism samt en mellannåls biopsi av den lokaliserade SLN (MagUS). Studien omfattade inte bara patienter som planerats för primäroperation utan även patienter med recidiverande cancer efter tidigare operation samt patienter som planerats för neoadjuvant behandling. Den senare gruppen genomgick minimal invasiv mellannålsbiopsi före starten av neoadjuvant behandling därefter utfördes operation i armhålan efter avslutad neoadjuvant behandling. Hos 79 inkluderade patienter upptäckte MagUS alla patienter med makrometastaser jämförbart med kirurgisk SNB. Slutsatsen blev att MagUS möjliggör en säker metod för minimal invasiv kartläggning av axillen som på sikt möjligtvis kan minska behovet av diagnostisk kirurgi i axillen.

**Delstudie II** var en prospektiv studie där vi jämförde incidens, storlek och varaktighet av hudmissfärgning hos patienter som genomgått operation med bröstbevarande kirurgi med användning av SPIO eller blå färg som spårämne. Vår studie är den första som jämför förekomsten och storlek av hudmissfärgning mellan de två spårämnena. Studien genomfördes på 270 kvinnor som opererades med bröstbevarande kirurgi och erhöll SPIO som spårämne. Av dessa erhöll 204 kvinnor även blåfärg. Efter 24 månaders uppföljning fanns det ingen statistiskt signifikant skillnad avseende vare sig storlek eller förekomst av hudfärgning mellan de två substanserna.

**Delstudie III** var en randomiserad prospektiv multicenterstudie som utfördes på tre sjukhus i Sverige. Totalt blev 426 kvinnor lottade till två grupper. Syftet med studien var att jämföra ståltrådsindikering mot magnetiskt clip indikering hos patienter med icke-palpabel bröstcancer planerade för bröstbevarande kirurgi med SNB. I denna studie erhöll kvinnorna SPIO som spårämne för SNB. Studien använde sig utav en datorgenererad randomisering i åtta block kuvert, patienterna blev då randomiserad till antingen ståltrådsindikering alternativt magnetiskt clip. Det primära utfallsmåttet med studien var reoperationsfrekvens samt resektionsration mellan de två grupperna. Studien visade ingen signifikant skillnad mellan grupperna avseende reoperationsfrekvensen eller resektionsration.

**Delstudie IV** var en prospektiv studie mellan 2017 och 2022. Patienter över 18 år med DCIS eller T1 till T3 invasiv bröstcancer planerad för BCS och SLND inkluderades till studien. Patienterna fick antingen 1, 1,5 eller 2 mL SPIO administrerat av radiologen eller kirurgen upp till fyra veckor före operationsdagen. Transkutan magnetisk signal och hudfärgning registrerades på operationsdagen, och vid de postoperativa besöken. Totalt deltog 97 patienter och 159 MR-undersökningar genomfördes. Trots varierande bedömning av förekomsten av artefakter på MR av radiologerna så var resultaten jämförbara, och alla återfall av bröstcancer diagnostiserades framgångsrikt. Studien visade att användningen av SPIO för SLN detektion inte påverkar tolkningen av MR bilderna postoperativ efter bröstbevarande kirurgi.

# Acknowledgements

Words cannot express my gratitude to everyone who has supported me during my academic and clinical journey. Special thanks are owed to the following individuals:

My principal supervisor, Associate Professor **Andreas Karakatsanis**, 'the Greek boss': I am deeply indebted to you, as you believed in me even when I doubted myself. You have always supported me and made me feel like your equal, even though we both know that I had no idea what we were doing at times. When I look back at our journey, I realize that you are a man of patience, even though your whole aura reflects the opposite. I will forever be grateful for everything you have taught me. Thank you for everything!

My co-supervisor, Associate Professor **Staffan Eriksson**: You are an inspiration to me. You have taken me under your wings since day one. You have taught me so much both in life and in my professional career. When I hesitated, you gave me the motivation to dare and challenge myself. I must thank you for so many things, but most of all, thank you for being my friend. This endeavour would not have been possible without you, and I am so grateful for everything. You are a role model to follow, and I could not have wished for a better mentor.

My co-supervisor, Professor **Fredrik Wärnberg**: Thank you for your discipline, ideas and commitment. Always full of enthusiasm, you showed me that research could be fun. You were always pushing me to the limit, and you are a role model.

**Centre for Clinical Research – Region Västmanland**: Thanks are due for all the support and grants I have received from the Centre. Special thanks are owed to **Maria Dell Uva Karlsson**, **Maria Pettersson** and **Mariana Ehn** for making this process so smooth.

To everybody at the **Breast Unit** at Västmanlands Sjukhus, thank you so much for your support and help in creating this thesis. It has been a pleasure.

I would also like to thank all my colleagues at the Department of Surgery at Västmanlands Hospital for their support and understanding. In particular, I would like to thank Maziar Nikberg, Vadim Neopikhanov, Yvette Andersson, David Boëthius, Ammar Nahhas, Ahmed Tarfy, Alexander Aroch and Henrik Andersson.

The former heads of the Department of Surgery at Västmanlands Hospital: **Haile Mahteme**, thank you for believing in me and giving me the opportunity to become a surgeon. **Anders Nilsson**, thank you for giving me the opportunity to move home from Denmark and work in Västerås.

**Abbas Chabok**, you were the one who first told me that I should become a general surgeon, even when I almost signed another contract. I will never forget our 'short' walk that took only 85 minutes. Thank you for always being by my side. Thank you and your beautiful family. You have always been like a father to me in my professional career. You are a great surgeon.

To my current chief of doctors **Maria Mani** and all my colleagues at the **Department of Reconstructive Plastic Surgery, Akademiska Sjukhuset Upp-sala**: Thank you for welcoming me with open arms and letting me live my dream.

To all my co-authors, thank you for your help and contribution. Special thanks to **Eirini Pantiora** for all your help and support.

Special thanks are owed to my friend and research colleague, **Abdi-Fatah Hersi**. You have been like a big brother to me in the surgical and academic world. We quickly realized that we came from the same background and had the same goals. I remember these moments in our room at work, dreaming about this day. Look at us now, we both made it! Thank you for all the laughs we shared.

**Kevin Afshari**, thank you for guiding me in my career. You have always given me wise advice when I needed it, and you have always been there for me. I am eternally grateful to you for that.

To my childhood friends: **Sebastian**, **Dilan 'Papi'**, **Andreas**, **Axel 'Swidi'**, **Patrik** and **Arian**, thank you for standing by my side and for sharing the ups and downs of life with me. Thank you, my brothers, for always not believing in me. I would never have made it without your non-existent support.

To my beloved family: I will never forget our roots, our childhood, and where we come from. I remember how we always dreamed of things that we could never have and that others took for granted. I remember all the sacrifices we had to make for each other. I will never forget the only Christmas that we almost had for the first time, but in the last second, it was taken from us. Nothing makes me happier than seeing all three of us succeed in life. The pride of being your big brother. **Diyar**, my little brother, I hope you can see a role model when you look at me. **Karin**, my beautiful sister, and my niece **Estelle**, I am so proud of you two.

To my dear mother, **Fatima Miro**: I have seen all your sacrifices. All of this is for you, my mother. You came to this country as a young woman, leaving everything so that your children could have a safer environment to grow up in. I have seen you struggle day by day. I have seen how you made sacrifice after sacrifice just so we could study and have a better life. You gave away large parts of your life so that my siblings and I could have a better life. Mother, I could never have become the man I am today without you. This is for you. Be proud, mother, this is your work.

Finally, to my own family, my dear beautiful wife **Azin**, words cannot describe what I want to say to you. We have been through so much together. You have always been by my side; you have always supported me even when I did not deserve it. Without you and your sacrifices, this would not have been possible. Thank you for being the best wife and the best mom to our treasure, **Alexis**, Baba loves you so much. Hopefully, one day you will read this book, I hope you will be proud of your baba. Alexis *baba ji bo te dimire evîna min. Jîyana min. Keça baba*.

To all the patients participating in these studies, Thank you.

# Appendices

## Appendix 1: Supplement 2 for Paper III

Pantiora E, Jazrawi A, Hersi AF, et al. Magnetic seed vs guidewire breast cancer localization with magnetic lymph node detection: A randomized clinical trial. JAMA Surg. 2024;159(3):239–246. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamasurg.2023.6520

	Overall	Guidewire	Magnetic marker	P-value
Entire Trial	1.96 (1.14–3.46)	1.96 (1.22–3.48)	1.97 (1.11-3.46)	0.96
Uppsala	1.45 (0.78–2.13)	1.59 (0.77-2.15)	1.26 (0.78-2.07)	0.08
WLE (n = 170)	1.48 (0.85–2.13)	1.60 (0.98-2.17)	1.29 (0.76–2.05)	
OPBCS Level I $(n = 47)$	1.26 (0.68–1.73)	1.46 (0.69–1.81)	1.15 (0.69–1.60)	
OPBCS Level II (n = 18)	1.87 (0.88–7.40)	1.38 (0.49-41.79)	2.13 (1.08–13.21)	
Västerås	3.33 (2.13-5.39)	3.21 (1.60-4.79)	3.46 (2.50-5.75)	.92
WLE (n=105)	3.42 (2.19-5.21)	3.33 (1.82-4.79)	3.44 (2.47–5.78)	
OPBCS Level I	-	-	-	
OPBCS Level II $(n = 2)$	4.21 (2.85, 5.57)	-	4.21 (2.85-5.57)	
Gothenburg	2.87 (2.00-4.38)	2.88 (2.05-4.38)	2.77 (1.86-4.63)	0.91
WLE $(n = 71)$	2.78 (2.00-4.27)	2.88 (2.22-4.20)	2.57 (1.73-4.27)	
OPBCS Level I $(n = 3)$	3.18 (3.00-6.62)	-	3.18 (3.00-6.62)	
OPBCS Level II $(n = 1)$	5.27 (5.27-5.27)	-	5.27 (5.27-5.27)	

eTable 1. Resection ratio for site and type of surgery

**Note:** Resection ratios for each received marker (i.e. per-protocol analysis) in subgroups by site and type of surgery. Resection ratio is summarized as median (interquartile range, IQR). OPBCS, oncoplastic breast-conserving surgery; WLE, wide local excision. *P*-value: Independent medians test.

(n.%)	Per-proto	P-value	
	Guidewire	Magnetic marker	
None	193 (92.8)	194 (90.2)	0.53
Symptomatic breast seroma	3 (1.4)	1 (0.5)	
Breast hematoma	2 (1.0)	4 (1.9)	
Symptomatic axillary seroma	0 (0.0)	1 (0.5)	
Axillary hematoma	2 (1.0)	1 (0.5)	
Breast infection	5 (2.4)	3 (1.4)	
Axillary infection	1 (0.5)	2 (0.9)	
Delayed wound healing	0 (0.0)	3 (1.4)	
Postoperative bleeding in the breast	1 (0.5)	4 (1.9)	
Pain at SPIO injection site	1 (0.5)	1 (0.5)	
Superficial venous thrombosis	0 (0.0)	1 (0.5)	

eTable 2. Type of complication for each received localization device

eTable 3. Health-care practitioners' experience with each marker

	Paramagnetic	Guidewire	P-value
Ease of logistics and planning (theatre co-ordinators)	10 (10.10)	6 (4.8)	< 0.001
Ease of localization (radiologists)	7 (7.9)	7 (7.7)	< 0.001
Ease of intra-operative detection (surgeons)	9 (8.10)	7 (7.8)	< 0.001

**Note:** Responses to Likert items with range (0–10), where a higher score denotes higher satisfaction. Likert scores are summarized as median (IQR). *P*-value: independent sample medians test.

$\mathbf{N}$
Paper
for ]
material
lementary
: Suppl
lix 2
Append

Table 2. Outcomes of the radiological assessment.

95% CI		53.5, 63.0		61.5, 70.6		54.4. 64.4												45.3, 54.9		65.3, 73.8		89.7, 93.2		
Percent agreement		58.3	0,1,1	0.09		59.65												50.1		69.5		91.5		
95% CI		0.223, 0.363	0010 0 100	0.272, 0.429		0.288, 0.421												0.198, 0.312		0.214, 0.372		0.366, 0.504		
х		0.293	0.200	0.350		0.355												0.255		0.293		0.435		
<i>P</i> -value		<0.001	100.07	<0.001		<0.001												<0.001		<0.001		0.021		
R4		91 (57.6)		91 (57.6)		35 (38.5)			56 (61.5)						0(0.0)			78 (49.4)		78 (49.4)		30 (19.5)		
R3		54 (34.2)	1010	54 (34.2)		8 (14.8)			46 (85.2)						(0.0) 0			49 (31.0)		49 (31.0)		8 (5.2)		
R2		38 (24.1)	1110/00	38 (24.1)		7 (18.4)			31 (81.6)						(0.0) 0			19 (12.0)		19 (12.0)		2 (1.3)		
R1		116	(14:4)	116	(74.4)	12	(10.3)		103	(88.8)					1	(0.0)		43	(27.2)	43	(27.2)	5	(3.2)	
		'Yes' vs 'No' vs		Yes' vs 'No' and	'Unsure'	Artefact that does	not impact image and	interpretation at all	Artefact impairs the	image interpretation	somewhat but does	not interfere with	characterization and	assessment	Artefact impairs image	to make interpretation	impossible	'Yes' vs 'No' vs	'Unsure'	'Yes' vs 'No' and	'Unsure'	Artefact that does	not impact image and	interpretation at all
	n,%	Any Artefacts in MRI				Artefact significance	for any artefact		1									SPIO-specific	Artefacts in MRI	1		Artefact significance	for SPIO-specific	artefacts

		30.2, 37.6		45.2, 53.7		100.0, 100.0	
		33.8		49.5		100.0	
		$0.14, 0.22^{***}$		0.003, 0,131***		1.000, 1.000	
		$0.18^{***}$		0.067***		1.000	
		0.323**		<0.001**		1.000	
48 (31.2)	0 (0.0)	3 (1,4)	2.58	1 (1,2)	2.22	6(100)	
41 (26.5)	0 (0.0)	3 (2,4)	2.86	2 (2,2)	3.13	6(100)	
17 (10.7)	0 (0.0)	2 (1,3)	2.15	2 (1,2)	3.01	6(100)	
37 (23.7)	$ \frac{1}{(0.6)} $	3 (2,3)	2.42	1	1.64	9	(100)
Artefact impairs the image interpretation somewhat but does not interfere with characterization and assessment	Artefact impairs image to make interpretation impossible	Median (IQR)	Mean rank	Median (IQR)	Mean rank	u (%)	
		How difficult was it to assess the MRI?*		How difficult was it to assess the	mammogram?*	Recurrence diagnosed	in MRI

All summary data in columns R1–R4 are n,% except for \*, which are Likert items summarized as medians (interquartile range, IQR). All *P*-values correspond to marginal homogeneity (Stuart–Maxwell) test, apart from \*\*, that correspond to Friedman's test for k medians. All k values respond to Conger's k, apart from \*\*\*, that correspond to Krippendorf's  $\alpha$ . MRI: magnetic resonance imaging.

### Questionnaire. For the participating radiologists

- 1. PostMAG MRI Radiology CRF and explanations
- Q1:

Do you think that there are artefacts or postoperative changes in this examination?

Artefacts	Postoperative changes	🗌 No
-----------	-----------------------	------

'No' to be coded as 0, 'Artefacts' to be coded as 1, 'Postoperative changes' to be coded as 2.

To facilitate the grading, you can have the following classification as means to facilitate your work:

- a. No artefact present.
- b. Artefact does not impact the image at all and does not affect interpretation at all.
- c. Artefact impairs the image hinders image interpretation somewhat but does not interfere with characterization and ability to see the extent of disease.
- d. Artefact impairs image to make interpretation impossible.
- Q2

Please classify what suits best (1–4).

• Q3 (Applicable if answer to Q1 is 'Artefacts'):

Do you think that the artefacts in this examination are related to SPIO?

Yes No Unsure

'No' to be coded as 0, 'Yes' to be coded as 1 and 'Unsure' to be coded as 2.

• Q4 (Applicable if answer to Q1 is 'Yes'):

Please define the size of the artefacts by providing the two largest diameters in mm:

..... X .....

## • Q5

How easy is it to assess this examination?

. . . . . . . . . . . .

Score from 1 to 10, as a Likert item, without using decimals (no 'halves') with 1 for 'No difficulty at all' and 10 'The examination is impossible to interpret'.

## Supplementary Tables for Paper IV.

**Supplementary Table 1.** Marginal homogeneity tests for each rater separately, for item 1 (any artefact or postoperative change on MRI and mammogram, respectively).

		Ra	ter 1		
		Any a	rtefacts on man	nmogram	
		No	Artefacts	Postoperative changes	Total
Any	No	2	0	1	3
artefacts on MRI	Artefacts	1	3	112	116
	Postoperative changes	0	0	37	37
	Total	3	3	150	156
	1	Ra	ter 2		
		Any a	rtefacts on man	nmogram	<b>m</b> 1
		No	Artefacts	Postoperative changes	Total
Any	No	17	0	3	20
artefacts on MRI	Artefacts	7	2	29	38
	Postoperative changes	0	0	90	90
	Total	8	1	123	155
		Ra	ter 3		
		Any a	rtefacts on man	nmogram	
		No	Artefacts	Postoperative changes	Total
Any	No	8	0	3	11
on MRI	Artefacts	0	1	53	54
	Postoperative changes	0	0	90	90
	Total	8	1	123	155
		Ra	ter 4		
		Any a	rtefacts on man	nmogram	
		No	Artefacts	Postoperative changes	Total
Any	No	13	1	0	14
on MRI	Artefacts	0	0	91	91
	Postoperative changes	0	0	49	49
	Total	13	1	146	154

Note: All Marginal homogeneity tests (Stuart–Maxwell), P < 0.001.

**Supplementary Table 2.** Marginal homogeneity tests for each rater separately, for item 1 (SPIO-specific artefacts *vs* any artefact or postoperative change on mammo-gram, respectively).

		Rat	er 1						
		Any a	rtefacts on man	nmogram					
		No	Artefacts	Postoperative changes	Total				
SPIO-specific	No	2	0	29	31				
MRI	Yes	0	1	42	43				
	Unsure	1	2	79	82				
	Total	3	3	150	156				
Any artefacts on mammogram									
		No	Artefacts	Postoperative changes	Total				
SPIO-specific	No	23	1	89	113				
artefacts on MRI	Yes	4	0	15	19				
	Unsure	3	1	19	23				
	Total	30	2	123	155				
	r	Rat	er 3		r				
		Any a	rtefacts on man	nmogram					
		No	Artefacts	Postoperative changes	Total				
SPIO-specific	No	8	1	80	89				
MRI	Yes	0	0	49	49				
	Unsure	0	0	17	17				
	Total	8	1	146	155				
	r	Rat	er 4		r				
		Any a	rtefacts on man	nmogram					
		No	Artefacts	Postoperative changes	Total				
SPIO-specific	No	13	1	0	14				
MRI	Yes	0	0	78	78				
	Unsure	0	0	24	24				
	Total	13	1	140	154				

Note: All marginal homogeneity tests (Stuart–Maxwell) p<0.001.

<b>Supplementary Table 3.</b> Marginal homogeneity tests for each rater separately, for item 1 (SPIO-specific artefacts <i>vs</i> any artefact or postoperative change on mammo-gram, respectively).
Rater 1: Presence of any artefacts

			Univariable			Multivariable					
		Yes	No	p-value	OR	95% CI	p- value				
Age (y)*		62 (53– 70)	54.5 (45– 66)	0.021* *	1.043	0.982-1.106	0.170				
Lesion size	(mm)*	14 (10– 21.5)	23.5 (16, 40)	< 0.001* *	0.980	0.938-1.024	0.373				
SPIO injection technique***	Free- hand	19 (100)	0 (0)	0.001* ***	Ref[1]						
	Image- guided	51 (66.2)	26 (33.8)		0.250	0.073–0.864	0.028				
Breast	WLE	28 (77.8)	8 (22.2)	<	Ref[1]						
procedure	OPBCS Level I	37 (84.1)	7 (15.9	0.001* ***	2.142	0.535-8.578	0.282				
	TM	3 (75.0)	1 (25.0)		5.153	0.217– 140.172	0.301				
	CWPF	3 (23.1)	10 (76.9)		0.028	0.001-0.734	0.032				
Post resection	n signal*	2500 (650– 7690)	0 (0- 2000)	< 0.001* *	1.000	0.999–1.001	0.079				
Signal on pos visit	toperative *	910 (61– 4750)	0 (0.135)	< 0.001* *	1.0002	1.0001– 1.0003	0.021				
		Rater 1: Pres	ence of SPIO	-specific ar	tefacts						
Age (y	r)*	66 (61– 71)	57 (50– 68)	0.004* *	1.082	1.019–1.148	0.010				
Days from SPI to surg	O injection ery	2 (0–5)	5 (1-8)	0.038* *	0.917	0.807-1.041	0.181				
SPIO injection	Free- hand	10 (52.6)	9 (47.4)	0.002* ***	Ref [1]						
technique***	Image- guided	13 (16.9)	64 (83.1)		0.174	0.051-0.589	0.005				

Note: \*: median (interquartile range, IQR and range for the signals); \*\* Mann–Whitney U test; \*\*\*: n, %; \*\*\*\*: Fisher's exact test ( $2 \times 2$ ) or Chi-square ( $2 \times 3$  or  $2 \times 4$ ). CWPF, chest wall perforator flap; CI, confidence interval; OPBCS, oncoplastic breast-conserving surgery; OR, odds ratio; Ref., reference category; TM, therapeutic mammaplasty; WLE, wide local excision; y, years.

			R2:	Presence of	of any artefacts			
				Univaria	able	Ν	Iultivariable	
BMI	(kg/n	n <sup>2</sup> )*	23.5	26.4	0.005**	0.860	0.735-	0.060
			(22.1–	(24.4–			1.001	
			25.0)	30.1)				
SPIO inject	tion	Free-	9	10	0.001****	Ref. [1]		
technique*	***	hand	(47.4)	(52.6)				
		Image-	18	59		0.510	0.122-	0.355
		guided	(23.4)	(76.6)			2.124	
Breast		WLE	15	21	0.038****	Ref. [1]		
procedure*	**		(41.7)	(58.3)				
		OPBCS	10	34		0.248	0.074 -	0.025
		Lev I	(22.7)	(77.3)			0.840	
		TM	0 (0)	4		1		
				(100)		(empty)		
		CWPF	2	11		0.182	0.024-	0.100
			(15.4)	(84.6)			1.385	
Post rese	ction	signal*	3048	780	<0.001**	1.0002	1.0001 -	0.023
			(2438–	(0-			1,0004	
			9999)	2536)				
Signal on	postc	operative	2010	129	< 0.001**	1.000	0.9999–	0.732
V	/isit*		(650–	(0-			1.0001	
			6267)	1370)				
			R2: Prese	ence of SPI	O-specific artefa	cts		
BMI	(kg/n	n <sup>2</sup> )*	23.3	26.4	0.003**	0.960	0.820-	0.616
			(21.6–	(23.7–			1.125	
			24.4)	30.1)				
Breast vo	olume	e (mL)*	357	484	0.047**	1.001	0.999–	0.159
			(160–	(323–			1.003	
			510)	756)				
SPIO	1	Free-hand	7	12	0.010****	Ref. [1]		
injection			(36.8)	(63.2)				
tech-		Image-	8	69		0.172	0.050 -	0.006
nique***		guided	(10.4)	(89.6)			0.599	
Post rese	ection	n signal	8000	1090	<0.001**	1.000	0.999–	0.331
			(2650–	(40,			1.001	
			9999)	3156)				
Brown		Yes	12	11	<0.001****	0.519	0.123-	0.373
staining			(52.2)	(47.8)			2.198	
on cut	on cut No		3 (4.1)	71		Ref. [1]		
surface				(95.9)				
Signal on	poste	operative	3 (4.1)	243	0.004**	0.9999	0.9998-	0.732
	visit			(0-			1.0001	
				2135)				

**Supplementary Table 4.** Factors of association between prevalence of 'any artefact' or 'SPIO-specific artefact for Rater 2' (R2)

**Notes:** \*: median (interquartile range, IQR and range for the signals); \*\* Mann–Whitney U test; \*\*\*: n, %; \*\*\*\*: Fisher's exact test (2 × 2) or Chi-square (2 × 3 or 2 × 4). BMI, body mass index, measured in kilograms divided by square metres (kg/m<sup>2</sup>); CWPF, chest wall perforator flap; CI, confidence interval; OP-BCS, oncoplastic breast-conserving surgery; OR, odds ratio; Ref., reference category; TM, therapeutic mammaplasty; WLE, wide local excision; y, years.

			Presence of	of any artefacts			
		Univariable			Multivariable		
		Yes	No	P-value	OR	95% CI	<i>P</i> -value
SPIO injec- tion tech- nique***	Free- hand	14 (73.7)	5 (26.3)	0.001****	Ref. [1]		
	Image- guided	29 (37.7)	48 (62.3)		0.261	0.077 - 0.883	0.031
SPIO volume (mL)***	1	28 (51.9)	26 (48.1)	0.081****			
	1.5	12 (42.9)	16 (57.1)				
	2	3 (20.0)	12 (80.0)				
Post resection signal*		2500 (772– 8250)	698 (0– 2536)	0.011**	1.000	0.999– 1.001	0.518
Signal on postoperative visit*		1370 (290– 7584)	35 (0– 550)	< 0.001**	1.0002	1.000– 1.0003	0.008
Presence of SPIO-specific artefacts							
SPIO injec- tion tech-	Free- hand	16 (84.2)	3 (15.8)	< 0.001****	Ref. [1]		
nique***	Image- guided	22 (28.6)	55 (71.4)		0.092	0.023- 0.371	0.001
Post resection signal*		2500 (280– 9999)	784 (0– 2618)	0.025**	1.0000	0.9999– 1.0002	0.276
Signal on postoperative visit*		1115 (125– 6267)	125 (0– 1460)	0.003**	1.0001	0.9999– 1.0003	0.092

**Supplementary Table 5.** Factors of association between prevalence of 'any artefact' or 'SPIO-specific artefact for Rater 3' (R3).

**Notes:** \*: median (interquartile range, IQR and range for the signals); \*\* Mann–Whitney U test; \*\*\*: n, %; \*\*\*\*: Fisher's exact test (2 × 2) or Chi-square (2 × 3 or 2 × 4). BMI, body mass index, measured in kilograms divided by square metres (kg/m<sup>2</sup>); CWPF, chest wall perforator flap; CI, confidence intervals; OP-BCS, oncoplastic breast-conserving surgery; OR, odds ratio; Ref., reference category; TM, therapeutic mammaplasty; WLE, wide local excision; y, years.

			Presenc	e of any artefacts			
		Univariable			Multivariable		
		Yes	No	P-value	OR	95% CI	<i>P</i> -value
Age (y)*		61 (54– 70)	55 (47– 66)		1.034	0.992– 1.079	0.116
Lesion size (mm)*		14 (11– 22)	20 (15– 40)	0.001****	0.972	0.940– 1.005	0.093
SPIO injection tech- nique***	Free- hand	17 (89.5)	2 (10.5)	0.015****	Ref. [1]		
	Image- guided	46 (59.7)	31 (40.3)		0.257	0.052– 1.280	0.097
Post resection signal*		2469 (441– 7690)	643 (0– 2450)	0.002**	1.0001	0.9999– 1.0002	0.283
Signal on postopera- tive visit*		1370 (290– 7584)	35 (0– 550)	< 0.001**	1.00001	0.9999– 1.0001	0.716
	Presence of SPIO-specific artefacts						
Age (y)*	e (y)* 61.5 (53.5–70)		56 (48– 66)	0.026**	1.043	0.999– 1.086	0.053
Lesion size (mm)*	14 (10.	5, 22.5)	20 (14– 30)	0.067**	0.979	0.947– 1.013	0.231
SPIO injection tech- nique***	Free- hand	16 (84.2)	3 (15.8)	< 0.001****	Ref. [1]		
	Image- guided	35 (45.5)	42 (54.5)		0.171	0.042– 0.701	0.014
Post resection signal*		2469 (375– 7690)	780 (0– 2536)	0.018**	0.9999	0.9998– 1.0001	0.994
Signal on postopera- tive visit*		1005 (116– 4750)	76 (0– 950)	0.002**	1.0001	0.9999– 1.0002	0.295

**Supplementary Table 6.** Factors of association between prevalence of 'any artefact' or 'SPIO-specific artefact' for Rater 4 (R4).

**Notes:** \*: median (interquartile range, IQR and range for the signals); \*\* Mann–Whitney U test; \*\*\*: n, %; \*\*\*\*: Fisher's exact test (2 × 2) or Chi-square (2 × 3 or 2 × 4). BMI, body mass index, measured in kilograms divided by square metres (kg/m<sup>2</sup>); CWPF, chest wall perforator flap; CI, confidence intervals; OP-BCS, oncoplastic breast-conserving surgery; OR, odds ratio; Ref., reference category; TM, therapeutic mammaplasty; WLE, wide local excision; y, years.

## Appendix 3: Errata for Paper I

Heading 2.1, page 2, row 4. Correction: Patients planned for NAT were not excluded.

Heading 3, page 6–7, Table 1. Correction: Under the headings, previous axillary surgery and neoadjuvant treatment, right should be replaced with yes and left should be replaced with no.

Heading 3, page 7, row 13. Correction: FNR should be changed from 8.3% to 9.1%.

## Appendix 4: Errata for Paper II

Abstract, page 1, row 22. Correction: For BD, the incidence should be changed from 14 to 13.

# References

- 1. Nationellt kvalitetsregister för bröstcancer (NKBC). (Available from: https://statistik.incanet.se/brostcancer/. Accessed March 17, 2024).
- 2. Hippocrates. Loeb classical library. Harvard: Harvard University Press; 1995.
- 3. De Moulin D. A short history of breast cancer. Boston: Martinus Nijhoff Publishers; 1983.
- Olson JS. Bathsheba's breast: Women, cancer & history. 2002; Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins University Press. pp. 9–13.
- 5. Bröstcancerförbundet. (Available from: https://brostcancerforbundet.se/ombrostcancer/behandlingar/kirurgi/. Accessed February 8, 2022).
- 6. Veronesi U, Cascinelli N, Mariani L, Greco M, Saccozzi R, Luini A, et al. Twenty year follow-up of a randomized study comparing breast-conserving surgery with radical mastectomy for early breast cancer. *N Engl J Med.* 2002;347(16):1227–32.
- 7. Fisher B, Anderson S, Bryant J, Margolese RG, Deutsch M, Fisher ER, et al. Twenty-year follow-up of a randomized trial comparing total mastectomy, lumpectomy, and lumpectomy plus irradiation for the treatment of invasive breast cancer. *N Engl J Med*. 2002;347(16):1233–41.
- Darby S, McGale P, Correa C, Taylor C, Arriagada R, Clarke M, et al. Effect of radiotherapy after breast-conserving surgery on 10-year recurrence and 15-year breast cancer death: Meta-analysis of individual patient data for 10,801 women in 17 randomised trials. *Lancet.* 2011;378(9804):1707–16.
- 9. Veronesi U, Paganelli G, Viale G, Luini A, Zurrida S, Galimberti V, et al. A randomized comparison of sentinel-node biopsy with routine axillary dissection in breast cancer. *N Engl J Med.* 2003;349(6):546–53.
- 10. Veronesi U, Paganelli G, Viale G, Luini A, Zurrida S, Galimberti V, et al. Sentinel lymph-node biopsy as a staging procedure in breast cancer: Update of a randomized controlled study. *Lancet Oncol.* 2006;7(12):983–90.
- 11. Welch HG, Prorok PC, O'Malley AJ, Kramer BS. Breast-cancer tumor size, overdiagnosis, and mammography screening effectiveness. *N Engl J Med.* 2016;375(15):1438–47.
- Chan BK, Wiseberg-Firtell JA, Jois RH, Jensen K, Audisio RA. Localization techniques for guided surgical excision of non-palpable breast lesions. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015(12):CD009206.
- 13. Association of the Nordic Cancer registries (NORDCAN) (Available from: https://nordcan.iarc.fr/. Accessed March, 2024).
- 14. Peto J. Cancer epidemiology in the last century and the next decade. Nature. 2001;411(6835):390–5.
- 15. Althuis MD, Dozier JM, Anderson WF, Devesa SS, Brinton LA. Global trends in breast cancer incidence and mortality 1973–1997. *Int J Epidemiol*. 2005;34(2):405–12.
- 16. Regionala cancercentrum. (Available from: https://cancercentrum.se/samverkan/cancerdiagnoser/brost/kvalitetsregister/rapporter/. Accessed February 4, 2024).

- 17. Veronesi U, Luini A, Del Vecchio M, Greco M, Galimberti V, Merson M, et al. Radiotherapy after breast-preserving surgery in women with localized cancer of the breast. *N Engl J Med.* 1993;328(22):1587–91.
- 18. Mamounas EP, Kuehn T, Rutgers EJT, von Minckwitz G. Current approach of the axilla in patients with early-stage breast cancer. *Lancet*. 2017 Aug 14.
- 19. Bergkvist L, Frisell J. Multicentre validation study of sentinel node biopsy for staging in breast cancer. *Br J Surg*. 2005;92(10):1221–4.
- Mansel RE, Fallowfield L, Kissin M, Goyal A, Newcombe RG, Dixon JM, et al. Randomized multicenter trial of sentinel node biopsy versus standard axillary treatment in operable breast cancer: the ALMANAC Trial. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2006;98(9):599–609.
- Husted Madsen A, Haugaard K, Soerensen J, Bokmand S, Friis E, Holtveg H, et al. Arm morbidity following sentinel lymph node biopsy or axillary lymph node dissection: a study from the Danish Breast Cancer Cooperative Group. *Breast*. 2008;17(2):138–47.
- 22. Kuehn T, Vogl FD, Helms G, Pueckler SV, Schirrmeister H, Strueber R, et al. Sentinel-node biopsy for axillary staging in breast cancer: results from a large prospective German multi-institutional trial. *Eur J Surg Oncol.* 2004;30(3):252–9.
- 23. Bézu C, Coutant C, Salengro A, Daraï E, Rouzier R, Uzan S. Anaphylactic response to blue dye during sentinel lymph node biopsy. *Surg Oncol*. 2011;20(1):e55–9.
- Regionala cancercentrum. (Available from: https://cancercentrum.se/globalassets/cancerdiagnoser/brost/kvalitetsregister/nationell\_brostcancer\_rapport 2015 revc.pdf. Accessed February 8, 2022).
- King TA, Pilewskie M, Muhsen S, Patil S, Starr K. Mautner SK, Park A, et al. Lobular carcinoma in situ: a 29-year longitudinal experience evaluating clinicopathologic features and breast cancer risk. *J Clin Oncol.* 2015;33(33):3945–52.
- 26. Ward EM, DeSantis CE, Lin CC, Kramer JL, Jemal A, Kohler B et al. Cancer statistics: Breast cancer in situ. CA Cancer J Clin. 2015;65(6):481–95.
- Lyman GH, Somerfield MR, Bosserman LD, Perkins CL, Weaver DL, Giuliano AE. Sentinel lymph node biopsy for patients with early-stage breast cancer: American Society of Clinical Oncology Clinical Practice Guideline Update. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(5):561–4.
- 28. Senkus E, Kyriakides S, Ohno S, Penault-Llorca F, Poortmans P, Rutgers E, et al. Primary breast cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. *Ann Oncol.* 2015;26(Suppl 5):v8–30.
- 29. Regionalt Cancercentrum. Current guidelines breast cancer 2023, (Available from: https://kunskapsbanken.cancercentrum.se/diagnoser/brostcancer/vard-program/kirurgisk-behandling/#chapter-13-4-Kirurgisk-stagingbehandling-av-axillen. Accessed February 11, 2024).
- 30. Elston CW, Ellis IO. Pathological prognostic factors in breast cancer. I. The value of histological grade in breast cancer: experience from a large study with long-term follow-up. *Histopathology*. 1991;19(5):403–10.
- 31. Perou CM, Sørlie T, Eisen MB, van de Rijn M, Jeffrey SS, Rees CA, et al. Molecular portraits of human breast tumours. *Nature*. 2000;406(6797):747–52.
- Koboldt DC, Fulton R, McLellan M, Schmidt H, Kalicki-Veizer J, McMichael J, et al. Comprehensive molecular portraits of human breast tumours. *Nature*. 2012;490(7418):61–70.
- Ravdin PM, De Laurentiis M, Vendely T, Clark GM. Prediction of axillary lymph node status in breast cancer patients by use of prognostic indicators. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1994;86(23):1771–5.

- Specht MC, Fey JV, Borgen PI, Cody HS, 3rd. Is the clinically positive axilla in breast cancer really a contraindication to sentinel lymph node biopsy? *J Am Coll Surg.* 2005;200(1):10–4.
- 35. Wilke LG, McCall LM, Posther KE, Whitworth PW, Reintgen DS, Leitch AM, et al. Surgical complications associated with sentinel lymph node biopsy: results from a prospective international cooperative group trial. *Ann Surg Oncol.* 2006;13(4):491–500.
- 36. Giuliano AE, Kirgan DM, Guenther JM, Morton DL. Lymphatic mapping and sentinel lymphadenectomy for breast cancer. *Ann Surg* 1994;220:391–401.
- 37. Krag D, Weaver D, Ashikaga T, et al. The sentinel node in breast cancer A multicenter validation study. *N Engl J Med* 1998;339:941–6.
- Krag D, Harlow S, Weaver D, Ashikaga T. Technique of sentinel node resection in melanoma and breast cancer: Probe-guided surgery and lymphatic mapping. *Eur J Surg Oncol.* 1998;24(2):89–93.
- Kuehn T, Bauerfeind I, Fehm T, Fleige B, Hausschild M, Helms G, et al. Sentinel lymph-node biopsy in patients with breast cancer before and after neoadjuvant chemotherapy (SENTINA): A prospective, multicentre cohort study. *Lancet Oncol.* 2013;14(7):609–18.
- 40. Shiozawa M, Lefor AT, Hozumi Y, Kurihara K, Sata N, Yasuda Y, et al. Sentinel lymph node biopsy in patients with breast cancer using superparamagnetic iron oxide and a magnetometer. *Breast Cancer*. 2013;20(3):223–9.
- 41. Karakatsanis A, Daskalakis K, Stalberg P, Olofsson H, Andersson Y, Eriksson S, et al. Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles as the sole method for sentinel node biopsy detection in patients with breast cancer. *Br J Surg.* 2017;104(12):1675–85.
- Thill M, Kurylcio A, Welter R, van Haasteren V, Grosse B, Berclaz G, Polkowski W, Hauser N. The Central-European SentiMag study: sentinel lymph node biopsy with superparamagnetic iron oxide (SPIO) vs. radioisotope. *Breast*. 2014;23(2):175–9.
- 43. Karakatsanis A, Christiansen PM, Fischer L, Hedin C, Pistioli L, Sund M, et al. The Nordic SentiMag trial: A comparison of super paramagnetic iron oxide (SPIO) nanoparticles versus Tc(99) and patent blue in the detection of sentinel node (SN) in patients with breast cancer and a meta-analysis of earlier studies. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2016;157(2):281–94.
- 44. Hersi AF, Eriksson S, Ramos J, Abdsaleh S, Wärnberg F, Karakatsanis A. A combined, totally magnetic technique with a magnetic marker for non-palpable tumour localization and superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles for sentinel lymph node detection in breast cancer surgery. *Eur J Surg Oncol.* 2019;45(4):544–9.
- 45. Karakatsanis A. Postoperative breast MRI in patients undergoing sentinel node biopsy using super paramagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles. https://doi.org/10.1186/ISRCTN85167182. Accessed February 8, 2022.
- 46. Christenhusz A, Pouw JJ, Simonis FFJ, Douek M, Ahmed M, Klaase JM, et al. Breast MRI in patients after breast conserving surgery with sentinel node procedure using a superparamagnetic tracer. *Eur Radiol Exp.* 2022;6(1):3.
- 47. Warnberg F, Stigberg E, Obondo C, Olofsson H, Abdsaleh S, Warnberg M, et al. Long-term outcome after retro-areolar versus peri-tumoral injection of superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPIO) for sentinel lymph node detection in breast cancer surgery. *Ann Surg Oncol.* 2019;26(5):1247–53.
- Chan BK, Wiseberg-Firtell JA, Jois RH, Jensen K, Audisio RA. Localization techniques for guided surgical excision of non-palpable breast lesions. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2015(12):CD009206.

- 49. Hersi AF, Pistiolis L, Dussan Luberth C, Vikhe-Patil E, Nilsson F, Mohammed I, Olofsson Bagge R, Wärnberg F, Eriksson S, Karakatsanis A. Optimizing dose and timing in magnetic tracer techniques for sentinel lymph node detection in early breast cancers: The Prospective Multicenter SentiDose Trial. *Cancers (Basel)*. 2021;13(4):693. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers13040693
- 50. Neven A, Mauer M, Hasan B, Sylvester R, Collette L. Sample size computation in phase II designs combining the A'Hern design and the Sargent and Goldberg design. *J Biopharm Stat.* 2020:30:305–21.
- Zacharioudakis K, Down S, Bholah Z, et al. Is the future magnetic? Magseed localisation for non palpable breast cancer. A multi-centre non randomised control study. *Eur J Surg Oncol J Eur Soc Surg Oncol Br Assoc Surg Oncol.* 2019;45(11):2016–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2019.06.035
- Pantiora E, Tasoulis MK, Valachis A, et al. Evolution and refinement of magnetically guided sentinel lymph node detection in breast cancer: Meta-analysis. Br J Surg. 2023;110(4):410–419. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjs/znac426
- Liao JJ. Sample size calculation for an agreement study. *Pharm Stat.* 2010;9(2):125– 32. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/pst.382.
- 54. Barnhart HX, Haber M, Song J. Overall concordance correlation coefficient for evaluating agreement among multiple observers. *Biometrics*. 2002;58(4):1020–7.
- 55. Rubio IT, Diaz-Botero S, Esgueva A, Rodriguez R, Cortadellas T, Cordoba O, Espinosa-Bravo M. The superparamagnetic iron oxide is equivalent to the Tc99 radiotracer method for identifying the sentinel lymph node in breast cancer. *Eur. J. Surg. Oncol.* 2015;41:46–51.
- 56. Dave RV, Barrett E, Morgan J, Chandarana M, Elgammal S, Barnes N, Sami A, Masudi T, Down S, Holcombe C, Potter S, Somasundaram SK, Gardiner M, Mylvaganam S, Maxwell A, Harvey J; iBRA-NET Localisation Study collaborative. Wire- and magnetic-seed-guided localization of impalpable breast lesions: iBRA-NET localisation study. *Br J Surg*. 2022;109(3):274–82. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjs/znab443
- Zacharioudakis K, Down S, Bholah Z, Lee S, Khan T, Maxwell AJ, et al. Is the future magnetic? Magseed localisation for non palpable breast cancer. A multicentre non randomised control study. *Eur J Surg Oncol.* 2019;45(11):2016–21.
- Micha AE, Sinnett V, Downey K, Allen S, Bishop B, Hector LR, et al. Patient and clinician satisfaction and clinical outcomes of Magseed compared with wire-guided localisation for impalpable breast lesions. *Breast Cancer*. 2021;28(1):196–205.

# Acta Universitatis Upsaliensis

Digital Comprehensive Summaries of Uppsala Dissertations from the Faculty of Medicine 2036

Editor: The Dean of the Faculty of Medicine

A doctoral dissertation from the Faculty of Medicine, Uppsala University, is usually a summary of a number of papers. A few copies of the complete dissertation are kept at major Swedish research libraries, while the summary alone is distributed internationally through the series Digital Comprehensive Summaries of Uppsala Dissertations from the Faculty of Medicine. (Prior to January, 2005, the series was published under the title "Comprehensive Summaries of Uppsala Dissertations from the Faculty of Medicine".)



Distribution: publications.uu.se urn:nbn:se:uu:diva-525195

# Paper I



#### Article

## Magnetic-Guided Axillary UltraSound (MagUS) Sentinel Lymph Node Biopsy and Mapping in Patients with Early Breast Cancer. A Phase 2, Single-Arm Prospective Clinical Trial

Allan Jazrawi <sup>1,2</sup>, Eirini Pantiora <sup>3,4</sup>, Shahin Abdsaleh <sup>3,5</sup>, Daniel Vasiliu Bacovia <sup>6</sup>, Staffan Eriksson <sup>1,2</sup>, Henrik Leonhardt <sup>7</sup>**()**, Fredrik Wärnberg <sup>3,4,8</sup> and Andreas Karakatsanis <sup>3,4,\*</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> Centre for Clinical Research, County Västmanland, Uppsala University, 72189 Västerås, Sweden; allan.jazrawi@regionvastmanland.se (A.I.); staffan.eriksson@regionvastmanland.se (S.E.)
- <sup>2</sup> Department of Surgery, Västmanlands County Hospital, 72189 Västerås, Sweden
- <sup>3</sup> Department of Surgical Sciences, Uppsala University, 75185 Uppsala, Sweden; eirini.pantiora@akademiska.se (E.P.); shahin.abdsaleh@akademiska.se (S.A.); fredrik.warnberg@vgregion.se (F.W.)
- <sup>4</sup> Department of Surgery, Section for Endocrine and Breast Surgery, Uppsala University Hospital,
  - 75185 Uppsala, Sweden
- Aleris Mammography Unit, 75320 Uppsala, Sweden
- Department Immunology, Genetics and Pathology, Uppsala University, 75185 Uppsala, Sweden; daniel.vasiliu-bacovia@igp.uu.se
- Department of Radiology, Institute of Clinical Sciences, Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg, 41343 Gothenburg, Sweden; Henrik.leonhardt@vgregion.se
- <sup>8</sup> Department of Surgery, Institute of Clinical Sciences, Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg, 41345 Gothenburg, Sweden
  - Correspondence: andreas.karakatsanis@surgsci.uu.se

Simple Summary: Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPIO) have been shown to identify sentinel lymph nodes (SLNs) in patients with breast cancer. This study investigated whether a minimally invasive approach with MRI-LG after SPIO injection in the breast followed by a magnetic guided axillary ultrasound and core biopsy of the SLN (MagUS) could accurately stage the axilla. The study included not only patients planned for primary surgery but also patients with recurrent cancer after previous surgery, but also patients scheduled for neoadjuvant treatment (NAT). The latter underwent minimally invasive SLNB prior to treatment and had their SLN clipped; surgery in the axilla was performed after NAT. In 79 included patients, MagUS detected all patients with macrometastasis and performed comparably with surgical sentinel lymph node dissection (SLND). It also allowed for marking of the SLN in patients planned for PST and enabled tailored decision making in breast cancer recurrence.

Abstract: Lymph Node Dissection (SLND) is standard of care for diagnosing sentinel lymph node (SLN) status in patients with early breast cancer. Study aim was to determine whether the combination of Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPIO) MRI-lymphography (MRI-LG) and a Magnetic-guided Axillary UltraSound (MagUS) with biopsy can allow for minimally invasive, axillary evaluation to de-escalate surgery. Patients were injected with 2 mL of SPIO and underwent MRI-LG for SN mapping. Thereafter MagUS and core needle biopsy (CNB) were performed. Patients planned for neoadjuvant treatment, the SLN was clipped and SLND was performed after neoadjuvant with the addition of isotope. During surgery, SLNs were controlled for signs of previous biopsy or clip. The primary endpoint was MagUS SLN detection rate, defined as successful SLN detection of at least one SLN of those retrieved in SLND. In 79 patients, 48 underwent upfront surgery, 12 received neoadjuvant and 19 had recurrent cancer. MagUS traced the SLN in all upfront and neoadjuvant cases, detecting all patients with macrometastases (n = 10). MagUS missed only one micrometastasis, outperforming baseline axillary ultrasound AUS (AUC: 0.950 vs. 0.508, p < 0.001) and showing no discordance to SLND (p = 1.000). MagUS provides the niche for minimally invasive axillary mapping that can reduce diagnostic surgery.



Citation: Jazrawi, A.; Pantiora, E.; Abdsaleh, S.; Bacovia, D.V.; Eriksson, S.; Leonhardt, H.; Wärnberg, F.; Karakatsanis, A. Magnetic-Guided Axillary UltraSound (MagUS) Sentinel Lymph Node Biopsy and Mapping in Patients with Early Breast Cancer. A Phase 2, Single-Arm Prospective Clinical Trial. *Cancers* **2021**, *13*, 4285. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/cancers13174285

Academic Editors: Moriaki Kusakabe, Akihiro Kuwahata and Katja Pinker-Domenig

Received: 22 June 2021 Accepted: 20 August 2021 Published: 25 August 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). MDP

**Keywords:** sentinel lymph node biopsy; breast cancer; superparamagnetic iron oxide; magnetic tracer; sentinel lymph node

#### 1. Introduction

Primary tumor biology and axillary status guide therapeutic decisions in breast cancer treatment [1,2]. Sentinel Lymph Node Dissection (SLND) is considered the standard method of axillary staging, both in upfront surgery as well as after neoadjuvant treatment (NAT) [3–8].

Preoperative identification of patients with a negative SLN, or low-volume axillary disease that does not warrant further surgery, but guides therapeutic decisions, may allow for tailored approaches avoiding upfront SLND [6,9,10]. In patients scheduled for NAT, identifying those with a true negative axilla, but also those with low-volume disease, as de-escalation of axillary surgery after conversion from cN1 to cN0, could be safely attempted. [7,11,12].

At the same time, SLND is not an indolent procedure and is related to complications and considerable short- and long-term morbidity [13–16]. Therefore, non- or minimally invasive modalities have been proposed in order to address this problem. All of them are based on the principle of injecting a contrast interstitially in the breast in the same manner as when SLND is performed. The contrast will then be taken up by the lymphatics and reach the SLNs and will subsequently be visualized by a radiological modality. Previously, several methods such as single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT), tridimensional computed tomography lymphography (3D-CTLG) or contrast enhanced ultrasound with microbubbles (CEUS) have been evaluated as alternatives to surgery [17–19]. Most of these have shown promising results, but larger studies are missing and, complicated logistics, need for access to nuclear medicine facilities and demanding learning curves are restricting their introduction into clinical practice.

Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPIO) are used as a SLND tracer with comparable detection to the combination of radioisotope and blue dye, as shown in previous studies [20,21]. Additionally, when SPIO is injected in the breast, it can identify SLNs in axillary magnetic resonance imaging lymphography (MRI-LG) [22]. At the same time, SPIO yields the benefit that it resides in the tissue for a prolonged period of time without migrating to higher lymph node echelons and, thus, allows for the identification for SLNs during a much wider timeframe [23]. In this manner the SLNs that are identified during surgery should be visible in an MRI and, at the same time, transcutaneous signal detected by a magnetic probe, as in surgery, should be able to guide the axillary ultrasound to allow for transcutaneous identification and biopsy of the SLNs. Such a concept would have the perceived advantages of combining and tailoring modalities and at the same time, allowing for preoperative work up in a timeframe wider than the short halftime of Tc<sup>99</sup> used for SPECT or that in the case of CEUS [19,24].

The development of an integrated technique bridging non-invasive and minimally invasive procedures for enhancement of the standard, axillary ultrasound-based diagnostic work-up is highly relevant [23–25]. The aim of this study was to determine whether the preoperative work-up with SPIO MRI-LG and Magnetic-guided Axillary UltraSound (MagUS), can accurately localize SLNs and predict SLN status and whether such a technique has the potential of replacing SLN surgery in the future.

#### 2. Methods

#### 2.1. Patients

Adult patients with clinically and ultrasound node-negative early breast cancer (cN0) planned for SLND at Uppsala University Hospital, from September 2017 to December 2020, were enrolled in the study after written informed consent. Patients with hypersensitivity to dextran compounds or SPIO, iron overload disease or planned for NAT and monitored

with breast MRI for tumor response, were excluded. If a diagnostic breast MRI was needed, it was performed separately, before SPIO injection and axillary MRI-LG. The study was approved by the Regional Ethics Board in Uppsala (DNR 2016/385).

#### 2.2. MRI-LG

Patients were injected peritumorally in the breast with 2 mL of SPIO (Magtrace®, Endomag., Cambridge, UK) and underwent MRI-LG one to 14 days after the injection. MRI-LG was performed with the patient in a supine position and adduction of the ipsilateral arm. The examination was performed without iv-contrast and took ca 8 min to complete. In cases of previous breast and axillary surgery or parasternal cancers, the contralateral axilla was also included in the MRI-LG to identify aberrant lymphatic outflow [26]. The MRI images were obtained using a 1,5-T and 3-T system (Philips®, Amsterdam, The Netherlands) with T2W cor, T2\* tra and T2\* cor sequences. Any lymph node with SPIO uptake in a T1 sequence or SPIO related void artifact on T2 sequence was considered a SLN, as previously described imaging was reviewed and the number of identified SLNs was documented [22]. SLN localization was described according to the classification proposed by Clough et al. [27], in relation to the lateral thoracic vein and the second intercostobrachial nerve. SLN metastatic status was assessed according to criteria previously proposed by Motomura et al. [22]; a lymph node was considered non-metastatic if there was a homogenous low intensity signal uptake of SPIO and metastatic if the entire node or a focal area did not show low signal intensity uptake.

#### 2.3. Magnetic Guided Axillary UltraSound (MagUS) and Core Needle Biopsy (CNB)

After reviewing of MRI-LG, the radiologist performed a second look axillary ultrasound in another session. The examination was focused to the area where the SLNs were identified on MRI (Figure 1). After a primary assessment for lymph nodes, a handheld magnetometer (Sentimag<sup>®</sup>, Endomag, Cambridge, UK) was used to identify the "pre-incision hotspot" which is the area with the highest magnetic uptake on the skin, and concordance with the MRI localization was registered.



**Figure 1.** (**a**,**b**). Visualization of SLN with MRI before and after SPIO. In an enhancement of the SLN is visualized after injection of SPIO. The red circle visualizes the enhanced SLN after the injection of SPIO.

Subsequently, the identified lymph node(s) were assessed, and the percutaneous CNB of the SLN was performed with ultrasound guidance under local anesthesia (Figure 2). The CNB was evaluated for the presence of brown staining and magnetic uptake with the SentiMag probe (Figure 3). If more than one pathological lymph nodes were identified at this stage, the protocol stated that multiple efforts could be performed only after patient

consent; otherwise, if the bioptic material obtained was considered representative and adequate, only the most prominent node was biopsied. Standard histopathologic analyses to assess metastasis was also performed, including verification of SPIO presence in the SLN. In patients undergoing NAT, the SLN was clipped simultaneously after the CNB, at the same session. When CNB was completed, the area was scanned for bleeding.



Figure 2. (a,b). MagUS with the SLN visualized in the red circle (left). Magnetic probe localizes the magnetic "hotspot" and after that CNB is performed (right). Monitor width 3.9 cm.



Figure 3. MagUS SLN-biopsy specimen (size 1 cm).

The study protocol ruled that the first five patients would undergo axillary MRI-LG before and after SPIO administration, and that MagUS and CNB was performed in the operation theatre, after the induction of anesthesia and right before surgery. In cases of recurrent breast cancer with aberrant SLN localization on MRI-LG and MagUS, a decision to attempt SLND was made at the multidisciplinary conference and after discussion with the patient. In patients undergoing NAT, a new axillary MRI-LG was performed after NAT, with no subsequent SPIO injection to see whether SPIO uptake in the SLNs was still visible. The number and localization of SLNs on MRI images was documented and axillary transcutaneous SentiMag signal was recorded. During subsequent SLND, concomitant radioisotope injection was administered and during surgery we registered which SLNs were magnetic, radioactive or both as well as the signal of the clipped node with both tracers.

#### 2.4. Surgery and Specimen Pathology

During surgery, SLND was performed and the retrieved SLNDs were controlled macroscopically and microscopically for signs of previous biopsy, hematoma or the presence of clip, if placed. Standard pathology of the SLN specimen served as a reference to the microscopical examination of the CNB.

The entire MagUs flowchart is summarized in Figure 4.



Figure 4. Flowchart showing the MagUS process.

#### 2.5. Trial Design and Study Endpoints

To assess whether the MagUS concept has the niche to replace surgical axillary evaluation (SLND), it was necessary to ensure concordance and agreement across the different modalities. With other words, it was necessary to verify that the SLNs identified and retrieved during surgery, were the same lymph nodes visualized on the MRI and the same that were detected by the magnetic probe, identified by the ultrasound and subsequently biopsied with a core needle. The common denominator was the presence of SPIO in the node and how this is demonstrated throughout the different modalities (MRI, MagUS, Surgery). Therefore, the outcome of interest was a minimum agreement in the assessment obtained by the MRI/MagUS with the standard of care, that is surgery. For this, it was clinically relevant to assess if the technique at hand is feasible, before venturing on a large clinical trial. Subsequently, the MagUS trial was conceived as a single stage phase 2 trial following the A'Hern's design [28]. For a one-sided test a type one error a = 0.025 and 80% power, a sample size of 75 or more was required between a maximum futility proportion of 95% (corresponding to the proportion of successful detection above which the method can be further considered) and a minimum efficacy of proportion of 85% (corresponding to the proportion of successful detection under which, the method should not warrant further investigation).

The primary endpoint was determination of the MagUS SLN detection rate, defined as successful SLN detection of at least one SLN of those retrieved in the following SLND. Secondary endpoints were false-negative rate (FNR) of the MagUS technique, defined as no diagnosis of SLN metastasis (index test = negative) but presence of metastases by histopathology in any of the retrieved SLNs (reference test = positive) and overall accuracy, sensitivity, specificity and positive and negative predictive value (PPV, NPV).

Another aim of the study was to determine whether the MagUS technique could improve preoperative workup accuracy. For this, discordance in axillary evaluation from baseline clinical and ultrasonographical assessment was assessed.

Subgroup analyses were carried out to review the role of each component of the MagUS technique (MRI-LG. MagUS and MagUS core biopsy) and their potential role in tailored axillary mapping and inform on a future phase 3 trial.

The manuscript was prepared according to the Standards for the Reporting of Diagnostic Accuracy Studies (STARD) statement [29]. Descriptive statistics were performed by means of median (range) for continuous variables. Subsequently, non-parametric tests were used for comparisons. The McNemar's test was used for the assessment of discordance in paired observations. For diagnostic accuracy statistics, Receiver Operating Characteristics (ROC) curves were constructed and the area under the curve (AUC) is provided. Effect sizes are provided with 95% confidence intervals (95% CI). Data analyses were performed using SPSS (V 26.0. IBM Corp, Armonk, NY, USA) and Stata<sup>®</sup>, version 16 (StataCorp LP, College Station, TX, USA).

#### 3. Results

The study is summarized in (Figure 5) and patient characteristics are presented in Table 1. In a total of 79 patients, 48 had early breast cancer and underwent upfront surgery, 12 underwent NAT and 19 had recurrent breast cancer after previous breast and axillary surgery.



Figure 5. STARD flow diagram. \* MRI\_LG: Magnetic resonance imaging Lymphography. SLND: Sentinel Lymph Node Dissection.

Patient Characteristics.	
Patient age at operation (median, range)	64 (38–87)
Body mass index (median, range)	24.8 (19.1–43.8)
Preoperative tumor extent mm (median, range)	20 (5–120)
Days between injection and Surgery (median, range)	12 (0–140)
Laterality, number, %	
Right	41 (51.9)
Left	38 (48.1)
Previous breast surgery	
Right	21 (26.6)
Left	58 (73.4)
Previous axillary surgery	
Right	19 (24.4)
Left	59 (75.6)

Table 1. Patient characteristics.

Patient Characteristics.	
Neo adjuvant treatment	
Right	12 (15.2)
Left	67 (84.8)
Localization in the breast, number, %	
Upper outer	31 (39.2)
Upper inner	12 (15.2)
Lower outer	9 (11.4)
Lower inner	7 (8.9)
Central	7 (8.9)
Multicentric	11 (13.9)
Chest wall	2 (2.5)
Histological type ( $n = 79$ )	
Invasive ductal (n, (%))	66 (83.5)
Invasive lobular $(n, (\%))$	11 (13.9)
Other Histology $(n, (\%))$	2 (2.5)
Intrinsic Subtype ( $n = 79$ )	
Luminal A $(n, (\%))$	36
Luminal B, erbb2 $-(n, (\%))$	20
Luminal B, erbb2+ $(n, (\%))$	10
Non luminal erbb2+ $(n, (\%))$	3
Triple negative $(n, (\%))$	9
Type of surgery $(n = 79)$	
Wide local excision $(n, (\%))$	28 (35.4)
Mastectomy $(n, (\%))$	23 (29.1)
Oncoplastic breast conservation $(n, (\%))$	28 (34.4)

Table 1. Cont.

MRI-LG was performed a median of 3 days after SPIO injection (range 1–12) and the MagUS with transcutaneous SLNB  $\pm$  SLN clipping a median of 3 days (range 1–5) after MRI-LG. In all 73 patients where MagUS SLNB was performed, transcutaneous detection was successful and the SLN was located. Minimally invasive SLNB (MagUS CNB) retrieved lymphatic tissue with magnetic signal on the SentiMag<sup>®</sup> probe, and the presence of SPIO was confirmed on post-operative histopathology. At surgery, the node with signs of previous biopsy and/or clip was always retrieved. In one case, the lymph node that was biopsied was a non-sentinel node (i.e., ex vivo signal less than 10% of the signal of the SLN with the maximal signal), but the true SLN was just behind it and recovered during SLND.

Metastases on specimen pathology was found in 11 patients (11/73, 15.1%, 95% confidence intervals: 7.8; 25.4). MagUS identified all patients with SLN macrometastases (n = 10) and missed only one SLN with a micrometastasis, resulting in a FNR of 8.3% and an overall accuracy of 98.6% (Tables 2 and 3). In terms of diagnostic performance, when compared to the results of surgical pathology, MagUS performed very accurately (AUC: 0.955; 0.865, 1.000, p < 0.001) whereas AUS was not predictive at all (AUC: 0.505; 0.410, 0.601, p = 0.916).

Table 2. Comparison between MagUS and final pathology.

		Preoperative MagUS Assessment for Metastases		
	-	No n, (%)	Yes <i>n</i> , (%)	Total <i>n</i> , (%)
Metastases at	No	62 (98.4)	0 (0)	62 (84.9)
histopathology	Yes	1 (1.6)	10 (100)	11 (15.1)
Total		63 (100)	10 (100)	73 (100)

Mc Nemar's test, p = 1.000.

	Rate	Lower 95% CI	Upper 95% CI
Sensitivity	90.9%	58.7%	99.8%
Specificity	100%	94.2%	100%
PPV	100%	69.1%	100%
NPV	98.4%	91.5%	99.9%
Accuracy	98.6%	92.6%	99.9%

Table 3. Diagnostic performance of the MagUS technique.

The number of SLNs identified on MRI-LG (median 4, range 1–6) did not differ from the number of SLNs retrieved (median 3, range 1–6) (Wilcoxon signed rank test, p = 0.331) with high correlation (Cronbach's Alpha = 0.719; 0.481, 0.848, p < 0.001). Additionally, topographic concordance between MRI-LG, MagUS and SLND was 100%. In 63 patients (86%), the nodes were located medial to the lateral thoracic vein and caudal to the intercostobrachial nerve.

In patients receiving NAT, the MagUS allowed for accurate axillary mapping, identification and clipping of the true SLN prior to the initiation of NAT. After the completion of NAT, a median of 130 days (range 86–140) after SPIO injection, the SLNs were still visualized in MRI-LG and were detectable during surgery in all patients. There was excellent correlation between the number of SLNs identified on MRI (median 4, range 2–6) and the magnetic SLNs retrieved (median 3.5, range 1–6) with Cronbach's Alpha = 0.919; 0.699, 0.978, p < 0.001.

In patients with local recurrence after previous breast and axillary surgery (n = 19), MagUS showed either aberrant lymphatic outflow or no outflow in 9 patients (47.3%), preventing unnecessary ipsilateral axillary exploration. In the remaining 10 patients, both MagUS SLNB and subsequent surgery were successful.

#### 4. Discussion

In this phase 2 trial, the MagUS technique (MRI-LG and MagUS) provided comparable results in accuracy and FNR with the standard of SLND. It was more accurate than the standard b-mode AUS in preoperatively detecting low-volume axillary disease. In this trial, it was demonstrated that accurate minimally invasive axillary staging can be achieved with a multimodal platform that can be modified to meet tailored patient needs.

SLND is not an indolent procedure and is related to short- and long-term morbidity such as postoperative pain, restricted shoulder range of motion, axillary web syndrome and lymphedema, as suggested in recent meta-analysis [13,14,30]. These findings indicate the need of establishing techniques for less invasive axillary staging that might result in less surgery, less subsequent postoperative complications and a reduction of costs and resources related with surgery [31,32]. Additionally, this MagUS workup can be performed in a wide timeframe and in an outpatient basis, as SPIO resides in the tissue a long period of time.

Recently, the necessity of surgical axillary mapping has been challenged in particular clinical scenarios. Observational data suggest that SLND may be safely omitted in older patients with primary tumors with small size and favorable biology [33–35]. The SOUND randomized trial examines whether a negative AUS can allow for the omission of SLND in patients with unifocal tumors < 2 cm planned for breast conservation and radiotherapy [36]. However, this approach does not take in consideration recent data that suggest that, in women with small tumors that are SLN negative, radiotherapy may be safely omitted nor that diagnosis of low-volume axillary disease, may allow for tailoring of radiotherapy or systemic treatment [6,9,37–39]. The results of the MagUS trial suggest that this technique may be used instead of SLND in selected cases.

It has been shown that 25% of patients considered as cN0 by AUS+/-FNAC will have a positive SLN in surgery. MagUS has the potential to correctly identify this low-volume axillary disease group, so that further treatment decisions may be tailored but without further axillary surgery, as it has been shown in landmark trials such as AMAROS,

ACOSOG Z0011 or, more recently, the RxPonder trial [6,9,40]. Reversely, in women with one positive lymph node on standard AUS, MagUS could assess the volume of axillary disease in a more accurate manner. This is a group that often harbors a higher nodal disease burden [41]. However, other studies show that this is explained by the fact that the sensitivity of AUS + FNAC increases significantly in patients with higher risk for nodal metastasis [42]. At the same time, up to 43.2% of this patient group, will be found to have two or less metastatic nodes, meaning that ALND will have been overtreatment [10]. If MagUS shows that there is only low-volume axillary disease, then the patient may have the possibility to avoid overtreatment and tailor treatment decisions may be made after discussion in the multidisciplinary meeting [43].

Subsequently, MagUS may also address issues regarding axillary staging in the setting of NAT, as it yields the potential of differentiating patients that are clinically node negative from those who are also SLN negative prior to NAT. In this manner, therapeutic decisions regarding the axilla, such as axillary radiotherapy may be better tailored, while its definitive role in this setting remains still to be elucidated [44,45]. At the same time, it may answer whether, in cN positive patients, the metastatic node is a sentinel or if, at presentation, there are non-sentinel metastases, which is suggestive of a higher axillary nodal burden. In this manner, it becomes safer to identify more appropriate potential candidates for axillary conservation post-NAT as recently suggested in the Lucerne toolbox [12]. Moreover, MRI-LG before and after NAT allows for an estimate of the number of SLNs in the axilla. This may address the problem of FNR after NAT, that has been discussed in landmark trials, such as Sentina and ACOSOG Z1071 [46-50]. In these trials FNR was shown to decrease with the removal of  $\geq 3$  nodes, including clipped nodes, if such, whereas double tracer was shown to increase detection rate [7,46-50]. In the present study, post-NAT MRI-LG showed uptake in the same SLNs, suggesting that SPIO did not migrate in higher nodal echelons during NAT. Intraoperatively, there was transcutaneous magnetic signal and SLNs were detected in all cases. It may be so that, a MagUS could be repeated after NAT to allow for more focused axillary evaluation, as standard AUS has not shown promising results in this setting [51]. As omission of axillary surgery post neoadjuvant is discussed in several breast cancer subtypes, provided that there is pathologic complete response (PCR) in the breast, MagUS could provide a safer manner to discuss omission of surgery, rather than, in case of non-PCR, performing SLND that will be subject to the risk of false negatives post NAT and after a previous excision in the breast [52,53]. A given restriction is that SPIO injection in the breast impairs the diagnostic accuracy of the MRI, suggesting that the tumor response should be performed with other modalities. Reassuringly, modalities, such as ultrasound and PET-CT have shown comparable accuracy in this setting, without the known risk of false positive findings from the MRI [54-57].

Evaluating nodal status for breast cancer after previous breast and axillary surgery is a challenge. SLN detection rate is lower and aberrant, extra-axillary lymphatic drainage is not unusual [26,58,59]. For this reason, the use of preoperative mapping by means of scintigraphy is recommended in this setting. However, whilst accurate, scintigraphy complicates logistics and this is why it recent data suggest that it is no longer necessary for patients without previous breast or axillary surgery undergoing upfront SLND [60]. MagUS has, in this setting, allowed for tailored patient treatment with flexibility, as the MRI-LG performed preoperatively, allowed in good time to know whether SLND would be attempted on the day of surgery. In this manner, logistics were facilitated, and treatment decisions could be tailored with more precision and accuracy.

The strictly controlled study design allowed for safe results, despite the absence of a control arm. However, this is a phase 2 trial and these results need to be refined and reproduced in a larger scale. Consequently, a phase 3 randomized controlled trial is needed prior to standardization and routine adaptation of the technique instead of surgical SLND. The results suggest that MagUS has the potential to provide a substantial niche to avoid axillary surgery. The cost of surgery is the most substantial, especially if one takes the expenses related with leave of absence, morbidity and complication risks into consideration.

Moreover, it is currently unclear whether the technique will always be implemented with the combination of an MRI and MagUS, something which might complicate and prolong the preoperative assessment of the patient. Finally if clinical MRI of the breast is intended, it should be performed first, to be followed by MagUs in another, different session. However, study results suggest that in women without risk factors for decreased ultrasound accuracy and transcutaneous magnetic probe detection (obesity, previous axillary surgery, etc.), MagUS and CNB were sufficient to accurately stage the axilla, suggesting that MRI is probably necessary in a small subgroup of patients (obesity, previous axillary surgery, etc.). This means that tailoring the technique to the specific patient will result in different routines and probably costs. Another substantial benefit is that this can be performed during the period between diagnosis a breast surgery, so that axillary mapping can be performed preoperatively and on an outpatient basis.

MagUS seems to be a method that can allow for alternatives to surgical axillary mapping. It comes to add to the armamentarium of other minimally invasive techniques that have previously been proposed [17,19,22,61] allowing for tailored axillary mapping in breast cancer. Its presumed advantages are the combination of different imaging modalities, together with that SPIO remains in the node a longer period, so as to allow for delayed SLND. Technique refinement and larger studies will allow for elucidation of the possibilities and its role in breast cancer diagnosis and treatment.

#### 5. Conclusions

MagUS provides the niche for minimally invasive axillary mapping that can meet tailored patient needs and reduce diagnostic surgery. A phase 3 RCT is planned to further evaluate the technique.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, A.K.; methodology, A.K.; software, A.K.; validation, A.K.; formal analysis, A.K.; investigation, A.J., E.P., S.A., D.V.B., F.W., S.E. and A.K.; resources, A.J., E.P., S.A. and D.V.B.; data curation, F.W. and A.K.; writing—original draft preparation, A.J.; writing—review and editing, A.J., E.P., D.V.B., S.A., F.W., H.L., S.E. and A.K.; visualization, A.J.; supervision, F.W., S.E. and A.K.; project administration, F.W. and A.K.; funding acquisition, A.K. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

**Funding:** Institutional grants by Uppsala University and the Swedish Association for Breast Cancer ("Bröstcancerförbundet", www.brostcancerforbundet.se, ref. KDB1621/17) are acknowledged. Sponsors and funding bodies had no role in study design, data collection, analysis, or interpretation.

**Institutional Review Board Statement:** The study was conducted according to the guidelines of the Helsinki Declaration of ethical principles involving human subjects and was approved by Uppsala University regional ethical committee (decision number 2017/063).

Informed Consent Statement: Informed consent was obtained from all subjects involved in the study.

**Data Availability Statement:** The data presented in this study are available on request from the corresponding author. The data are not publicly available due to ethical considerations and data regulations.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

#### References

- Kim, M.K.; Park, H.S.; Kim, J.Y.; Kim, S.; Nam, S.; Park, S.; Kim, S.I. The clinical implication of the number of lymph nodes harvested during sentinel lymph node biopsy and its effects on survival outcome in patients with node-negative breast cancer. *Am. J. Surg.* 2016, 214, 726–732. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Stenmark Tullberg, A.; Lundstedt, D.; Olofsson Bagge, R.; Karlsson, P. Positive sentinel node in luminal A-like breast cancer patients-implications for adjuvant chemotherapy? *Acta Oncol.* 2019, 58, 162–167. [CrossRef]
- Veronesi, U.; Paganelli, G.; Viale, G.; Luini, A.; Zurrida, S.; Galimberti, V.; Intra, M.; Veronesi, P.; Robertson, C.; Maisonneuve, P.; et al. A Randomized Comparison of Sentinel-Node Biopsy with Routine Axillary Dissection in Breast Cancer. N. Engl. J. Med. 2003, 349, 546–553. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Krag, D.N.; Anderson, S.; Julian, T.B.; Brown, A.M.; Harlow, S.P.; Costantino, J.P.; Ashikaga, T.; Weaver, D.L.; Mamounas, E.P.; Jalovec, L.M.; et al. Sentinel-lymph-node resection compared with conventional axillary-lymph-node dissection in clinically node-negative patients with breast cancer: Overall survival findings from the NSABP B-32 randomised phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol.* 2010, 11, 927–933. [CrossRef]
- Morrow, M.; Jagsi, R.; McLeod, M.C.; Shumway, D.; Katz, S.J. Surgeon Attitudes Toward the Omission of Axillary Dissection in Early Breast Cancer. JAMA Oncol. 2018, 4, 1511–1516. [CrossRef]
- Donker, M.; van Tienhoven, G.; Straver, M.E.; Meijnen, P.; van de Velde, C.J.H.; Mansel, R.E.; Cataliotti, L.; Westenberg, A.H.; Klinkenbijl, J.H.G.; Orzalesi, L.; et al. Radiotherapy or surgery of the axilla after a positive sentinel node in breast cancer (EORTC 10981-22023 AMAROS): A randomised, multicentre, open-label, phase 3 non-inferiority trial. *Lancet Oncol.* 2014, 15, 1303–1310. [CrossRef]
- Boughey, J.C.; Suman, V.J.; Mittendorf, E.A.; Ahrendt, G.M.; Wilke, L.G.; Taback, B.; Leitch, A.M.; Kuerer, H.M.; Bowling, M.; Flippo-Morton, T.S.; et al. Sentinel lymph node surgery after neoadjuvant chemotherapy in patients with node-positive breast cancer: The ACOSOG Z1071 (Alliance) clinical trial. JAMA 2013, 310, 1455–1461. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Stearns, V.; Ewing, C.A.; Slack, R.; Penannen, M.F.; Hayes, D.F.; Tsangaris, T.N. Sentinel lymphadenectomy after neoadjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer may reliably represent the axilla except for inflammatory breast cancer. Ann. Surg Oncol. 2002, 9, 235–242. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Giuliano, A.E.; Ballman, K.V.; McCall, L.; Beitsch, P.D.; Brennan, M.B.; Kelemen, P.R.; Ollila, D.W.; Hansen, N.M.; Whitworth, P.W.; Blumencranz, P.W.; et al. Effect of Axillary Dissection vs. No Axillary Dissection on 10-Year Overall Survival Among Women With Invasive Breast Cancer and Sentinel Node Metastasis: The ACOSOG Z0011 (Alliance) Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA 2017, 318, 918–926. [CrossRef]
- Ahmed, M.; Jozsa, F.; Baker, R.; Rubio, I.T.; Benson, J.; Douek, M. Meta-analysis of tumour burden in pre-operative axillary ultrasound positive and negative breast cancer patients. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 2017, 166, 329–336; Erratum in 2017, 166, 337. [CrossRef]
- Caudle, A.S.; Yang, W.T.; Krishnamurthy, S.; Mittendorf, E.A.; Black, D.M.; Gilcrease, M.Z.; Bedrosian, I.; Hobbs, B.P.; DeSnyder, S.M.; Hwang, R.F.; et al. Improved Axillary Evaluation Following Neoadjuvant Therapy for Patients With Node-Positive Breast Cancer Using Selective Evaluation of Clipped Nodes: Implementation of Targeted Axillary Dissection. J. Clin. Oncol. 2016, 34, 1072–1078. [CrossRef]
- Dubsky, P.; Pinker, K.; Cardoso, F.; Montagna, G.; Ritter, M.; Denkert, C.; Rubio, I.T.; de Azambuja, E.; Curigliano, G.; Gentilini, O.; et al. Breast conservation and axillary management after primary systemic therapy in patients with early-stage breast cancer: The Lucerne toolbox. *Lancet Oncol.* 2021, 22, e18–e28. [CrossRef]
- Lucci, A.; McCall, L.M.; Beitsch, P.D.; Whitworth, P.W.; Reintgen, D.S.; Blumencranz, P.W.; Leitch, A.M.; Saha, S.; Hunt, K.K.; Giuliano, A.E. Surgical Complications Associated With Sentinel Lymph Node Dissection (SLND) Plus Axillary Lymph Node Dissection Compared With SLND Alone in the American College of Surgeons Oncology Group Trial Z0011. J. Clin. Oncol. 2007, 25, 3657–3663. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Mansel, R.E.; Fallowfield, L.; Kissin, M.; Goyal, A.; Newcombe, R.G.; Dixon, J.M.; Yiangou, C.; Horgan, K.; Bundred, N.; Monypenny, I.; et al. Randomized Multicenter Trial of Sentinel Node Biopsy Versus Standard Axillary Treatment in Operable Breast Cancer: The ALMANAC Trial. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 2006, 98, 599–609. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Verbelen, H.; Tjalma, W.; Meirte, J.; Gebruers, N. Long-term morbidity after a negative sentinel node in breast cancer patients. *Eur. J. Cancer Care* 2019, 28, e13077. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Verbelen, H.; Gebruers, N.; Eeckhout, F.-M.; Verlinden, K.; Tjalma, W. Shoulder and arm morbidity in sentinel node-negative breast cancer patients: A systematic review. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 2014, 144, 21–31. [CrossRef]
- Navalkissoor, S.; Wagner, T.; Gnanasegaran, G.; Buscombe, J. SPECT/CT in imaging sentinel nodes. *Clin. Transl. Imaging* 2015, 3, 203–215. [CrossRef]
- Nakagawa, M.; Morimoto, M.; Takechi, H.; Tadokoro, Y.; Tangoku, A. Preoperative diagnosis of sentinel lymph node (SLN) metastasis using 3D CT lymphography (CTLG). *Breast Cancer* 2015, 23, 519–524. [CrossRef]
- Cox, K.; Taylor-Phillips, S.; Sharma, N.; Weeks, J.; Mills, P.; Sever, A.; Lim, A.; Haigh, I.; Hashem, M.; De Silva, T.; et al. Enhanced pre-operative axillary staging using intradermal microbubbles and contrast-enhanced ultrasound to detect and biopsy sentinel lymph nodes in breast cancer: A potential replacement for axillary surgery. Br. J. Radiol. 2017, 91, 20170626. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Teshome, M.; Wei, C.; Hunt, K.K.; Thompson, A.; Rodriguez, K.; Mittendorf, E.A. Use of a Magnetic Tracer for Sentinel Lymph Node Detection in Early-Stage Breast Cancer Patients: A Meta-analysis. Ann. Surg. Oncol. 2016, 23, 1508–1514. [CrossRef]
- Karakatsanis, A.; Christiansen, P.M.; Fischer, L.; Hedin, C.; Pistioli, L.; Sund, M.; Rasmussen, N.R.; Jørnsgård, H.; Tegnelius, D.; Eriksson, S.; et al. The Nordic SentiMag trial: A comparison of super paramagnetic iron oxide (SPIO) nanoparticles versus Tc(99) and patent blue in the detection of sentinel node (SN) in patients with breast cancer and a meta-analysis of earlier studies. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 2016, 157, 281–294. [CrossRef]
- Motomura, K.; Izumi, T.; Tateishi, S.; Tamaki, Y.; Ito, Y.; Horinouchi, T.; Nakanishi, K. Superparamagnetic iron oxide-enhanced MRI at 3 T for accurate axillary staging in breast cancer. Br. J. Surg. 2016, 103, 60–69. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Karakatsanis, A.; Hersi, A.; Pistiolis, L.; Bagge, R.O.; Lykoudis, P.M.; Eriksson, S.; Wärnberg, F.; Nagy, G.; Mohammed, I.; Sundqvist, M.; et al. Effect of preoperative injection of superparamagnetic iron oxide particles on rates of sentinel lymph node

dissection in women undergoing surgery for ductal carcinoma in situ (SentiNot study). J. Br. Surg. 2019, 106, 720–728. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- Ahmed, M.; Purushotham, A.D.; Douek, M. Novel techniques for sentinel lymph node biopsy in breast cancer: A systematic review. *Lancet Oncol.* 2014, 15, e351–e362. [CrossRef]
- Karakatsanis, A.; Daskalakis, K.; Stålberg, P.; Olofsson, H.; Andersson, Y.; Eriksson, S.; Bergkvist, L.; Wärnberg, F. Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles as the sole method for sentinel node biopsy detection in patients with breast cancer. J. Br. Surg. 2017, 104, 1675–1685. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ahmed, M.; Baker, R.; Rubio, I.T. Meta-analysis of aberrant lymphatic drainage in recurrent breast cancer. BJS 2016, 103, 1579–1588. [CrossRef]
- Clough, K.B.; Nasr, R.; Nos, C.; Vieira, M.; Inguenault, C.; Poulet, B. New anatomical classification of the axilla with implications for sentinel node biopsy. Br. J. Surg. 2010, 97, 1659–1665. [CrossRef]
- Neven, A.; Mauer, M.; Hasan, B.; Sylvester, R.; Collette, L. Sample size computation in phase II designs combining the A'Hern design and the Sargent and Goldberg design. J. Biopharm. Stat. 2020, 30, 305–321. [CrossRef]
- Bossuyt, P.M.; Reitsma, J.B.; Bruns, D.E.; Gatsonis, C.A.; Glasziou, P.P.; Irwig, L.; Lijmer, J.G.; Moher, D.; Rennie, D.; de Vet, H.C.W.; et al. For the STARD Group. STARD 2015: An Updated List of Essential Items for Reporting Diagnostic Accuracy Studies. *BMJ* 2015, 351, h5527. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 30. Pilger, T.L.; Francisco, D.F.; Candido Dos Reis, F.J. Effect of sentinel lymph node biopsy on upper limb function in women with early breast cancer: A systematic review of clinical trials. *Eur. J. Surg. Oncol.* **2021**, *30*, 1497–1506. [CrossRef]
- Boughey, J.C.; Moriarty, J.P.; Degnim, A.C.; Gregg, M.S.; Egginton, J.S.; Long, K.H. Cost modeling of preoperative axillary ultrasound and fine-needle aspiration to guide surgery for invasive breast cancer. *Ann. Surg. Oncol.* 2010, *17*, 953–958. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Turaga, K.K.; Chau, A.; Eatrides, J.M.; Kiluk, J.V.; Khakpour, N.; Laronga, C.; Lee, M.C. Selective application of routine preoperative axillary ultrasonography reduces costs for invasive breast cancers. *Oncologist* 2011, *16*, 942–948. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Chung, A.; Gangi, A.; Amersi, F.; Zhang, X.; Guiliano, A. Not Performing a Sentinel Node Biopsy for Older Patients with Early-Stage Invasive Breast Cancer. *JAMA Surg.* 2015, 150, 683–684. [CrossRef]
- Ingvar, C.; Ahlgren, J.; Emdin, S.; Lofgren, L.; Nordander, M.; Nimeus, E.; Arnesson, L.-G. Long-term outcome of pT1a-b, cN0 breast cancer without axillary dissection or staging: A prospective observational study of 1543 women. *Br. J. Surg.* 2020, 107, 1299–1306. [CrossRef]
- O'Connell, R.L.; Rusby, J.E.; Stamp, G.F.W.; Conway, A.; Roche, N.; Barry, P.; Khabra, K.; Bonomi, R.; Rapisarda, I.F.; Della Rovere, G.Q. Long term results of treatment of breast cancer without axillary surgery–predicting a sound approach? *Eur. J. Surg. Oncol.* 2016, 42, 942–948. [CrossRef]
- Sentinel Node Vs Observation after Axillary Ultra-souND (SOUND). Available online: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT02167490 (accessed on 18 May 2021).
- Hughes, K.S.; Schnaper, L.A.; Bellon, J.R.; Cirrincione, C.T.; Berry, D.A.; McCormick, B.; Muss, H.B.; Smith, B.L.; Hudis, C.A.; Winer, E.P.; et al. Lumpectomy plus tamoxifen with or without irradiation in women age 70 years or older with early breast cancer: Long-term follow-up of CALGB 9343. J. Clin. Oncol. 2013, 31, 2382–2387. [CrossRef]
- Kunkler, I.H.; Williams, L.J.; Jack, W.J.; Cameron, D.A.; Dixon, J.M.; PRIME II Investigators. Breast-conserving surgery with or without irradiation in women aged 65 years or older with early breast cancer (PRIME II): A randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* Oncol. 2015, 16, 266–273. [CrossRef]
- 39. Wickberg, Å.; Liljegren, G.; Killander, F.; Lindman, H.; Bjöhle, J.; Carlberg, M.; Blomqvist, C.; Ahlgren, J.; Villman, K. Omitting radiotherapy in women ≥ 65 years with low-risk early breast cancer after breast-conserving surgery and adjuvant endocrine therapy is safe. *Eur. J. Surg. Oncol.* 2018, 44, 951–956. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 40. Kalinsky, K.; Barlow, W.E.; Meric-Bernstam, F.; Gralow, J.R.; Albain, K.S.; Hayes, D.; Lin, N.; Perez, E.A.; Goldstein, L.J.; Chia, S.; et al. First results from a phase III randomized clinical trial of standard adjuvant endocrine therapy (ET) +/- chemotherapy (CT) in patients (pts) with 1-3 positive nodes, hormone receptor-positive (HR+) and HER2-negative (HER2-) breast cancer (BC) with recurrence score (RS) < 25: SWOG S1007 (RxPonder). In Proceedings of the 2020 San Antonio Breast Cancer Virtual Symposium, San Antonio, TX, USA, 8–11 December 2020. Abstract nr GS3-00.</p>
- 41. Van Wely, B.J.; de Wilt, J.H.; Francissen, C.; Teerenstra, S.; Strobbe, L.J. Meta-analysis of ultrasound-guided biopsy of suspicious axillary lymph nodes in the selection of patients with extensive axillary tumour burden in breast cancer. *Br. J. Surg.* **2015**, *102*, 159–168. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Houssami, N.; Ciatto, S.; Turner, R.M.; Cody, H.S., 3rd; Macaskill, P. Preoperative ultrasound-guided needle biopsy of axillary nodes in invasive breast cancer: Meta-analysis of its accuracy and utility in staging the axilla. *Ann. Surg.* 2011, 254, 243–251. [CrossRef]
- Caudle, A.; Hunt, K.K.; Kuerer, H.M.; Meric-Berstein, F.; Lucci, A.; Bedrosian, I.; Babiera, G.V.; Hwang, R.F.; Ross, M.I.; Feig, B.W.; et al. Multidisciplinary considerations in the implementation of the findings from the American College of Surgeons Oncology Group (ACOSOG) Z0011 study: A practice-changing trial. Ann. Surg. Oncol. 2011, 18, 2407–2412. [CrossRef]
- 44. Available online: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01901094 (accessed on 18 May 2021).

- 45. Standard or Comprehensive Radiation Therapy in Treating Patients With Early-Stage Breast Cancer Previously Treated with Chemotherapy and Surgery. Available online: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01872975 (accessed on 18 May 2021).
- Boughey, J.C.; Ballman, K.V.; Le-Petross, H.T.; McCall, L.M.; Mittendorf, E.A.; Ahrendt, G.M.; Wilke, L.G.; Taback, B.; Feliberti, E.C.; Hunt, K.K. Identification and Resection of Clipped Node Decreases the False-negative Rate of Sentinel Lymph Node Surgery in Patients Presenting With Node-positive Breast Cancer (T0–T4, N1–N2) Who Receive Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy: Results From ACOSOG Z1071 (Alliance). Ann. Surg. 2016, 263, 802–807. [CrossRef]
- Haffty, B.G.; McCall, L.M.; Ballman, K.V.; Buchholz, T.A.; Hunt, K.K.; Boughey, J.C. Impact of Radiation on Locoregional Control in Women with Node-Positive Breast Cancer Treated with Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy and Axillary Lymph Node Dissection: Results from ACOSOG Z1071 Clinical Trial. Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys. 2019, 105, 174–182. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Haffty, B.G.; McCall, L.M.; Ballman, K.V.; McLaughlin, S.; Jagsi, R.; Ollila, D.W.; Hunt, K.K.; Buchholz, T.A.; Boughey, J.C. Patterns of Local-Regional Management Following Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy in Breast Cancer: Results from ACOSOG Z1071 (Alliance). *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* 2016, 94, 493–502. [CrossRef]
- Kuemmel, S.; Heil, J.; Rueland, A.; Seiberling, C.; Harrach, H.; Schindowski, D.; Lubitz, J.; Hellerhoff, K.; Ankel, C.; Graßhoff, S.T.; et al. A Prospective, Multicenter Registry Study to Evaluate the Clinical Feasibility of Targeted Axillary Dissection (TAD) in Node-Positive Breast Cancer Patients. Ann. Surg. 2020. [Epub ahead of print]. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kuehn, T.; Bauerfeind, I.; Fehm, T.; Fleige, B.; Hausschild, M.; Helms, G.; Lebeau, A.; Liedtke, C.; von Minckwitz, G.; Nekljudova, V.; et al. Sentinel-lymph-node biopsy in patients with breast cancer before and after neoadjuvant chemotherapy (SENTINA): A prospective, multicentre cohort study. *Lancet Oncol.* 2013, 14, 609–618. [CrossRef]
- Schwentner, L.; Helms, G.; Nekljudova, V.; Ataseven, B.; Bauerfeind, I.; Ditsch, N.; Fehm, T.; Fleige, B.; Hauschild, M.; Heil, J.; et al. Using ultrasound and palpation for predicting axillary lymph node status following neoadjuvant chemotherapy-Results from the multi-center SENTINA trial. *Breast* 2017, *31*, 202–207. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- van der Noordaa, M.E.M.; van Duijnhoven, F.H.; Cuijpers, F.N.E.; van Werkhoven, E.; Wiersma, T.G.; Elkhuizen, P.H.M.; Winter-Warnars, G.; Dezentje, V.; Sonke, G.S.; Groen, E.J.; et al. Toward omitting sentinel lymph node biopsy after neoadjuvant chemotherapy in patients with clinically node-negative breast cancer. *Br. J. Surg.* 2020, *108*, 667–674. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Reimer, T.; Glass, A.; Botteri, E.; Loibl, S.; DGentilini, O. Avoiding Axillary Sentinel Lymph Node Biopsy after Neoadjuvant Systemic Therapy in Breast Cancer: Rationale for the Prospective, Multicentric EUBREAST-01 Trial. *Cancers* 2020, *12*, 3698. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Lee, M.C.; Gonzalez, S.J.; Lin, H.; Zhao, X.; Kiluk, J.V.; Laronga, C.; Mooney, B. Prospective trial of breast MRI versus 2D and 3D ultrasound for evaluation of response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy. Ann. Surg. Oncol. 2015, 22, 2888–2894. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Marinovich, M.L.; Macaskill, P.; Irwig, L.; Sardanelli, F.; von Minckwitz, G.; Mamounas, E.; Brennan, M.; Ciatto, S.; Houssami, N. Meta-analysis of agreement between MRI and pathologic breast tumour size after neoadjuvant chemotherapy. *Br. J. Cancer* 2013, 109, 1528–1536. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Sheikhbahaei, S.; Trahan, T.J.; Xiao, J.; Taghipour, M.; Mena, E.; Connolly, R.M.; Subramaniam, R.M. FDG-PET/CT and MRI for Evaluation of Pathologic Response to Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy in Patients With Breast Cancer: A Meta-Analysis of Diagnostic Accuracy Studies. Oncologist 2016, 21, 931–939. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Chen, L.; Yang, Q.; Bao, J.; Liu, D.; Huang, X.; Wang, J. Direct comparison of PET/CT and MRI to predict the pathological response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in breast cancer: A meta-analysis. Sci. Rep. 2017, 7, 8479. [CrossRef]
- Ugras, S.; Matsen, C.; Eaton, A.; Stempel, M.; Morrow, M.; Cody, H.S., 3rd. Reoperative Sentinel Lymph Node Biopsy is Feasible for Locally Recurrent Breast Cancer, But is it Worthwhile? *Ann. Surg. Oncol.* 2016, 23, 744–748. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Vugts, G.; Maaskant-Braat, A.J.; Voogd, A.C.; van Riet, Y.E.; Luiten, E.J.; Rutgers, E.J.; Rutten, H.J.; Roumen, R.M.; Nieuwenhuijzen, G.A. Repeat sentinel node biopsy should be considered in patients with locally recurrent breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 2015, 153, 549–556. [CrossRef]
- Kuemmel, S.; Holtschmidt, J.; Gerber, B.; Von der Assen, A.; Heil, J.; Thill, M.; Krug, D.; Schem, C.; Denkert, C.; Lubitz, J.; et al. Prospective, Multicenter, Randomized Phase III Trial Evaluating the Impact of Lymphoscintigraphy as Part of Sentinel Node Biopsy in Early Breast Cancer: SenSzi (GBG80) Trial. J. Clin. Oncol. 2019, 37, 1490–1498. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Motomura, K.; Izumi, T.; Tateishi, S.; Sumino, H.; Noguchi, A.; Horinouchi, T.; Nakanishi, K. Correlation between the area of high-signal intensity on SPIO-enhanced MR imaging and the pathologic size of sentinel node metastases in breast cancer patients with positive sentinel nodes. *BMC Med. Imaging* 2013, 13, 32. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

# Paper II



## Blue Dye and Superparamagnetic Iron Oxide Nanoparticle (SPIO) Tracers

Article

cancers

Allan Jazrawi <sup>1,2,\*</sup>, Madeleine Wärnberg <sup>3</sup>, Abdi-Fatah Hersi <sup>4</sup>, Christine Obondo <sup>5</sup>, Lida Pistioli <sup>6</sup>, Staffan Eriksson <sup>1,2</sup>, Andreas Karakatsanis <sup>3,7</sup> and Fredrik Wärnberg <sup>3,6,7</sup>

A Comparison of Skin Staining after Sentinel Lymph Node Biopsy in Women Undergoing Breast Cancer Surgery Using

- <sup>1</sup> Centre for Clinical Research, County Västmanland, Uppsala University, 721 89 Västerås, Sweden
- <sup>2</sup> Department of Surgery, Västmanlands County Hospital, 721 89 Västerås, Sweden
- Department of Surgical Sciences, Uppsala University, 751 85 Uppsala, Sweden
- Department of Plastic Surgery, Institute of Clinical Sciences, Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg, 413 45 Gothenburg, Sweden
- Department of Surgery, Södersjukhuset, 118 83 Stockholm, Sweden
- Department of Surgery, Institute of Clinical Sciences, Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg, 413 45 Gothenburg, Sweden
- Department of Surgery, Section for Endocrine and Breast Surgery, Uppsala University Hospital, Akademiska Sjukhuset, 751 85 Uppsala, Sweden
- \* Correspondence: allan.jazrawi@regionvastmanland.se

Simple Summary: Both superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPIO) and blue dye (BD) have been reported to cause skin staining after breast-conserving surgery. SPIO is a novel tracer that has been shown to identify sentinel lymph nodes (SLNs) in patients with breast cancer. Our study was the first to compare the incidence and size of skin staining between the two tracers. We reported on these outcomes in a preplanned secondary analysis of a prospective clinical trial in which women received both SPIO and BD. This study investigated whether there was a difference in the incidence and size of skin staining between SPIO and BD after SLN-dissection. In all, 270 women were operated on with breast-conserving surgery and received SPIO, and 204 of these women also received BD. After 24 months of follow up, there was no statistically significant difference between the two tracers with regard to the size and incidence of skin staining.

**Abstract:** Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPIO) are a tracer for sentinel lymph node (SLN) detection. In a preplanned secondary analysis of a prospective clinical trial (SentiDose) we reported on skin staining after SPIO and blue dye (BD) injections. For SPIO, either a 1.5 mL retroareolar injection on the day of surgery or a 1.0 mL peritumoral/retroareolar injection 1–7 days before surgery was given. A 1.0 mL sub-/intradermal periareolar injection of BD was also administered to all these women. Staining was then assessed at 6, 12 and 24 months after surgery. A total of 270 women received SPIO and were operated on with breast-conserving surgery. Of these, 204 women also received BD. A total of 58 (21.5%) women had an SPIO stain 6 months postoperatively with a median size of 6.8 cm<sup>2</sup> (p = 0.56), while 51 (25.0%) had a BD stain with a median size of 8.5 cm<sup>2</sup> (p = 0.93). The incidence and size of SPIO and BD staining decreased over time reciprocally. At 24 months, the incidence and median size of SPIO was 23 (8.6%) and 4 cm<sup>2</sup>, respectively. For BD, the incidence was 14 (6.3%, p = 0.13), and the median size was 3.5 cm<sup>2</sup> (p = 0.18). There was, therefore, no statistically significant difference in the incidence or size of skin staining between SPIO and BD over time.

**Keywords:** sentinel lymph node biopsy; breast cancer; blue dye; superparamagnetic iron oxide; magnetic tracer; sentinel lymph node; skin staining

Citation: Jazrawi, A.; Wärnberg, M.; Hersi, A.-F.; Obondo, C.; Pistioli, L.; Eriksson, S.; Karakatsanis, A.; Wärnberg, F. A Comparison of Skin

Staining after Sentinel Lymph Node Biopsy in Women Undergoing Breast Cancer Surgery Using Blue Dye and Superparamagnetic Iron Oxide Nanoparticle (SPIO) Tracers. *Cancers* **2022**, *14*, 6017. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/cancers14236017

Academic Editors: Nikolaos V. Michalopoulos and Nikolaos Arkadopoulos

Received: 3 November 2022 Accepted: 5 December 2022 Published: 6 December 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/).





#### 1. Introduction

Sentinel lymph node dissection (SLND) constitutes the standard of care for axillary staging in patients with clinically node-negative early breast cancer, as it is accurate and associated with a decreased morbidity compared to the historical standard of axillary lymph node dissection (ALND) [1–5]. Novel tracers have been developed to overcome the limitations of radioactive isotope technetium99 ( $Tc^{99}$ ) - and Patent Blue V<sup>®</sup> (BD)-based detection, such as a short  $Tc^{99}$  half-life, strict regulations in handling and disposal, access to medical facilities and allergic reactions [6–9]. SPIO is a tracer with a comparable performance in previous studies and meta-analyses [6–9]. It is logistically convenient to use, as the timing of its administration is flexible [10–12].

Skin staining after an SPIO injection has previously been a concern as has been the case with BD [10,11,13,14]. However, the bulk of studies reporting on SPIO investigated this outcome after a retroareolar superficial injection of 2.0 mL of SPIO diluted in 3 mL of NaCl [10,11]. Since then, other studies have reported on smaller doses of SPIO (undiluted 2.0, 1.5 and 1.0 mL) in different time frames and different injection sites (peritumoral) [15]. In the SentiDose multicenter trial [15], patients received either 1.5 mL in the subareolar area less than 24 h before surgery or 1.0 mL 1–7 days before surgery. The injection site was left to the discretion of the operating surgeon. All patients however received  $Tc^{99} + /- BD$  as a background control. In this study, the SLN detection rates at lower doses were found to be comparable to  $Tc^{99} + /- BD$ . Following a 1.5 mL retroareolar injection, the detection rate was 97.5%, and it was 100% after a 1.0 mL peritumoral injection. This was comparable to  $Tc^{99} + /- BD$ . The longitudinal follow-up of skin staining after breast-conserving surgery with SPIO and BD were predefined secondary endpoints.

The primary outcome of this predefined analysis from the SentiDose study (SentiColor subprotocol) was to report on the incidence, duration and size of skin staining in the SentiDose patient population injected with both SPIO and BD. The secondary outcomes were to determine the predictive factors for SPIO staining and to investigate if different injection techniques could prevent skin staining.

#### 2. Materials and Methods

#### 2.1. Patient Selection

Between 2017 and 2019, all women in the SentiDose trial [15] undergoing breastconserving surgery (BCS) and SLNB at six Swedish Hospitals were recruited into this study. Both SPIO and Tc<sup>99</sup> were used in all women, while BD was used as an adjunct according to local routines or surgeon preferences. Inclusion criteria were primary breast cancer (cT0–2cN0cM0) and Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) performance status 0–2. Women with previous ipsilateral breast or axillary surgery and/or radiation and neoadjuvant chemotherapy were excluded. Pregnant women, patients with iron sickness, patients who underwent mastectomy either primarily or within six months of initial surgery were excluded in this follow-up part of the SentiDose trial. The study was approved by the Uppsala University regional ethics committee (Decision Number 2017/063).

#### 2.2. Methods

#### 2.2.1. Procedure

In the SentiDose trial, SLN detection rates were compared after injecting two different doses of SiennaXP<sup>®</sup>/Magtrace<sup>®</sup> (Sysmex Europe, Hamburg, Germany) at different time points using different injection techniques [15]. SPIO was injected either as a 1.5 mL retroareolar injection at least 20 min preoperatively on the day of surgery or as a 1.0 mL peritumoral/retroareolar injection one to seven days before surgery. The 1.5 mL dose was followed by a five-minute massage, whereas the massage was optional for the 1.0 mL dose. As a control measure, all the women also received Tc<sup>99</sup> +/- BD according to each site's routine. BD was given as a 1.0 mL sub-/intradermal or retroareolar injection.

The Sentimag probe was used during surgery to localize the SLN, and a gamma probe was subsequently used to identify any residual SLNs with radioactive signal. All magnetic,

radioactive, blue, or brown SLNs were excised. The conventional cutoff of 10% of the SLNs with the highest signal (SPIO or Tc<sup>99</sup>) was implemented to define additional SLNs.

### 2.2.2. Data Collection

Patient and tumor characteristics are presented in Table 1. The incidence of skin staining and the size of the staining in square centimeters (cm<sup>2</sup>) were followed up by telephone interviews 6, 12 and 24 months after surgery. If there was no staining, brown (SPIO) or blue (BD), on the first visit three to four weeks after surgery, no further follow-up was conducted. Follow-up was also ended when staining disappeared or at 24 months. Mean staining size calculations included only women with a stain at each time point. SLN detection rates have been reported elsewhere [15]. This manuscript was prepared according to the Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies (STROBE) Statement [16].

 Table 1. Patient and tumor characteristics in women undergoing breast-conserving surgery and sentinel lymph node biopsy.

Patient Characteristics	
Patient age at operation (median, range)	64 (38–87)
Body mass index (median, range)	26.3 (16.8-49.3)
Menopausal status, n (%)	
Premenopausal	54 (20)
Postmenopausal	215 (79.6)
Missing data	1 (0.4)
Preoperative tumor size, mm median (range)	16 (0–93)
Tumor localization, n (%)	
Upper outer	130 (48.1)
Upper inner	51 (18.9)
Lower outer	32 (11.9)
Lower inner	24 (8.9)
Central	33 (12.2)
Histological type, n (%)	
Invasive ductal	197 (73)
Invasive lobular	41 (15.2)
Other histology	32 (11.8)
Type of axillary surgery, n (%)	
Sentinel lymph node dissection	265 (98.1)
Axillary lymph node dissection	5 (1.9)

#### 2.2.3. Statistical Analysis

Staining was analyzed in women with BCS. Descriptive statistics were performed with means (95% confidence interval) or medians (range) of continuous variables, and, depending on data distribution, statistical analyses were based on medians. Continuous data were analyzed using nonparametric tests. Dichotomous data were analyzed with Pearson chi-square for nonpaired observations and McNemar's test for paired observations. Spearman's rho test was used to measure the correlation between predictive factors for skin staining. Data analyses were performed using SPSS<sup>®</sup> (V 26.0. Armonk, NY, USA, IBM Corp.).

#### 3. Results

In total, 271 women were operated on with BCS in the SentiDose trial, and one woman was later excluded due to a conversion to a mastectomy. Patient characteristics are presented in Table 1. SPIO was given to 270 patients. A total of 129 of these had a 1.5 mL retroareolar injection on the day of surgery, 71 patients had a 1.0 mL retroareolar injection 1–7 days before surgery, and 70 patients had a 1.0 mL peritumoral injection 1–7 days before

surgery. In addition, 204 of the 270 women also received BD (76%) (95% confidence interval 0.70–0.81).

At six months, 58/270 (21.5%) women had an SPIO skin stain with a mean size of 12.6 cm<sup>2</sup> (95% confidence interval 5.8–19.5) and a median of 6.8 cm<sup>2</sup> (range of 1–88). Between the 6- and 12-month controls, one woman had a mastectomy, and one died. Both of these women had an SPIO stain but no BD stain at 6 months. The corresponding data for SPIO staining at 12 and 24 months were 41/268 (15.3%) with a mean size of 5.9 cm<sup>2</sup> (95% confidence interval 1.3–10.4) and a median of 4 cm<sup>2</sup> (range of 1–28 cm<sup>2</sup>) and 23/268 (8.6%) with a mean size of 6.4 cm<sup>2</sup> (95% confidence interval 0.7-12.0) and a median of 4 cm<sup>2</sup> (range of 0–20 cm<sup>2</sup>) (Table 2). At six months, 51/204 (25%) women had a BD skin stain with a mean size of 10.8 cm<sup>2</sup> (95% confidence interval 4.4-17.1) and a median of 8.5 cm<sup>2</sup> (range of 3–25 cm<sup>2</sup>). Between the 6- and 12-month controls, one woman with a BD stain but without an SPIO stain was lost to follow-up. The corresponding data for BD staining at 12 and 24 months were 32/201 (15.9%) with a mean size of 4.2 cm<sup>2</sup> (95% confidence interval 1.4–7.1) and a median of 4 cm<sup>2</sup> (range of 0–9 cm<sup>2</sup>) and 13/201 (6.3%) with a mean size of 4.9 cm<sup>2</sup> (95% confidence interval 0.4–9.4) and a median of 3.5 cm<sup>2</sup> (0–15 cm<sup>2</sup>) (Table 2). When comparing the incidence and size of the skin staining with SPIO and BD after 6, 12 and 24 months, there was no statistically significant difference between the two tracers (Table 2). There was a significant reduction in the incidence of SPIO-induced skin staining between 6 vs. 12 months (21.5% vs. 15.3%; p-value of >0.0005) and 12 vs. 24 months (15.3% vs. 8.6%; p-value of >0.0005). The trend was similar for BD with the following corresponding numbers 25% vs. 15.9% and 15.9% vs. 6.3% with a respective p-value of >0.0005 for both comparisons.

**Table 2.** Incidence and median size of postoperative skin staining in women treated with breastconserving surgery and injected with superparamagnetic nanoparticles of iron oxide (SPIO) and Blue Dye (BD) for sentinel lymph node detection.

Staining	$\begin{array}{l} \text{SPIO} \\ n = 270 \end{array}$	BD <i>n</i> = 204	<i>p</i> -Value
Incidence, number (%)			
6 months	58 (21.5%)	51 (25%)	0.556 <sup>a</sup>
12 months	41(15.3%)	32 (15.9%)	0.430 a
24 months	23 (8.6%)	13 (6.3%)	0.132 <sup>a</sup>
Median Size, cm <sup>2</sup> (range)			
6 months	6.8 cm <sup>2</sup> (1–88)	8.5 cm <sup>2</sup> (3–25)	0.925 <sup>b</sup>
12 months	4 cm <sup>2</sup> (1–28)	$4 \text{ cm}^2 (0-9)$	0.345 <sup>b</sup>
24 months	4 cm <sup>2</sup> (0–20)	3.5 cm <sup>2</sup> (0–15)	0.176 <sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup> McNemar test; <sup>b</sup> Wilcoxon signed rank test.

With regard to SPIO dosing, there was a significant difference between the 1.5 mL and 1.0 mL SPIO cohorts with reference to the incidence of skin staining at 6 months; there was an incidence of 34/129 (26.4%) versus 24/141 (17%) (p = 0.011) (Table 3). The corresponding numbers at 12 and 24 months were 23/128 (18%) and 13/128 (10.2%) versus 18/140 (12.9%) and 10/140 (7.1%) (p = 0.05 and p = 0.034, respectively). The median size of the skin staining for the separate volumes and injection techniques for SPIO are shown in Table 3. Only a small portion of women had a 1.0 mL peritumoral injection, but, in this subcohort, we noted the lowest incidence and the smallest stains (see Table 3). However, due to the low numbers, we did not look at the statistical differences between the 1.5 mL injection cohort and the 1.0 mL retroareolar injection cohort.

		Injection Site	
SPIO stain	Retroareolar 1.5 mL, <i>n</i> = 129	Retroareolar $1.0 \text{ mL}, n = 71$	Peritumoral $1.0 \text{ mL}, n = 70$
6 months 12 months 24 months	34/129 (26.4%) 23/128 (18%) 13/128 (10.2%)	16/71 (22.5%) 12/70 (17.1%) 8/70 (11.4%)	8/70 (11.4%) 6/70 (8.6%) 2/70 (2.9%)
Median Size, cm <sup>2</sup> (range) 6 months 12 months 24 months	8.5 cm <sup>2</sup> (1–64) 4 cm <sup>2</sup> (1–28) 5 cm <sup>2</sup> (0–20)	6 cm <sup>2</sup> (1–88) 4 cm <sup>2</sup> (1–28) 4 cm <sup>2</sup> (0–20)	8.5 cm <sup>2</sup> (1–25) 6.8 cm <sup>2</sup> (3–9) 4.0 cm <sup>2</sup> (4)

Table 3. Incidence and median size of SPIO staining postoperatively by injection site and volume.

A low BMI showed a statistically significant positive correlation with skin staining at 6 months of 0.176 (Spearman's rho) (95% confidence interval 0.054–0.292) (p = 0.004), but the difference had disappeared at 24 months to 0.098 (Spearman's rho) (95% confidence interval 0.026–0.218) (p = 0.111). Figure 1 below shows a patient who had both SPIO and BD staining at 6 months.



Figure 1. Illustrates a woman 6 months postoperative who received both SPIO and BD. The blue color represents BD staining. The brown color represents SPIO staining.

#### 4. Discussion

This study is, to our knowledge, the largest prospective study in which the incidence of skin staining with both SPIO and BD were followed up in parallel. In this study, more than 200 women received both SPIO and BD. There were no significant differences in incidence or size of skin staining when comparing SPIO and BD as tracers for SLNB. After 6 months, the incidence was 21.5% with a median size of 6.8 cm<sup>2</sup> for SPIO and 25% with a median size of 6.8 cm<sup>2</sup> for SPIO and 25% with a median size of 8.5 cm<sup>2</sup> for BD. Both SPIO and BD stains diminished in a similar fashion over time. The incidence and median size of SPIO staining at 24 months was 8.6% (4.0 cm<sup>2</sup>) and 6.3% (3.5 cm<sup>2</sup>) for BD.

A lower volume of SPIO resulted in lower rates and smaller sizes of skin staining that disappeared faster. A peritumoral injection resulted in a lower incidence of skin staining compared to a retroareolar injection. The lowest incidence and smallest skin stains were noted when a 1.0 mL peritumoral injection was used. However, no statistical analysis was carried out in this subgroup due to the low number of women in the group. Further, a low preoperative BMI was a predictive factor for an increased risk of skin staining. A possible explanation is that the dispersion of SPIO in a larger breast seems to result in less uptake by the skin lymphatics and the removal of the bulk of SPIO when performing the BCS.

In earlier studies, 35 to 41% of women were reported to have BD staining at 12 months along with 8.6% after 36 months. However, none of the women reported a cosmetic or psychological problem relating to the BD staining [13,14]. Long-lasting skin staining has previously been reported after injection of SPIO. In the SUNRISE study by Rubio et al., [17] a retroareolar injection of 1.0–1.5–2.0 mL of SiennaXP was used, and 70.3% of the women undergoing a breast-conserving surgery reported discoloration one month after surgery. The staining diminished over time, and the majority of women did not regard the SPIO discoloration as a problem. It has also been shown that by modifying the injection technique, discoloration can be reduced. In an earlier cohort we showed that a deeper peritumoral injection reduced SPIO staining compared to a retroareolar injection: 37.8% and 67.3%, respectively [11].

The preoperative injection of SPIO compared to perioperative administration was associated with the identification of more SNs, and no extra intraoperative time or a massage at the injection site was required for the tracer to migrate to the axilla. This resulted in a shorter operating time with no consequent problems relating to tracer spillage or the diminished visualization of the SN as experienced with other methods such as t ICG [10].

A further concern with SPIO usage is the likelihood of MRI artifacts due to SPIO's paramagnetic properties [18,19]. A peritumoral injection results in the excision of most of the SPIO used during surgery as discussed by Ghilli et al. [20]. The latter may result in a reduction of MRI artifacts although this remains to be proven. Our research group is currently addressing this issue in the prospective POSTMAG MRI trial [21].

A potential limitation in our study was the possible risk of reporting bias. The follow-up was conducted by telephone interviews. The initial status of staining at the first follow-up at two to four weeks after surgery was documented in the clinical register form (eCRF). If the medical record clearly stated that no stain was visible, then no further follow-up was initiated. Furthermore, the study protocol did not mandate the use of BD. While this restricted the numbers in the study, it was more in line with real world data that show that surgeons familiar with the isotope are often hesitant about adding BD to avoid its known adverse effects. It might have been that the use of BD in all the patients could have affected the reported outcomes, but this was a conscious decision of the investigators to align with optimal patient outcomes.

#### 5. Conclusions

To summarize, no differences in either incidence or size of skin staining were noted when comparing SPIO and BD after 6, 12 and 24 months of follow up. For both tracers, the staining diminished or disappeared in a similar manner over time. A lower dose of SPIO resulted in a lower incidence, a smaller size and faster diminishing of staining. With the benefits of no need for nuclear medical facilities, detection rates similar to the dual technique and the possibility to inject well before surgery, SPIO appears to be an appealing tracer choice for sentinel lymph node surgery.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, F.W.; methodology, F.W.; software, A.K.; validation, A.K.; formal analysis, A.K. and A.J.; investigation, A.J., F.W., M.W. and A.K.; resources, A.J., S.E. and M.W.; data curation, F.W. and M.W.; writing—original draft preparation, A.J.; writing—review and editing, A.J., M.W., C.O., A.-F.H., L.P., A.K., S.E. and F.W.; visualization, A.J.; supervision, F.W., S.E. and A.K.;

project administration, F.W. and A.K.; funding acquisition, S.E. and F.W. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

**Funding:** Sysmex Europe GmbH and Endomagnetics, Cambridge, UK, provided the SentiMag<sup>®</sup> device and Magtrace<sup>®</sup> vials for the trial. Institutional grants by the Centre of Clinical Research, Region Västmanland, Uppsala University and the Västmanland Cancer Foundation are acknowledged. The study was partially funded by the Swedish Association for Breast Cancer (Bröstcancerförbundet). Sponsors had no role in the study design, data collection, analyses, or interpretation.

**Institutional Review Board Statement:** The study was conducted according to the guidelines of the Helsinki Declaration of ethical principles involving human subjects and was approved by the Uppsala University regional ethical committee (decision number 2017/063).

Informed Consent Statement: Informed consent was obtained from all subjects involved in the study.

Data Availability Statement: The data presented in this study are available on request from the corresponding author. The data are not publicly available due to ethical considerations and data regulations.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

#### References

- Veronesi, U.; Paganelli, G.; Viale, G.; Luini, A.; Zurrida, S.; Galimberti, V.; Intra, M.; Veronesi, P.; Robertson, C.; Maisonneuve, P.; et al. A randomized comparison of sentinel-node biopsy with routine axillary dissection in breast cancer. N. Engl. J. Med. 2003, 349, 546–553. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Del Bianco, P.; Zavagno, G.; Burelli, P.; Scalco, G.; Barutta, L.; Carraro, P.; Pietrarota, P.; Meneghini, G.; Morbin, T.; Tacchetti, G.; et al. Morbidity comparison of sentinel lymph node biopsy versus conventional axillary lymph node dissection for breast cancer patients: Results of the sentinella-GIVOM Italian randomised clinical trial. *Eur. J. Surg. Oncol.* 2008, 34, 508–513. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ashikaga, T.; Krag, D.N.; Land, S.R.; Julian, T.B.; Anderson, S.J.; Brown, A.M.; Skelly, J.M.; Harlow, S.P.; Weaver, D.L.; Mamounas, E.P.; et al. Morbidity results from the NSABP B-32 trial comparing sentinel lymph node dissection versus axillary dissection. J. Surg. Oncol. 2010, 102, 111–118. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Lucci, A.; McCall, L.M.; Beitsch, P.D.; Whitworth, P.W.; Reintgen, D.S.; Blumencranz, P.W.; Leitch, A.M.; Saha, S.; Hunt, K.K.; Giuliano, A.E. Surgical complications associated with sentinel lymph node dissection (SLND) plus axillary lymph node dissection compared with SLND alone in the American College of Surgeons Oncology Group Trial Z0011. J. Clin. Oncol. 2007, 25, 3657–3663. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Mansel, R.E.; Fallowfield, L.; Kissin, M.; Goyal, A.; Newcombe, R.G.; Dixon, J.M.; Yiangou, C.; Horgan, K.; Bundred, N.; Monypenny, I.; et al. Randomized multicenter trial of sentinel node biopsy versus standard axillary treatment in operable breast cancer: The ALMANAC Trial. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 2006, 98, 599–609. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Karakatsanis, A.; Christiansen, P.M.; Fischer, L.; Hedin, C.; Pistioli, L.; Sund, M.; Rasmussen, N.R.; Jørnsgård, H.; Tegnelius, D.; Eriksson, S.; et al. The Nordic SentiMag trial: A comparison of super paramagnetic iron oxide (SPIO) nanoparticles versus Tc(99) and patent blue in the detection of sentinel node (SN) in patients with breast cancer and a meta-analysis of earlier studies. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 2016, 157, 281–294. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Bézu, C.; Coutant, C.; Salengro, A.; Daraï, E.; Rouzier, R.; Uzan, S. Anaphylactic response to blue dye during sentinel lymph node biopsy. Surg. Oncol. 2011, 20, e55–e59. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Albo, D.; Wayne, J.D.; Hunt, K.K.; Rahlfs, T.F.; Singletary, S.E.; Ames, F.C.; Feig, B.W.; Ross, M.I.; Kuerer, H.M. Anaphylactic reactions to isosulfan blue dye during sentinel lymph node biopsy for breast cancer. Am. J. Surg. 2001, 182, 393–398. [CrossRef]
- Ahmed, M.; Purushotham, A.D.; Douek, M. Novel techniques for sentinel lymph node biopsy in breast cancer: A systematic review. *Lancet Oncol.* 2014, 15, e351–e362. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Karakatsanis, A.; Daskalakis, K.; Stålberg, P.; Olofsson, H.; Andersson, Y.; Eriksson, S.; Bergkvist, L.; Wärnberg, F. Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles as the sole method for sentinel node biopsy detection in patients with breast cancer. Br. J. Surg. 2017, 104, 1675–1685. [CrossRef]
- Wärnberg, F.; Stigberg, E.; Obondo, C.; Olofsson, H.; Abdsaleh, S.; Wärnberg, M.; Karakatsanis, A. Long-Term Outcome After Retro-Areolar Versus Peri-Tumoral Injection of Superparamagnetic Iron Oxide Nanoparticles (SPIO) for Sentinel Lymph Node Detection in Breast Cancer Surgery. Ann. Surg. Oncol. 2019, 26, 1247–1253. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Teshome, M.; Wei, C.; Hunt, K.K.; Thompson, A.; Rodriguez, K.; Mittendorf, E.A. Use of a Magnetic Tracer for Sentinel Lymph Node Detection in Early-Stage Breast Cancer Patients: A Meta-analysis. *Ann. Surg. Oncol.* 2016, 23, 1508–1514. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Gumus, M.; Gumus, H.; Jones, S.E.; Jones, P.A.; Sever, A.R.; Weeks, J. How long will I be blue? Prolonged skin staining following sentinel lymph node biopsy using intradermal patent blue dye. *Breast Care* 2013, *8*, 199–202. [CrossRef]
- 14. Govaert, G.A.; Oostenbroek, R.J.; Plaisier, P.W. Prolonged skin staining after intradermal use of patent blue in sentinel lymph node biopsy for breast cancer. *Eur. J. Surg. Oncol.* 2005, *31*, 373. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- Hersi, A.F.; Pistiolis, L.; Dussan Luberth, C.; Vikhe-Patil, E.; Nilsson, F.; Mohammed, I.; Olofsson Bagge, R.; Wärnberg, F.; Eriksson, S.; Karakatsanis, A. Optimizing Dose and Timing in Magnetic Tracer Techniques for Sentinel Lymph Node Detection in Early Breast Cancers: The Prospective Multicenter SentiDose Trial. *Cancers* 2021, *13*, 693. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Von Elm, E.; Altman, D.G.; Egger, M.; Pocock, S.J.; Gøtzsche, P.C.; Vandenbroucke, J.P.; Strobe Initiative. The Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement: Guidelines for reporting observational studies. *Lancet* 2007, 370, 1453–1457. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Rubio, I.T.; Diaz-Botero, S.; Esgueva, A.; Rodriguez, R.; Cortadellas, T.; Cordoba, O.; Espinosa-Bravo, M. The superparamagnetic ironoxide is equivalent to the Tc99 radiotracer method for identifying the sentinel lymph node in breast cancer. *Eur. J. Surg. Oncol.* 2015, 41, 46–51. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Krischer, B.; Forte, S.; Niemann, T.; Kubik-Huch, R.A.; Leo, C. Feasibility of breast MRI after sentinel procedure for breast cancer with superparamagnetic tracers. *Eur. J. Surg. Oncol.* 2018, 44, 74–79. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Arslan, G.; Yilmaz, C.; Çelik, L.; Çubuk, R.; Tasalı, N. Unexpected finding on mammography and MRI due to accumulation of iron oxide particles used for sentinel lymph node detection. *Eur. J. Breast Health* 2019, 15, 200–202. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ghilli, M.; Carretta, E.; Di Filippo, F.; Battaglia, C.; Fustaino, L.; Galanou, I.; Di Filippo, S.; Rucci, P.; Fantini, M.P.; Roncella, M. The superparamagnetic iron oxide tracer: A valid alternative in sentinel node biopsy for breast cancer treatment. *Eur. J. Cancer Care* 2017, 26, e12385. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Karakatsanis, A. Postoperative Breast MRI in Patients Undergoing Sentinel Node Biopsy Using Super Paramagnetic Iron Oxide Nanoparticles, 16 January 2018. Available online: http://www.isrctn.com/ISRCTN85167182 (accessed on 2 October 2020).

# Paper III

Research

JAMA Surgery | Original Investigation

## Magnetic Seed vs Guidewire Breast Cancer Localization With Magnetic Lymph Node Detection A Randomized Clinical Trial

Eirini Pantiora, MD; Allan Jazrawi, MD; Abdi-Fatah Hersi, PhD; Shahin Abdsaleh, PhD; Hanna Ahlstedt, MD; Eva Molnar, PhD; Fredrik Wärnberg, PhD; Staffan Eriksson, PhD; Andreas Karakatsanis, PhD

**IMPORTANCE** Guidewires have been the standard for breast lesion localization but pose operative and logistic challenges. Paramagnetic seeds have shown promising results, but to the authors' knowledge, no randomized comparison has been performed.

**OBJECTIVE** To determine whether the combination of a paramagnetic seed and superparamagnetic iron oxide (SPIO) is equivalent to guidewire and SPIO for breast cancer localization and sentinel lymph node detection (SLND).

DESIGN, SETTING, AND PARTICIPANTS This was a phase 3, pragmatic, equivalence, 2-arm, open-label, randomized clinical trial conducted at 3 university and/or community hospitals in Sweden from May 2018 to May 2022. Included in the study were patients with early breast cancer planned for breast conservation and SLND. Study data were analyzed July to November 2022.

**INTERVENTIONS** Participants were randomly assigned 1:1 to a paramagnetic seed or a guidewire. All patients underwent SLND with SPIO.

MAIN OUTCOMES AND MEASURES Re-excision rate and resection ratio (defined as actual resection volume / optimal resection volume).

**RESULTS** A total of 426 women (median [IQR] age, 65 [56-71] years; median [IQR] tumor size, 11 [8-15] mm) were included in the study. The re-excision rate was 2.90% (95% Cl, 1.60%-4.80%), and the median (IQR) resection ratio was 1.96 (1.15-3.44). No differences were found between the guidewire and the seed in re-excisions (6 of 211 [2.84%] vs 6 of 209 [2.87%]; difference, -0.03%; 95% Cl, -3.20% to 3.20%; P = .99) or resection ratio (median, 1.33; IQR, 1.18-3.43 vs median, 2.01; IQR, 1.11-3.47; P = .70). Overall SLN detection was 98.6% (95% Cl, 97.1%-99.4%) with no differences between arms (203 of 207 [98.1%] vs 204 of 206 [99.0%]; difference, -0.9%; 95% Cl, -3.6% to 1.8%; P = .72). More failed localizations occurred with the guidewire (21 of 208 [10.1%] vs 4 of 215 [1.9%]; difference, 8.2%; 95% Cl, 3.3%-13.2%; P < .001). Median (IQR) time to specimen excision was shorter for the seed (15 [10-22] minutes vs 18 [12-30] minutes; P = .03). The experience of surgeons, radiologists, and surgical coordinators was better with the seed.

**CONCLUSIONS AND RELEVANCE** The combination of SPIO and a paramagnetic seed performed comparably with SPIO and guidewire for breast cancer conserving surgery and resulted in more successful localizations, shorter operative times, and better experience.

TRIAL REGISTRATION ISRCTN.org Identifier: ISRCTN11914537

JAMA Surg. doi:10.1001/jamasurg.2023.6520 Published online December 27, 2023. + Visual Abstract

+ Invited Commentary

Supplemental content

Author Affiliations: Author affiliations are listed at the end of this article.

Corresponding Author: Andreas Karakatsanis, PhD, Department for Surgical Sciences, Uppsala University Akademiska Sjukhusvägen, Ingång 70, Uppsala 751 85, Sweden (andreas. karakatsanis@surgsci.uu.se). **B** reast cancer screening, along with the improvement of imaging, have led to an increase in breast cancer diagnosis at a presymptomatic stage.<sup>1</sup> In the majority of these cases, breast-conserving surgery is feasible, but preoperative tumor localization is required.

The guidewire has been the most extensively used method of breast tumor localization due to its low cost and ease of use.<sup>2,3</sup> However, complications such as dislocation, migration, and patient discomfort have been described.<sup>4-7</sup> Apart from these complications, guidewire localization is restricted to the day of surgery, posing logistical challenges. These issues have led to the development of novel, wire-free localization devices<sup>8</sup> such as radioiodine seeds,<sup>9-11</sup> radar reflectors,<sup>12,13</sup> radiofrequency tags,<sup>14,15</sup> and paramagnetic/magnetic seeds.<sup>16,17</sup>

Most of these patients are clinically node negative and undergo sentinel lymph node dissection (SLND), which has traditionally been performed with a radioisotope (RI) with or without blue dye (BD). Although highly reliable, this combination poses challenges due to restricted access to nuclear medicine facilities, strict regulations, and risk of allergic reaction to BD, whereas the short half-life of the RI limits administration on the day of surgery or the day before, complicating logistics. Superparamagnetic iron oxide (SPIO) nanoparticles have shown comparable performance with an RI with or without BD with the additional advantage of a wider time frame of preoperative administration.<sup>18-20</sup> Perceived drawbacks of the method are skin staining and artifacts on postoperative magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)<sup>21,22</sup>; a recent meta-analysis,<sup>20</sup> however, suggests that peritumoral SPIO administration could address these concerns, without any compromise of SLN detection outcomes.

Previous large cohort studies have shown that paramagnetic seeds are advantageous in terms of operating time and ease of logistics compared with the guidewire and with comparable re-excision rates and specimen sizes; this, however, has not been validated in randomized clinical trials (RCTs).<sup>16,23</sup> At the same time, combining seeds with SPIO for a totally magnetic technique encompassing tumor localization and SLN detection has been investigated in small studies.<sup>24,25</sup> The technique was found feasible with the possible advantages of simplified logistics, as the localization procedure and tracer injection are detached from the day of surgery and, possibly, increased patient and physician satisfaction. Furthermore, both seed and SPIO are detectable by the same probe, avoiding multiple equipment in the operating room. Therefore, an RCT would elucidate these questions.

#### Methods

In the interest of higher external validity, the Magnetic Marker to Detect Primary Lesion and Sentinel Node in Breast Cancer (MAGTOTAL) trial was designed as a phase 3, open-label, pragmatic trial including centers with different levels of experience with the magnetic technique (Supplement I). The trial was approved by the Uppsala Regional ethics committee and registered to a publicly available database. Enrollment took place between May 1, 2018, and May 1, 2022, at 3 hospitals in Sweden (Akademiska University Hospital, Uppsala; Västmanlands

#### **Key Points**

Question Is the combination of paramagnetic seed and superparamagnetic iron oxide (SPIO) equivalent to guidewire and SPIO for breast cancer localization and sentinel lymph node detection (SLND)?

Findings This randomized clinical trial including 426 patients from 3 hospitals in Sweden found that a totally magnetic technique was equivalent to the combination of guidewire and SPIO in re-excision frequency, specimen volumes, and SLND. In addition, seed and SPIO resulted in shorter operative times and increased satisfaction among health care practitioners.

Meaning A totally magnetic technique is an effective option for breast cancer localization and SLND.

Hospital, Västerås; and Sahlgrenska University Hospital, Gothenburg). Adult patients with nonpalpable ductal cancer in situ (DCIS) or T1 to T3 invasive breast cancer who were scheduled to receive breast-conserving surgery and SLND were eligible for inclusion in the trial. Patients with small, diffusely palpable lesions requiring preoperative localization or multifocal/ multicentric lesions amenable to breast conservation were also included. Exclusion criteria included intolerance or hypersensitivity to iron or dextran compounds, iron overload disease, pregnancy and lactation, inability to provide informed consent, and pacemakers or implantable devices in the ipsilateral chest-wall or shoulder. Participant race and ethnicity were not collected because there is not any known interaction between these and the outcomes examined in the trial. This study followed the Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials (CONSORT) reporting guidelines for pragmatic trials.<sup>26</sup>

After oral and written informed consent, participants were randomly assigned with an allocation ratio of 1:1 in blocks of 8. The randomization was performed using the randomizeR package of R statistical software, version 3.5.1 (R Project for Statistical Computing).<sup>27</sup> The sequence was concealed in opaque envelopes until the intervention was assigned. During the COVID-19 pandemic, the protocol was amended to allow for tolerance and ensure that scheduled surgery would not be affected by randomization.

In the experimental arm, lesion localization was performed with the Magseed marker (Endomag), a 5-mm paramagnetic seed used for the localization of breast cancer lesions, and in the control arm, with a guidewire (Bard Peripheral Vascular Inc). Regardless of randomization, because SPIO dose and injection timing do not affect SLN detection, patients received 1 to 1.5 mL of Magtrace (Endomag), a nonradioactive liquid tracer containing iron oxide nanoparticles, dorsally to the tumor, at any point between the preoperative visit for surgical planning to the day of surgery, either simultaneously with lesion localization or not.20 Following trial pragmatism, the placement of the marker and the administration of SPIO were to be performed according to local routines or case-by-case convenience, meaning that surgeons or radiologists could insert the paramagnetic marker with or without simultaneous injection of the liquid tracer preoperatively, whereas guidewires were exclusively inserted by a breast radiologist on the day of Magnetic Seed vs Guidewire Breast Cancer Localization With Magnetic Lymph Node Detection

Original Investigation Research

the surgery or the day before. Both methods of localization were performed under local anesthesia, and accurate localization was verified radiologically. There were no prerequisites such as medical professional level (resident, fellow, consultant), minimum experience, or a completed learning curve for participating radiologists and surgeons. Specimen radiography was performed as per routine, and SLND was performed with the SentiMag probe (Endomag), a probe that can detect both the paramagnetic marker and the liquid tracer, adhering to the 10% of the maximum signal cutoff rule, to complete the procedure. Due to the nature of the intervention, masking was not possible.

The primary outcome measure was resection ratio for each marker in patients with negative margins. The resection ratio was defined as the actual resection volume (ARV) divided by the optimal resection volume (ORV), the latter being the assessed volume needed to excise the lesion with 1-cm margins. The ARV was derived from the fresh specimen weight with concomitant volume calculation, and the ORV was calculated based on preoperative radiology; in cases of discordance between different modalities, the largest measurement was used. Negative margins were defined as "no tumor on ink" for invasive cancer and 2 mm for DCIS. Secondary outcomes included SLN detection rate, adverse events, time to specimen excision, operative time, and ease of implementation by all involved health care practitioners (surgeons, radiologists, surgical coordinators), assessed by Likert scales (scored 0-10, with a higher score denoting higher satisfaction). A prespecified longitudinal analysis of patientreported outcomes and quality of life evaluation as well as patient-reported experience measures and cost-effectiveness analyses will be reported elsewhere.

#### Statistical Analysis

According to the Swedish Breast Cancer Registry, the 3 participating sites had comparable re-excision frequencies, with a documented average between 4% and 7%. Therefore, a clinically meaningful improvement based solely on a new device was not expected. However, placing the paramagnetic marker and injecting SPIO in the same location could cause an overlapping signal, possibly leading to excision of larger specimens, a concern that would not apply with the guidewire. Available literature suggests that the resection ratio for guidewire-based excision ranges between 1.9 and 2.8.23,28 The MAGTOTAL pilot study suggested that the totally magnetic technique for nonpalpable tumor localization and magnetic SLND used in the trial had a resection ratio of 1.5,25 whereas a nonrandomized comparison of guidewires and paramagnetic seeds with isotope-based SLND found comparable ratios (1.92 vs 1.67) with comparable re-excision rates (14 vs 16%).<sup>23</sup> In the absence of established reference values, we assumed a 2-sided equivalence of 0.3 difference in resection ratio as clinically meaningful (corresponding to a 30% difference in excised volume), with a 2-sided P value set at .05 and power of 80%, corresponding to 191 patients per arm. This population also satisfied the hypothesis of noninferiority in re-excision rates for a standard of 4% by a 5% margin, and an additional 10% was included per arm.

	Allocation arm			
Characteristic	Guidewire	Magnetic marke		
Recruiting site, No. (%)				
Uppsala	121 (57.1)	115 (54.5)		
Västerås	53 (25.0)	54 (25.6)		
Gothenburg	38 (17.9)	42 (19.9)		
Age, median (IQR), y	67 (56-72)	64 (56-70)		
Body mass index, median (IQR) <sup>a</sup>	26.1 (23.8-29.8)	26.7 (24.1-29.8)		
Screening detected lesion, No. (%)				
No	16 (7.6)	18 (8.5)		
Yes	195 (92.4)	193 (91.5)		
Palpable lesion, No. (%)				
No	199 (94.3)	196 (92.9)		
Diffusely palpable	12 (5.7)	15 (7.1)		
Preoperative MRI, No. (%)				
No	133 (75.1)	115 (66.5)		
Yes	44 (24.9)	58 (33.5)		
Lateralization, No. (%)				
Right breast	104 (49.5)	101 (47.9)		
Left breast	106 (50.5)	110 (52.1)		
Location, No. (%)				
Upper outer quadrant	119 (56.1)	115 (54.8)		
Upper inner quadrant	33 (15.6)	40 (19.0)		
Lower inner quadrant	22 (10.4)	20 (9.5)		
Lower outer quadrant	29 (13.7)	20 (9.5)		
Central/retroareolar	7 (3.3)	15 (7.1)		
Multifocal/multicentric	2 (0.9)	1(0)		
Lesion size, median (IQR), mm	10 (8-15)	11 (8-15)		
Histology, No. (%)				
IDC (NST)	170 (80.2)	174 (84.1)		
ПС	27 (12.7)	16 (7.7)		
DCIS	3 (1.4)	3(1.4)		
Other <sup>b</sup>	12 (5.7)	14 (6.8)		
Nuclear grade, No. (%)	(,	,		
Grade 1	52 (25.2)	63 (31.5)		
Grade 2	123 (59.7)	105 (52.5)		
Grade 3	31 (15.0)	32 (16.0)		
Intrinsic subtype, No. (%)	(15.0)	(,		
Luminal A	138 (69.0)	117 (59 7)		
Luminal B. FRBB2 negative	41 (20.5)	62 (31.6)		
Luminal B. FRBB2 enriched	4 (2.0)	6(3.1)		
Basal-like, ERBB2 enriched	5 (2.5)	3 (1.5)		
Triple-negative breast cancer	12 (6.0)	8(41)		
Primary systemic therapy	12 (0.0)	0 (4.1)		
Voc	7 (3 3)	7 (3 3)		
No	205 (96 7)	204 (96 7)		
Tupo of curgory	203 (50.7)	204 (50.7)		
Type of surgery	100 (04.0)	160 (91 2)		
Cimple W/I E				
Simple WLE	180 (84.9)	26 (12 5)		

Abbreviations: DCIS, ductal cancer in situ; IDC (NST), invasive ductal cancer (nonspecific type); ILC, invasive lobular cancer; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; OPBCS, oncoplastic breast-conserving surgery; WLE, wide local excision.

<sup>a</sup> Calculated as weight in kilograms divided by height in meters squared.

<sup>b</sup> Other refers to mucinous breast cancer, medullary breast cancer, tubular breast cancer.

jamasurgery.com

JAMA Surgery Published online December 27, 2023 E3



Continuous variables were summarized as means with SD or medians with IQR, depending on data distribution. Comparisons were performed using a t test for means and the Mann-Whitney U test or the Kruskal-Wallis test for medians. Likert items were analyzed as ordinal data (median, IQR) and compared with nonparametric tests, as appropriate. Categorical variables were summarized as numbers and proportions with 95% CIs and comparisons were performed with Fisher exact test for unpaired data (Wald test for differences) and McNemar test for paired data. Multivariable regression analysis was performed if significant univariate associations of clinically relevant variables were demonstrated. Intention-to-treat and perprotocol analyses were performed for the primary end points, and per-protocol analyses were performed for the secondary end points. Effect sizes (odds ratios [ORs] for logistic regression and  $\beta$  coefficients for linear regression) were reported with 95% CIs. Analyses were performed with Stata 17 (StataCorp) and SPSS, version 28 (IBM Corp).

### Results

Of the 445 assessed patients, 430 were deemed eligible. After consent withdrawal from 4 patients, 426 women (median [IQR] age, 65 [56-71] years; median [IQR] tumor size, 11 [8-15] mm) were randomly assigned to 2 well-balanced arms of 213 participants (**Table 1**). In the per-protocol analysis, the totally magnetic arm included 215 participants whereas the guidewire arm included 208 (**Figure**); however, the discordance was not significant (McNemar test: difference, -0.9%; 95% CI, -2.6% to 0.8%; P = .34).

#### Re-excision Rates, Resection Ratios, and SLND Outcomes

The overall re-excision rate was 2.90% (95% CI, 1.60%-4.80%). No differences were found between the guidewire and the paramagnetic seed (intention-to-treat analysis, 6 of 211 [2.84%] vs 6 of 209 [2.87%]; difference, -0.03%; 95% CI, -3.20% to 3.20%; P = .99 and per-protocol analysis, 6 of 206 [2.91%] vs 6 of 214 [2.84%]; difference, 0.07%; 95% CI, -3.10% to 3.30%; P = .95). Only the recruiting site was associated with re-excision rate in the univariable analysis (Uppsala: 0.9%; 95% CI, 0.2-2.7; Västerås, 3.8%; 95% CI, 1.3-8.7; Gothenburg, 7.6%; 95% CI, 3.2-15.0; P = .004), with logistic regression suggesting similar outcomes (1 [Reference] for free margins Uppsala; Västerås: OR, 0.219; 95% CI, 0.039-1.215; P = .08; Gothenburg: OR, 0.104; 95% CI, 0.020-0.529; P = .006).

The median (IQR) overall resection ratio was 1.96 (1.15-3.44). The outcomes were equivalent between the guidewire and the paramagnetic seed (intention-to-treat analysis: median, 1.93; IQR, 1.18-3.43 vs median, 2.01; IQR, 1.11-3.47; P = .70; per-protocol analysis: median, 1.96; IQR, 1.22-3.48 vs median, 1.97; IQR, 1.11-3.46; P = .82). In univariable analyses, resection ratio was associated with body mass index, recruiting site, diffusely palpable lesion, preoperative MRI, and type of breast conservation. In multivariable analyses, only body mass index, type of breast conservation, and recruiting site were found to affect the resection ratio (Table 2). Sites interacted with re-excision rates and were a surrogate of experience with the magnetic technique and (possibly) different operating styles; further analyses conducted showed that in the center with the longest experience with the probe, resection ratios and re-excision rates were the lowest. In this setting, the resection ratio for the paramagnetic seed was 0.3 lower than the guidewire (1.26 vs 1.57), but this did not reach statistical significance (eTable 1 in Supplement 2).

Overall SLN detection was (98.6%; 95% CI, 97.1%-99.4%). SLN detection rates were similar between the experimental and the control arms (203 of 207 [98.1%] vs 204 of 206 [99.0%]; difference, -0.9%; 95% CI, -3.6% to 1.8%; P = .72). A median (IQR) of 2 (1-3) SLNs were retrieved in both arms (P = .68). The prevalence of metastasis was also comparable (32 of 212 [15.1%] vs 21 of 204 [10.3%]; difference, -4.8%; 95% CI, -11.7% to 2.1%; P = .19) and did not affect detection rates or nodal yield.

#### Procedural Outcomes and Patterns of Implementation

Median (IQR) time to specimen excision was significantly shorter for the paramagnetic marker (15 [10-22] minutes vs Magnetic Seed vs Guidewire Breast Cancer Localization With Magnetic Lymph Node Detection

Original Investigation Research

	Univariate analysis		Multivariable analysis		
Site/variable	Resection ratio (IQR)	P value	β coefficient (95% CI)	P value	
Per intention-to-treat analysis					
Magnetic marker	2.01 (1.11-3.47)	.70 <sup>a</sup>		NA	
Guidewire	1.93 (1.18-3.43)	_	NA		
Per-protocol analysis					
Magnetic marker	1.97 (1.11-3.46)	.82 <sup>a</sup>	NA		
Guidewire	1.96 (1.22-3.48)	_		NA	
Recruiting site			1.269 (0.763-1.775)	<.001	
Uppsala	1.45 (0.78-2.13)	<.001 <sup>b</sup>	1 [Reference]	NA	
Västerås	3.33 (2.13-5.39)	_	2.478 (1.650-3.036)	<.001	
Gothenburg	2.87 (2.00-4.38)	_	1.729 (0.805-2.653)	<.001	
Body mass index <sup>c</sup>	0.307 (0.213-0.395) <sup>d</sup>	<.001 <sup>d</sup>	0.181 (0.101-0.260)	<.001	
Palpable lesion					
No	2.00 (1.18-3.52)	.03 <sup>a</sup>	-0.957 (-2.491-0.577)	.22	
Diffusely palpable lesion	1.60 (0.90-2.23)	_			
Preoperative MRI					
Yes	2.55 (1.50-4.27)	<.001 <sup>a</sup>	-0.156 (-1.115-0.802)	.75	
No	1.61 (0.95-2.83)	_			
Multifocal disease					
No	1.98 (1.18-3.46)	.13ª		NA	
Yes	1.37 (0.56-3.15)	_	NA		
Histology					
IDC (NST)	1.95 (1.15-3.54)	.53 <sup>b</sup>			
ILC	2.00 (1.04-2.81)	_	NA	NA	
DCIS	2.25 (1.57-3.06)	_			
Other	1.79 (1.07-2.85)	_			
Type of breast-conserving surgery			1.188 (0.475-1.901)	<.001	
Simple WLE	2.07 (1.26-3.60)	<.001 <sup>b</sup>	1 [Reference]	NA	
OPBCS level I	1.37 (0.70-1.85)	_	-0.029 (-1.105-1.047)	.96	
OPBCS level II	2.69 (1.05-5.57)		4.916 (3.367-6.466)	<.001	
Overall	1.96 (1.15-3.44)				

Abbreviations: DCIS, Ductal cancer in situ; IDC (NST), invasive ductal cancer (nonspecific type); ILC, invasive lobular cancer; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging: reference category: NA, not applicable: OPBCS, onconlastic breast-conserving surgery; WLE, wide local excision.

<sup>a</sup> Mann-Whitney U test.

<sup>b</sup> Kruskal-Wallis test

<sup>c</sup> Calculated as weight in kilograms divided by height in meters souared.

<sup>d</sup> Spearman ρ (95% CI in parentheses).

18 [12-30] minutes; P = .01) as was the total operative time (69 [56-86] minutes vs 75.5 [59-101] minutes; P = .03) (Table 3). These outcomes were associated with type of breast surgery on univariable analysis, too. Multivariable regression demonstrated that the use of a paramagnetic marker for lesion localization still resulted in shorter excision and operative times.

The rate of failed localizations in the trial was 5.9% (95% CI, 3.9-8.6). There were significantly more failed localizations in the guidewire arm compared with the paramagnetic marker (21 of 208 [10.1%] vs 4 of 215 [1.9%]; difference, 8.2%; 95% CI, 3.3%-13.2%; *P* < .001). From the 4 failed seed localizations, 1 was due to failed deployment and a guidewire was used instead; 3 were intraoperative due to superficial lesions, with the seed dislocated during dissection; in all cases, the tumor was identified with the SPIO magnetic signal. In the guidewire arm (n = 21), 8 localizations failed preoperatively due to tumor location or dense parenchyma and were replaced with a seed, and the remaining 13 were intraoperative dislocations, where resection was guided by the magnetic signal and brown staining of the SPIO. Re-excision was more common in failed localizations (2 of 25 [8%] vs 10 of 395 [2.5%]), but the difference was not significant (5.5%; 95% CI, -5.3% to 16.2%; P = .11) and did not differ per localization technique.

Postoperative SPIO-induced skin staining at the postoperative visit was 10.5% (95% CI, 7.7%-13.8%) and was associated only with nonradiology-guided, free-hand peritumoral injection (17 of 108 [15.7%] vs 27 of 313 [8.6%]; difference, 7.1%; 95% CI, 0.04%-15.6%; P = .04; OR, 1.979; 95% CI, 1.032-3.795; P = .04). The rate of postoperative complications was 8.6% (95% CI, 6.1%-11.7%) and did not differ between the paramagnetic marker and the guidewire in frequency (9.8% vs 7.3%; difference, 2.5%; 95% CI, -3.3% to 8.3%; P = .45) or type (eTable 2 in Supplement 2).

There was significant variability in how lesion localization and SPIO administration were implemented (Table 4). However, none of these interacted with re-excision rates, resection ratios, or SLN detection. The localization time was shorter in the totally magnetic arm (median [IQR], 4 [3-5] minutes) than the guidewire arm (median [IQR], 5 [5-6] minutes) across all centers (P < .001).

#### Ease of Implementation

All the disciplines involved graded their experience on a Likert scale of 0 to 10 with higher scores denoting higher satisfaction. Overall, 15 surgeons, 4 radiologists, and 6 surgical coordinators were involved. Satisfaction was higher with the paramagnetic marker across all disciplines, with the difference

....

.....

-----

. .

	Univariate analysis		Multivariable analysis		
Marker/surgery type	Median (IQR)	P value	β coefficient (95% CI)	P value <sup>a</sup>	
Time to specimen excision, min					
Type of marker			3.768 (1.623-5.917)	.001	
Magnetic marker	15 (10-22)	.01 <sup>b</sup>	1 [Reference]	NA	
Guidewire	18 (12-30)		3.763 (1.613-5.913)	.001	
Type of breast-conserving surgery			4.913 (2.895-6.931)	<.001	
Simple WLE	16 (11-24.5)	.01 <sup>c</sup>	1 [Reference]	NA	
OPBCS level I	20 (14-30)	_	5.079 (1.819-8.339)	.002	
OPBCS level II	30 (11.5-36)	_	9.656 (4.831-14.479)	<.001	
Total operative time, min					
Type of marker			10.227 (4.634-15.820)	<.001	
Magnetic marker	69 (56- 86)	.03 <sup>b</sup>	1 [Reference]	NA	
Guidewire	75.5 (59-101)	_	10.442 (4.873-16.011)	<.001	
Type of breast-conserving surgery			23.121 (17.782-28.460)	<.001	
Simple WLE	69 (55-86)	<.001 <sup>c</sup>	1 [Reference]	NA	
OPBCS level I	78.5 (66-103)	_	15.505 (6.969-24.041)	<.001	
OPBCS level II	115 (102-143)	_	54.236 (41.505-66.967)	<.001	

-

Abbreviations: NA, not applicable; OPBCS, oncoplastic breast-conserving surgery; WLE, wide local excision.

<sup>a</sup> *P* value refers to the outcomes of the multivariable regression analysis (linear regression).

<sup>c</sup> Kruskal-Wallis test.

Table 4. Patterns of Lesion Localization and Superparamagnetic Iron Oxide (SPIO) Administration

Localization/administration	Guidewire	Magnetic marker	P value
Localization modality, No. (%)			
Ultrasound	194 (93.3)	189 (92.2)	.71 <sup>a</sup>
Stereotactic	14 (6.7)	16 (7.8)	-
Days from localization to surgery, median (IQR)	0	5 (1-8)	<.001 <sup>b</sup>
Time for lesion localization, median (IQR), min	5 (5-6)	4 (3-5)	<.001 <sup>b</sup>
SPIO administration, No. (%)			
Surgeon <sup>c</sup>	86 (40.6)	22 (10.5)	<.001 <sup>a</sup>
Radiologist	126 (59.4)	188 (89.5)	-
SPIO volume, mL, No. (%)			
1.0	187 (89.0)	195 (92.9)	.23ª
1.5	23 (11.0)	15 (7.1)	-
Days from SPIO injection to surgery, median (IQR)	7 (0-15)	6 (1-8)	.04 <sup>b</sup>
Single localization procedure (breast and axilla), No. (%)			
Yes	74 (34.9)	180 (85.3)	<.001 <sup>a</sup>
No	138 (65.0)	31 (14.7)	_

#### <sup>a</sup> Fisher exact test.

i isilei exact test.

<sup>b</sup> Mann-Whitney *U* test. <sup>c</sup> Surgeon denotes free-hand SPIO

injection around the tumor.

being more pronounced for surgeons and coordinators (eTable 3 in Supplement 2).

#### Discussion

In this pragmatic, multicenter RCT, a paramagnetic marker was equivalent to the guidewire in terms of re-excision rates and excess tissue removal regardless of physician experience or localization routines. These results corroborate findings from previous cohort studies<sup>16,23,29</sup> and provide stronger evidence. Moreover, the implementation of a totally magnetic technique for lesion removal and SLND was favorable compared with the guidewire in terms of shorter operative times and easier logistics, as shown by the preferences of all health care practitioners that were involved.

One of the concerns expressed regarding the combination of a paramagnetic marker for lesion localization and a peritumoral SPIO injection was that the overlapping signal might lead to the excision of larger specimens.<sup>24</sup> Clearly, the combination is successful, regardless of SPIO injection location (subareolar or intraparenchymal in another quadrant of the breast), as smaller studies that tried to address this concern have suggested.<sup>24,30</sup> Reassuringly, resection ratios in this RCT were similar between the trial arms, regardless of previous physician experience or practice patterns, suggesting that adaptation is safe. Moreover, in the center with the highest experience, the resection ratio in the totally magnetic arm was 0.3 lower (1.26 vs 1.57) and one of the lowest reported in the literature with only 0.9% re-excisions. Although this did not reach statistical significance, it is indicative of how familiarization with the technique yields potential for precision surgery and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> Mann-Whitney U test.

resection of smaller specimens. It seems that the totally magnetic technique for nonpalpable tumor localization used in the MAGTOTAL trial allows for the creation of a magnetic halo around the lesion, with the seed placed in the anterior aspect of the tumor, whereas the brown staining from SPIO in the surrounding tissue enables additional intraoperative visual navigation. This technique had lower failed localization rates than the guidewire, a finding similar to previous nonrandomized comparisons.<sup>16</sup> Furthermore, injecting SPIO close to the tumor, especially under ultrasonographic guidance, results in reduced skin staining because the bulk of SPIO is removed. This may contribute to minimizing postoperative MRI artifacts, which has been a concern with SPIO-guided SLND.<sup>21,22</sup> Currently, this hypothesis is being investigated in a prospective study from our group.<sup>31</sup>

Previous studies have investigated solely magnetic lesion localization and others solely magnetic SLN detection; the outcomes were comparable with the guidewire and, respectively, RI with or without BD.<sup>16,20</sup> Paramagnetic markers and SPIO both have the benefit of decoupling the respective procedure from the day of surgery<sup>17,32,33</sup>; however, if not combined, this benefit is not being fully utilized. In this RCT, the combination was successful and was positively met by all health care professionals involved in planning and performing breast cancer surgery. The present RCT showed that the totally magnetic technique for nonpalpable tumor localization is currently the only wire- and RI-free technique, to the authors' knowledge, where both lesion localization and SLN detection can be performed with the same probe, suggesting that the technique can be implemented in any setting.

#### Strengths and Limitations

Multiple, nonrandomized comparisons of the paramagnetic seed to the guidewire that had suggested similar outcomes served in providing baseline comparative evaluation. Therefore, an RCT was necessary for a definitive comparison of main efficacy and safety aspects, as suggested by the Idea, Development, Exploration, Assessment, and Long-term Follow-Up (IDEAL) Framework.<sup>34</sup> The trial did not investigate superiority, but equivalence, as the rationale that a device per se can improve outcomes had not been demonstrated in similar trials<sup>11</sup>; however, because the investigated technique had other presumed benefits, an RCT was necessary, as relevant literature suggests.<sup>35</sup> The pragmatic design ensures the external validity and that the intervention can be implemented with ease and flexibility and without expertise or previous familiarization.

On the other hand, the trial has several limitations. Differences in surgical style are hard to account for, which may be the reason for differences among sites, but, reassuringly, not between trial arms. Moreover, the inherent inability to mask the intervention may account for performance bias and the Pygmalion effect, but we chose end points that would minimize this as we investigated both re-excision and excess excision of healthy tissue at the same time.<sup>36</sup> Finally, cost efficacy analyses are still pending, but the shorter localization and operating time, along with the ease of preoperative planning, may compensate for the higher cost of the device.

#### Conclusions

In this RCT, a paramagnetic marker was equivalent to the guidewire in re-excisions and excised specimen volumes, with advantages of shorter operative time, safer localization, and preferable logistics. Additionally, familiarization with the technique may offer the potential for more precise surgery. Moreover, a totally magnetic technique for lesion localization and SLND relieves the health care system from the restrictions posed by guidewire localization or radioisotope-based methods, making it an attractive alternative for numerous and diverse clinical settings.

#### ARTICLE INFORMATION

Accepted for Publication: September 9, 2023. Published Online: December 27, 2023. doi:10.1001/jamasurg.2023.6520

Author Affiliations: Department of Surgical Sciences, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden (Pantiora, Abdsaleh, Wärnberg, Karakatsanis); Section for Breast Surgery, Department of Surgery, Uppsala University Hospital, Uppsala, Sweden (Pantiora, Wärnberg, Karakatsanis): Center for Clinical Research, Department of Surgical Sciences Uppsala University, Västerås, Sweden (Jazrawi, Hersi, Eriksson); Section for Breast Surgery, Department of Surgery, Västmanlands County Hospital, Västerås, Sweden (Jazrawi, Hersi, Eriksson); Evidia Mammography Department Uppsala, Sweden (Abdsaleh); Department of Breast Radiology, Division of Radiology, Västmanlands County Hospital, Västerås, Sweden (Ahlstedt); Department for Breast Radiology, Sahlgrenska University Hospital, Gothenburg, Sweden (Molnar); Sahlgrenska Center for Cancer Research. Department of Surgery, Institute of Clinical Sciences, Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg, Gothenburg, Sweden (Wärnberg);

Department of Surgery, Sahlgrenska University Hospital, Gothenburg, Sweden (Wärnberg).

Author Contributions: Drs Eriksson and Karakatsanis had full access to all of the data in the study and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis Drs Pantiora and Jazrawi are considered co-first authors. Drs Eriksson and Karakatsanis are considered co-last authors. Concept and design: Jazrawi, Wärnberg, Eriksson, Karakatsanis. Acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data: All authors. Drafting of the manuscript: Pantiora, Jazrawi, Hersi, Karakatsanis Critical review of the manuscript for important intellectual content: All authors Statistical analysis: Pantiora, Jazrawi, Wärnberg, Karakatsanis Obtained funding: Hersi, Wärnberg, Eriksson, Karakatsanis. Administrative, technical, or material support: Pantiora, Jazrawi, Hersi, Abdsaleh, Ahlstedt, Molnar, Wärnberg, Eriksson, Supervision: Wärnberg, Eriksson, Karakatsanis.

Conflict of Interest Disclosures: Dr Karakatsanis reported receiving grants from Endomag and honoraria from Pfizer, AstraZeneca, KUBTEC, and Resitu AB outside the submitted work. No other disclosures were reported.

Funding/Support: This work was supported in part by Uppsala University Hospital and supported by institutional grants from Uppsala University, Västmanlands Cancer Foundation, Swedish Breast Cancer Association, and the Centre for Clinical Research Region Västmanlands-Uppsala University grant LTV 851 021, 94 067, 967 823, 807 551.

Role of the Funder/Sponsor: The funders had no role in the design and conduct of the study; collection, mangement, analysis, and interpretation of the data; preparation, review, or approval of the manuscript; and decision to submit the manuscript for publication.

Data Sharing Statement: See Supplement 3.

#### REFERENCES

1. Cady B, Stone MD, Schuler JG, Thakur R, Wanner MA, Lavin PT. The new era in breast cancer—invasion, size, and nodal involvement

jamasurgery.com

JAMA Surgery Published online December 27, 2023

E7

#### Research Original Investigation

Magnetic Seed vs Guidewire Breast Cancer Localization With Magnetic Lymph Node Detection

dramatically decreasing as a result of mammographic screening. *Arch Surg.* 1996;131(3): 301-308. doi:10.1001/archsurg.1996. 01430150079015

 Frank HA, Hall FM, Steer ML. Preoperative localization of nonpalpable breast lesions demonstrated by mammography. N Engl J Med. 1976;295(5):259-260. doi:10.1056/ NEJMI97607292950506

 Hall FM, Kopans DB, Sadowsky NL, Homer MJ. Development of wire localization for occult breast lesions: Boston remembrances. *Radiology*. 2013; 268(3):622-627. doi:10.1148/radiol.13121943

 Joret MO, El-Haddawi F. Intraperitoneal migration of a hookwire following wide local excision of a breast lesion presenting as a spontaneous pneumothorax. *BMJ Case Rep.* 2021; 14(8):e244086. doi:10.1136/brcr-2021-244086

 Seifi A, Axelrod H, Nascimento T, et al. Migration of guidewire after surgical breast biopsy: an unusual case report. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2009;32 (5):1087-1090. doi:10.1007/s00270-009-9620-9

6. Homer MJ. Transection of the localization hooked wire during breast biopsy. *AJR Am J Roentgenol*. 1983;141(5):929-930. doi:10.2214/ ajr.141.5.929

 Martaindale S, Scoggins M, Bassett RL Jr, Whitman G. Retained localization wire fragments in the breast: long-term follow-up. *Curr Probl Diagn Radiol.* 2022;51(3):313-316. doi:10.1067/j.cpradiol. 2021.03.015

 Chan BK, Wiseberg-Firtell JA, Jois RH, Jensen K, Audisio RA. Localization techniques for guided surgical excision of non-palpable breast lesions. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2015;2015(12): CD009206. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD009206.pub2

 Gray RJ, Salud C, Nguyen K, et al. Randomized prospective evaluation of a novel technique for biopsy or lumpectomy of nonpalpable breast lesions: radioactive seed versus wire localization. *Ann Surg Oncol*. 2001;8(9):711-715. doi:10.1007/ s10434-001-0711-3

 Alderliesten T, Loo CE, Pengel KE, Rutgers EJT, Gilhuijs KGA, Vrancken Peeters MJTFD. Radioactive seed localization of breast lesions: an adequate localization method without seed migration. *Breast J.* 2011;7(6):594-601. doi:10.1111/j.1524-4741.2011. 01155.x

 Langhans L, Tvedskov TF, Klausen TL, et al. Radioactive seed localization or wire-guided localization of nonpalpable invasive and in situ breast cancer: a randomized, multicenter, open-label trial. Ann Surg. 2017;266(1):29-35. doi:10.1097/SLA.0000000000202101

12. Wazir U, Kasem I, Michell MJ, et al. Reflector-guided localisation of non-palpable breast lesions: a prospective evaluation of the SAVI SCOUT system. *Cancers* (*Basel*). 2021;13(10):2409. doi:10.3390/cancers13102409

 Cornella KN, Palafox BA, Razavi MK, Loh CT, Markle KM, Openshaw LE. SAVI SCOUT as a novel localization and surgical navigation system for more accurate localization and resection of pulmonary nodules. *Surg Innov*. 2019;26(4):469-472. doi:10.1177/1533350619843757  Dauphine C, Reicher JJ, Reicher MA, Gondusky C, Khalkhali I, Kim M. A prospective clinical study to evaluate the safety and performance of wireless localization of nonpalpable breast lesions using radiofrequency identification technology. *AJR Am J Roentgenol.* 2015;204(6):W720-3. doi:10.2214/AJR. 14.3201

 McGugin C, Spivey T, Coopey S, et al. Radiofrequency identification tag localization is comparable to wire localization for nonpalpable breast lesions. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2019;177(3): 735-739. doi:10.1007/s10549-019-05355-0

 Dave RV, Barrett E, Morgan J, et al; iBRA-NET Localisation Study collaborative. Wire- and magnetic-seed-guided localization of impalpable breast lesions: iBRA-NET localisation study. *Br J Surg.* 2022;109(3):274-282. doi:10.1093/bjs/znab443

 Harvey JR, Lim Y, Murphy J, et al. Safety and feasibility of breast lesion localization using magnetic seeds (Magseed): a multicenter, open-label cohort study. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* 2018;169(3):531-536. doi:10.1007/s10549-018-4709-y

 Thill M, Kurylcio A, Welter R, et al. The central-European SentiMag study: sentinel lymph node biopsy with superparamagnetic iron oxide (SPIO) vs. radioisotope. Breast. 2014;23(2):175-179. doi:10.1016/j.breast.2014.01.004

19. Karakatsanis A, Christiansen PM, Fischer L, et al. The Nordic SentilMag trial: a comparison of super paramagnetic iron oxide (SPIO) nanoparticles vs TC(99) and patent blue in the detection of sentinel node (SN) in patients with breast cancer and a meta-analysis of earlier studies. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2016;157(2):281-294. doi:10.1007/ s10549-016-3809-9

20. Pantiora E, Tasoulis MK, Valachis A, et al. Evolution and refinement of magnetically guided sentinel lymph node detection in breast cancer: meta-analysis. Br J Surg. 2023;110(4):410-419. doi:10.1093/bjs/znac426

21. Christenhusz A, Pouw JJ, Simonis FFJ, et al. Breast MRI in patients after breast conserving surgery with sentinel node procedure using a superparamagnetic tracer. *Eur Radiol Exp.* 2022;6 (1):3. doi:10.1186/s41747-021-002577

 Chapman MC, Lee AY, Hayward JH, Joe BN, Price ER. Superparamagnetic iron oxide sentinel node tracer injection: effects on breast MRI quality. *J Breast Imaging*. 2020;2(6):577-582. doi:10.1093/jbi/wbaa083

23. Zacharioudakis K, Down S, Bholah Z, et al. Is the future magnetic—Magseed localization for nonpalpable breast cancer: a multicenter nonrandomized control study. *Eur J Surg Oncol.* 2019;45(11):2016-2021. doi:10.1016/j.ejso.2019.06. 035

24. Spiekerman van Weezelenburg MA, van Haaren ERM, Aldenhoven L, et al. An adapted protocol for magnetic localisation of nonpalpable breast cancer lesions and sentinel lymph nodes using a magnetic seed and superparamagnetic iron oxide tracer. J Surg Oncol. 2023;127(5):776-781. doi:10.1002/jso.27197

25. Hersi AF, Eriksson S, Ramos J, Abdsaleh S, Wärnberg F, Karakatsanis A. A combined, totally magnetic technique with a magnetic marker for nonpalpable tumor localization and superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles for sentinel lwmb node detection in breast cancer

sentinei lymph node detection in breast cancer surgery. *Eur J Surg Oncol.* 2019;45(4):544-549. doi:10.1016/j.ejso.2018.10.064

26. Zwarenstein M, Treweek S, Gagnier JJ, et al; CONSORT group; Pragmatic Trials in Healthcare (Practihc) group. Improving the reporting of pragmatic trials: an extension of the CONSORT statement. *BMJ* 2008;337:a2390. doi:10.1136/ bmj.a2390

27. Uschner D, Schindler D, Hilgers RD, Heussen N. RandomizeR: an R package for the assessment and implementation of randomization in clinical trials. *J Statt Softw.* 2018;85(8):1-22. doi:10.18637/jss. v085.i08

28. Krekel NMA, Zonderhuis BM, Stockmann HBAC, et al. A comparison of 3 methods for nonpalpable breast cancer excision. *Eur J Surg Oncol*. 2011;37(2):109-115. doi:10.1016/j.jes.2010.12.006

29. Micha AE, Sinnett V, Downey K, et al. Patient and clinician satisfaction and clinical outcomes of Magseed compared with wire-guided localisation for impalpable breast lesions. *Breast Cancer*. 2021; 28(1):196-205. doi:10.1007/s12282-020-01149-1

30. Pohlodek K, Sečanský P, Haluzová I, Mečiarová I, Localization of impalpable breast lesions and detection of sentinel lymph nodes through magnetic methods. *Eur J Radiol.* 2019;120:108699. doi:10.1016/j.ejrad.2019.108699

31. Postoperative breast MRI in patients undergoing sentinel node biopsy using super paramagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles. ISRCTN identifier: ISRCTN85167182. Accessed April 14, 2023. https://doi.org/10.1186/ISRCTN85167182

32. Karakatsanis A, Daskalakis K, Stålberg P, et al. Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles as the sole method for sentinel node biopsy detection in patients with breast cancer. Br J Surg. 2017;104(12): 1675-1685. doi:10.1002/bjs.10606

33. Shams S, Lippold K, Blohmer JU, Röhle R, Kühn F, Karsten MM. A pilot study evaluating the effects of Magtrace for sentinel node biopsy in breast cancer patients regarding care process optimization, reimbursement, surgical time, and patient comfort compared with standard technetium<sup>99</sup>. Ann Surg Oncol. 2021;28(6):3232-3240. doi:10.1245/s10434-020-09280-1

 McCulloch P, Feinberg J, Philippou Y, et al. Progress in clinical research in surgery and IDEAL. Lancet. 2018;392(10141):88-94. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30102-8

35. Páez A, Rovers M, Hutchison K, Rogers W, Vasey B, McCulloch P; IDEAL Collaboration. Beyond the RCT: when are randomised trials unnecessary for new therapeutic devices, and what should we do instead? Ann Surg. 2022;275(2):324-331. doi:10.1097/SLA.000000000000505

36. Ceelen W, Soreide K. Randomized controlled trials and alternative study designs in surgical oncology. *Eur J Surg Oncol.* 2023;49(8):1331-1340. doi:10.1016/j.ejso.2023.03.001

jamasurgery.com

## Paper IV

Prospective evaluation of MRI artefacts following breast conserving surgery and sentinel lymph node dissection with the magnetic technique.

Allan Jazrawi<sup>1,2,3\*</sup>, Eirini Pantiora<sup>3,4</sup>, Shahin Abdsaleh<sup>5</sup>, Fredrik Wärnberg<sup>3,4</sup>, Chin Lian Ng<sup>6</sup>, Athanasios Zouzos<sup>7</sup>, Tanja Gagliardi<sup>8</sup>, Andreas Karakatsanis<sup>3,4†</sup>, Staffan Eriksson<sup>1,2,3†</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Region Vastmanland – Uppsala University Centre for Clinical Research, Vastmanland Hospital Vasteras, Sweden.

<sup>2</sup>Department of Surgery, Vastmanland Hospital, Västerås, Sweden.

<sup>3</sup>Department of Surgical Sciences, Uppsala University, Akademiska sjukhuset 75185 Uppsala, Sweden.

<sup>4</sup>Department of Surgery, Section for Endocrine and Breast Surgery, Uppsala University Hospital, Akademiska sjukhuset 75185 Uppsala, Sweden.

<sup>5</sup>Aleris Mammography Unit, 75320 Uppsala, Sweden

<sup>6</sup>Department of Radiology, Buckinghamshire Healthcare NHS, Buckinghamshire, United Kingdom.

<sup>7</sup>Department of Radiology, Karolinska Universitetsjukhuset, Hälsovägen 13, 171 76 Stockholm, Sweden.

<sup>8</sup> Department of Radiology, The Royal Marsden Hospital, 203 Fulham Rd, London, England, SW3 6JJ, UK.

\*Corresponding author: Allan Jazrawi, Kirurgkliniken Västmanlands sjukhus Västerås, Sigtunagatan 721 89 Västerås, Sweden.

<sup>†</sup>Shared last authorship

E-mail: allan.jazrawi@regionvastmanland.se

## Abstract

## Introduction:

Superparamagnetic Iron Oxide (SPIO) nanoparticles serve as a promising tracer for sentinel lymph node (SLN) detection in breast cancer. Concerns exist regarding potential artefacts on Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) postoperatively. This prospective study explores the outcomes of postoperative MRI following breast conserving surgery (BCS) and SLND.

## **Materials and Methods:**

Ninety-seven women with DCIS or invasive breast cancer underwent BCS and SLN detection with peritumoral SPIO injection with varying volumes (1, 1.5, or 2 ml), administered up to four weeks before surgery. Postoperatively, patients were followed with MRI and mammograms, and imaging outcomes were evaluated by four, independent breast radiologists, blinded to clinical data, using a predefined, standardized questionnaire.

## **Results:**

The analysis encompassed 97 patients, revealing discordance among raters for "any artefact" (range: 24.1-74.4%; weighted average: 32.4%) and "SPIO specific artefact" (range: 12.0-49.4%; weighted average: 20.9%). The median area of "any artefact" was 9.24 mm<sup>2</sup> (iqr 4.72, 15.50) and SPIO specific artefact 9.88 mm<sup>2</sup> (iqr 5.32, 15.5). Likert scores indicated higher difficulty interpreting MRI (median: 3, IQR 2-3.5) compared to mammograms (median: 1.5, IQR 1-2, p< 0.001). All six patients with local recurrence were successfully diagnosed on MRI by all raters. Logistic regression consistently identified free-hand SPIO administration as associated with artefacts.

## **Conclusion:**

This prospective cohort study suggests that a targeted peritumoral SPIO injection can result in the removal of SPIO during lumpectomy and address the concerns for artefacts on postoperative MRI follow-up, in the selected patients that it may be required.

## Introduction

Superparamagnetic Iron Oxide (SPIO) nanoparticles have extensively been evaluated as a tracer for sentinel lymph node (SLN) detection in breast cancer patients, performing comparably to the combination of  $Tc^{99}$  and blue dye (BD), without limitations in availability and access, strict regulations for handling and disposal or rare, but severe, anaphylactic reactions [1-3]. Multiple studies summarized in a recent meta-analysis have demonstrated that doses as low as 0.5 ml, injected peritumorally and >24 hours up to several weeks before surgery yield high detection rates, number of retrieved SLNs and accuracy [4]. Interestingly, this profile seems to result in reduced SPIO-induced skin staining compared to what had previously been described after a superficial, peri- or subareolar SPIO injection [5].

However, the presence of SPIO in the tissue results in artefacts on Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) and, if this has to be performed as part of the diagnostic work-up, it has to precede SPIO injection [6-7]. The meta-analysis by Pantiora et al [4], pooled all the small retrospective series that addressed this and reported MRI artefacts in 70% of patients treated with breast conserving surgery (BCS) up to 46 months postoperatively. These studies, however, reported outcomes almost exclusively following a superficial SPIO injection and higher injection volumes than what nowadays constitutes the standard [6-9]. Moreover, they were retrospective, without standardized reporting of outcomes and sources of potential bias. Currently, there is no evidence to support the routine use of breast MRI following BCS [10] and MRI surveillance is considered in the preoperative setting for women with a known BRCA mutation and/or dense breasts [11-13]. However, compatibility concerns need to be addressed, for selected patients that MRI follow-up may be appropriate.

Previous research suggested that the presence of skin staining following a subareolar SPIO injection correlated strongly with the presence of transcutaneous magnetic signal [1]. Similarly, SPIO residue in the tissue should be expected to result in the present of artefacts on a postoperative MRI, as previous reports suggested. Therefore, absence of artefacts could be expected following a peritumoral SPIO injection, if the area with injected SPIO has been completely removed during surgery. Interestingly, this was demonstrated in a small series by Christenhusz et al, where no MRI artifacts were observed following an ultralow, intratumoral SPIO injection [7]. On the other hand,

available literature on the specificity of SPIO artefacts or the interpretation of a breast MRI following BCS and adjuvant treatment is lacking.

The aim of this prospective observational study was to explore the outcomes of postoperative MRI in patients that underwent BCS and SLND following peritumoral SPIO injection.

## Methods

## Patient selection

Patients >18 years of age with DCIS or T1-T3 invasive breast cancer planned for BCS and SLND treated between 2017-2022 were included in the study. Exclusion criteria were pregnancy, patients with pacemakers or other implantable devices in the chest-wall, or prosthesis in the shoulder, intraoperative or postoperative conversion to mastectomy, mental condition rendering the patient incapable of giving written informed consent, patient deprived of liberty or under guardianship. If patients had an indication for preoperative breast MRI and had consented to participation, the examination was performed before SPIO injection. The study was approved by the regional ethics board in Uppsala (Dnr: 2014.073, 2014.073.03, 2014.073.04). ICRTN registration number: 85167182

## Methods

## Data Collection and procedure

Patients planned for BCS and SLND received a peritumoral dose of SPIO (1, 1.5 or 2 ml) up to four weeks before surgery by the radiologist or the surgeon. On the day of surgery, the preoperative transcutaneous magnetic signal as well as any skin staining were registered. Surgery was performed according to routine, without aiming to excise the entire SPIO footprint around the excision area. The presence of brown discoloration on the cut surfaces and the residual cavity signal following tumour resection were documented. Transcutaneous signal and skin discoloration were also documented during the postoperative visit in the outpatient clinic, as well as in clinical follow-up after MRI and mammograms had been performed. A baseline breast MRI and mammogram were to be performed after three to six months postoperatively. Patients without artefacts, assessed by the principal study breast radiologist, and without postoperative transcutaneous signal were not followed up any further. For those with a

presumed artefact, clinical and radiological follow-up were prolonged up to five years with annual breast MRI and mammogram. The manuscript was prepared according to the Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies (STROBE) statement [14].

## Mammogram and Breast MRI

## Mammogram

Craniocaudal and Mediolateral Oblique projections were obtained per clinical routine.

## MRI

All participants in the study were followed up with a postoperative MRI. Due to concerns for gadolinium induced kidney injury from the Swedish Ethical Review Authority, patients would undergo an MRI without contrast and contrast would be injected in the case of a clinical indication or concerns from the review of the synchronous mammogram [15].

The native scans were performed on either a 1.5 or 3 Tesla scanner (Ingenia R5.7; Philips Healthcare, Best, the Netherlands). Employing a standardized protocol without intravenous contrast, four sequences were generated, T1- and T2\*-weighted images derived from a turbo spin echo, T1-weighted high-resolution isotropic volume examination (THRIVE) and a short tau inversion recovery (STIR) sequence. Scans with contrast were performed on a 3 Tesla scanner according to clinical routine.

### Imaging assessment

Imaging was independently reviewed in separate, dedicated sessions by four experienced breast radiologists working in large volume centres from Sweden and the UK. Due to the lack of standardized classification of outcomes, the four radiologists agreed on the content and the formulation of a preformed questionnaire in a dedicated meeting with the study committee (Supplement 1). In summary, the questionnaire consisted of five items (questions, Q): Q1) presence of any artefact or postoperative change in the imaging, Q2) impact of this findings in imaging interpretation, Q3) whether the artefacts were deemed as SPIO specific, Q4) artefact size in two dimensions in mm (anteroposterior x mediolateral) and Q4) a Likert item (1-10) on the difficulty to assess the respective modality, with higher score denoting greater difficulty.

All imaging review sessions were supervised by a senior surgeon (AK) in a standardized fashion: each rater would review the MRI scan first followed by the synchronous mammogram; return to MRI was allowed, but not change in assessment or scoring, and the radiologists were blinded to any patient- or procedure-related data.

## Sample Size Calculation and Statistical Analysis

Since ferromagnetic signal is present in all cases with skin staining, it should be expected that absence of discoloration or magnetic signal in the resection margins should imply SPIO-free parenchyma. This means that one would anticipate that all pairs of observations (post-excisional intra-operative background count and post-operative MRI) to be concordant. To test for this hypothesis, with an anticipated discordance rate ( $\alpha$ ) of 0.05 and a tolerance probability ( $\beta$ ) of 95%, a minimum sample size of 93 patients would be required [16-17].

Continuous variables were summarized as medians with interquartile range (iqr). Categorical variables were summarized as numbers and proportions (%) with 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) and comparisons were performed with the Wald test. Likert items were analysed as ordinal data (median, iqr) and compared with non-parametric tests, as appropriate. Agreement statistics were performed using the Konger kappa for multiple raters with 95% confidence intervals (95% CI), Krippendorf's alpha for the Likert items and the intraclass coefficient (ICC) for continuous variables. Individual rater outcomes were pooled in a panel and items on the presence of artefacts were dichotomized ("yes" vs "no" and "unsure") for further analyses, to avoid arbitrary weighting that would result in non-clinically relevant groupings. Weighted outcomes summarizing panel ratings were summarized as medians (iqr) and mean ranks. Primary analyses were performed per imaging set (MRI and mammogram), whereas per patient analyses were performed for patient specific outcomes. Univariable and, if required, multivariable analyses were performed to investigate for associations with SPIO volume of injection, injection technique (free-hand vs image-guided), type of surgery, time from surgery to imaging to the questionnaire results. All tests were 2-sided and a p-value of 0.05 was considered significant. Data

analyses were performed using SPSS® (V 28.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.) and Stata V17.

## Results

Following written informed consent, 102 patients were recruited in the study. One patient underwent completion mastectomy and was subsequently excluded, one passed away before the first MRI was performed and three withdrew consent, leaving 97 patients and 159 breast MRI and mammogram examinations for analysis with a median of 15 months from surgery (range 3, 63). Patient characteristics are summarised in Table 1.

There was significant discordance among raters in the prevalence of both "Q1: any artefact" (individual ratings range 24.1-74.4%; weighted average 32.4%) and "Q3: SPIO specific artefact (individual ratings range 12.0-49.4%; weighted average 20.9%), with low to fair agreement outcomes (Table 2). A unanimous finding was that, what was described as artefact in MRI would most probably be interpreted as postoperative change on the mammogram, regardless of whether the presence of the artefact was considered to be SPIO specific, whereas there was high uncertainty on SPIO specificity (Supplementary Results, Tables 1&2). The median area (Q4) of "any artefact" was 9.24 mm<sup>2</sup> (iqr 4.72, 15.50) and SPIO specific artefact 9.88 (iqr 5.32, 15.5) for rater 1; the respective numbers were 4.38 (2.60, 10.00) and 4.20 (2.40, 9.00) for rater 2; 7.24 (3.00, 10.00) and 6.00 (2.56, 8.75) for rater 3; and 1.58 (0.09, 2.41) and 1.64 (0.12, 2.76) for rater 4. The intraclass coefficient was 0.694 (95% CI 0.608, 0.765).

With regards to how the artefacts affected MRI interpretation (Q2), the majority of responses was that the artefact did not affect characterization and assessment, affecting images "somewhat" or "not at all". Only in one MRI and for one single rater did the artefact impair image interpretation completely Table 2. The Likert score median for the difficulty of interpreting MRI was 3 (IQR 2, 3.5), significantly higher than the median for mammography (median1.5, IQR 1, 2, p < 0.001). Despite heterogeneity in Likert scores among individual raters, particularly R2, for MRI interpretation difficulty, all pairwise comparisons were not significantly different. Despite low inter-rater agreement on MRI difficulty assessment, the Likert scores were numerically comparable. On the other hand, all pairwise comparisons differed significantly in the assessment of the

mammograms. During follow-up, 6 patients presented with local recurrence; all were successfully diagnosed on MRI by all raters (Table 2).

Further on, we investigated the factors associated with the presence of "any artefact" and "SPIO specific artefact" for each rater individually, and for all raters, as a panel, using the weighted average of responses for the latter. The only factor that consistently retained significance on logistic regression for the panel (Table 3), but also for each rater individually (Supplement, Tables 3-6) was SPIO administration by a free-hand, non-radiology guided injection. Whilst neither intraoperative magnetic signal or postoperative transcutaneous magnetic signal retained significance on logistic regression, their absence always resulted in absence of SPIO specific artefacts.

Finally, due to discordance of interpretation among raters, a clinically meaningful follow-up of artefact prevalence or size over time was not possible; however, for raters 1 and 4, that had the highest "artefact rates" in their assessments, artefact prevalence reduced over time, though not in a significant manner whereas dimensions decreased in a statistically significant fashion (data not shown).

## Discussion

In this prospective cohort study of breast MRI scans following BCS and SLND with a peritumoral SPIO injection, it was found that the weighted prevalence of SPIO related artefacts in the breast parenchyma was 20.9%, significantly lower than the 70% previously reported in the literature. Absence of residual SPIO signal in the resection cavity always resulted in absence of artefacts on MRI scans and the strongest predictor for artefacts was SPIO administration through a free-hand, non-radiology guided injection. Reassuringly, artefacts did not pose a challenge in image interpretation and all the local recurrences could be easily diagnosed by all participating radiologists.

Currently, no data suggest any survival advantage in the routine use of surveillance breast MRI after BCS over mammogram, thus its necessity is debatable, with the occasional exception of selected patients with very dense breast tissue or gene-mutation carriers treated with BCS [10-12, 18-20]. At the same time, mass-effect or surgical site contrast enhancement following BCS and radiotherapy are findings that do not have high specificity for benign vs

malignant pathology and may persist for years [21-23]. Moreover, the susceptibility artefact observed is iron specific, meaning that a haematoma could produce similar findings [24]. These facts may account for the observed interpretation heterogeneity among the raters with regards to the perception of artefact vs postoperative change, whether the artefacts were SPIO-specific or the artefact size. On the other hand, previous inter-rater agreement studies in the assessment for pathology have been shown to be, at best, moderate [25]. This suggests that the low agreement observed in the study should not be surprising, given that expert radiologists had to address a question previously unexplored in this fashion. Regardless, all raters felt that it was easy to interpret the MRI scans and, reassuringly, all recurrences in the study were easily identified in the MRI by all, suggesting that there was no clinically relevant hinder.

Previous reports on postoperative SPIO-related artefacts on follow-up MRI described outcomes following a periareolar SPIO injection, predominantly 2 ml that were diluted with 3 ml saline [4]. All were retrospective, institutional reports that raised awareness on this issue, but heterogeneity and differences in reporting did not allow for definitive conclusions. However, it seems that SPIO dose per se does not affect the prevalence of artefacts, if SPIO is not removed from the parenchyma. In a recent study from the Netherlands, 1 ml SPIO was injected in the parenchyma but in another quadrant, in an effort to avoid signal overlap with a magnetic marker that localized the tumour; in all fourteen patients, artefacts of a mean size of 41-44 mm were visible [26]. On the contrary, PostMag MRI is the first dedicated prospective study exploring whether resection of the bulk of SPIO may address artefacts. The study hypothesis coincided with the findings by Christenhusz et al., where, in the six patients that had received 0.1 ml SPIO intratumorally, no artefacts were present [7]. Moreover, the size of the artefacts was much smaller and absence of residual SPIO signal resulted in absence of SPIO-related artefacts; on the other hand, it seemed that small SPIO residuals, defined as discoloration of the cavity and intraoperative SPIO signal did not necessarily pose challenges to the interpretation. This is also supported by the fact that a free-hand parenchymal injection that is less accurate that radiologyguided injections, especially in impalpable lesions, was a risk factor for artefacts. This demonstrates that removing the bulk of SPIO injected is expected to address the issue of artefacts. This is expected optimally with a radiology-guided

peritumoral injection, so that the bulk of the SPIO footprint will be included in the resection specimen. All things considered, it seems that the optimal SPIO administration strategy should involve a radiology-guided peritumoral injection, as recently shown in the MagTotal randomised trial [27]. The possibility that smaller doses are explored is interesting as a smaller SPIO volume may be easier to be removed with the excision of the intended specimen volume. Therefore, the optimal SPIO profile involves defining a minimum effective dose for high SLN detection rates, intraoperative counts, nodal staining, and identifying an adequate median of SLNs to ensure low false-negative rates. Currently, a prospective study with a lower preoperative peritumoral SPIO dose is being planned by our research group.

The study has certain limitations: Firstly, intravenous gadolinium was not routinely administered in all patients, due to safety concerns from the Swedish Ethical Review Authority. Nevertheless, that did not affect image interpretation; on the contrary, raters felt that intravenous contrast facilitated interpretation. Moreover, the SARS-2 COVID pandemic affected the regularity of follow-up intervals, but this was a challenge that could not have been bypassed. Furthermore, the discordance among rater interpretation precluded any clinically meaningful time-to-event analysis that would allow for an exact estimate of how the artefacts behave over time, but this highlights the heterogeneity of interpretation of the findings. On the other hand, study strengths are that it is the first dedicated prospective study that informs on this research question, with predefined sample size, endpoints and possibility for a long follow-up, when deemed necessary. Instead of an arbitrary classification system, the radiological assessment was prospectively agreed upon among the study radiologists with regards to clinical relevance. The standardized, blinded assessment procedure ensured objectivity and reduced risk for bias. Furthermore, panel diversity, not by means of expertise, but different backgrounds and evaluation patterns, enhances the external validity of the present results. The latter is particularly noteworthy, given the variation in the routine performance of postoperative MRI compared to mammography [18]

In conclusion, this prospective cohort study suggests that a targeted peritumoral SPIO injection can result in the removal of SPIO during lumpectomy and address the concerns for artefacts on postoperative MRI follow-up, in the selected
patients that it may be required. Further studies should focus on the optimization of SPIO dose and administration profile, standardization of SPIO related artefact reporting, and adjusted sequences that may reduce the artefacts.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, A.K ; methodology, A.K.; software, A.K.; validation, A.K.; formal analysis, A.K., A.J.; investigation, A.J., F.W., and A.K.; resources, A.J., S.E. and A.K.; data curation, A.K. and A.J.; writing original draft preparation, A.J.; writing—review and editing, A.J., A.K., S.E., S.A., C-L.NG., A.Z., T.G. and F.W.; visualization, A.J.; supervision, F.W., S.E. and A.K.; project administration, A.K.; funding acquisition, S.E and F.W. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

**Funding and sponsorship:** Institutional grants by the Centre of Clinical Research, Region Västmanland, Uppsala University, Västmanland Cancer Foundation and the Swedish Association for Breast Cancer (Bröstcancerförbundet) are acknowledged. Endomag, Cambridge, UK provided an institutional grant for the study. The study sponsors and funders had no role in the study design, data collection, analyses, or interpretation.

**Institutional Review Board Statement:** The study was conducted according to the guidelines of the Helsinki Declaration of ethical principles involving human subjects and was approved by Uppsala University regional ethical committee (decision number 2017/063).

**Informed Consent Statement:** Informed consent was obtained from all subjects involved in the study.

**Data Availability Statement:** The data presented in this study are available upon reasonable request.

**Conflicts of Interest:** Dr Karakatsanis reported receiving institutional grants from Endomag and honoraria from Pfizer, AstraZenevea, KUBTEC and Resitu AB outside the scope of the submitted work. No other disclosures were reported. ICRTN registration number: 85167182

## References

- Karakatsanis A, Christiansen PM, Fischer L, Hedin C, Pistioli L, Sund M, Rasmussen NR, Jørnsgård H, Tegnelius D, Eriksson S, Daskalakis K, Wärnberg F, Markopoulos CJ, Bergkvist L. The Nordic SentiMag trial: a comparison of super paramagnetic iron oxide (SPIO) nanoparticles versus Tc<sub>99</sub> and patent blue in the detection of sentinel node (SN) in patients with breast cancer and a meta-analysis of earlier studies. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2016 Jun;157(2):281-94.
- Bézu, C.; Coutant, C.; Salengro, A.; Daraï, E.; Rouzier, R.; Uzan, S. Anaphylactic response to blue dye during sentinel lymph node biopsy. Surg. Oncol. 2011, 20, e55–e59.
- Albo, D.; Wayne, J.D.; Hunt, K.K.; Rahlfs, T.F.; Singletary, S.E.; Ames, F.C.; Feig, B.W.; Ross, M.I.; Kuerer, H.M. Anaphylactic reactions to

isosulfan blue dye during sentinel lymph node biopsy for breast cancer. Am. J. Surg. 2001, 182, 393–398.

- Pantiora E, Tasoulis MK, Valachis A, Eriksson S, Kühn T, Karakatsanis A, Rubio IT. Evolution and refinement of magnetically guided sentinel lymph node detection in breast cancer: meta-analysis. Br J Surg. 2023 Mar 30;110(4):410-419. doi: 10.1093/bjs/znac426.
- Jazrawi A, Wärnberg M, Hersi AF, Obondo C, Pistioli L, Eriksson S, Karakatsanis A, Wärnberg F. A Comparison of Skin Staining after Sentinel Lymph Node Biopsy in Women Undergoing Breast Cancer Surgery Using Blue Dye and Superparamagnetic Iron Oxide Nanoparticle (SPIO) Tracers. Cancers (Basel). 2022 Dec 6;14(23):6017. doi: 10.3390/cancers14236017. PMID: 36497498; PMCID: PMC9741074.
- Krischer B, Forte S, Niemann T, Kubik-Huch RA, Leo C (2018) Feasibility of breast MRI after sentinel procedure for breast cancer with superparamagnetic tracers. Eur J Surg Oncol 44:74–79. https://doi.org/10.101 6/j.ejso.2017.11.016
- Christenhusz A, Pouw JJ, Simonis FFJ, Douek M, Ahmed M, Klaase JM, Dassen AE, Klazen CAH, van der Schaaf MC, Ten Haken B, Alic L. Breast MRI in patients after breast conserving surgery with sentinel node procedure using a superparamagnetic tracer. Eur Radiol Exp. 2022 Jan 27;6(1):3. doi:10.1186/s41747-021-00257-7. PMID:35083595; PMCID: PMC8792114.
- Molly C Chapman, Amie Y Lee, Jessica H Hayward, Bonnie N Joe, Elissa R Price, Superparamagnetic Iron Oxide Sentinel Node Tracer Injection: Effects on Breast MRI Quality, *Journal of Breast Imaging*, Volume 2, Issue 6, November/December 2020, Pages 577– 582, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jbi/wbaa083</u>
- Aribal E, Çelik L, Yilmaz C, Demirkiran C, Guner DC. Effects of iron oxide particles on MRI and mammography in breast cancer patients after a sentinel lymph node biopsy with paramagnetic tracers. Clin Imaging. 2021 Jul;75:22-26. doi: 10.1016/j.clinimag.2020.12.011. Epub 2020 Dec 26. PMID: 33486148.

- Lam DL, Houssami N, Lee JM (2017) Imaging surveillance after primary breast cancer treatment. AJR Am J Roentgenol 208:676–686. https://doi. org/10.2214/AJR.16.16300
- 11. Bakker MF, de Lange SV, Pijnappel RM, Mann RM, et al (2019) Supplemental MRI screening for women with extremely dense breast tissue. N Engl J Med 381:2091–2102. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1903986
- Shah C, Ahlawat S, Khan A, et al (2016) The role of MRI in the followup of women undergoing breast-conserving therapy. Am J Clin Oncol 39:314–319. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/COC.00000000000290</u>
- Warner E, Hill K, Causer P, Plewes D, Jong R, Yaffe M, Foulkes WD, Ghadirian P, Lynch H, Couch F, Wong J, Wright F, Sun P, Narod SA. Prospective study of breast cancer incidence in women with a BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutation under surveillance with and without magnetic resonance imaging. J Clin Oncol. 2011 May 1;29(13):1664-9. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2009.27.0835. Epub 2011 Mar 28. PMID: 21444874; PMCID: PMC4874196.
- 14. von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gøt Gøtzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP. STROBE Initiative. The Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. Lancet. 2007;370(9596):1453–7. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61602-X.
- Thomsen HS. Gadolinium-based contrast media may be nephrotoxic even at approved doses. Eur Radiol. 2004 Sep;14(9):1654-6. doi: 10.1007/s00330-004-2379-0. Epub 2004 Jun 22. PMID: 15221265.
- Liao JJ. Sample size calculation for an agreement study. Pharm Stat. 2010 Apr-Jun;9(2):125-32. doi: 10.1002/pst.382.
- Barnhart HX, Haber M, Song J. Overall concordance correlation coefficient for evaluating agreement among multiple observers. Biometrics. 2002 Dec;58(4):1020-7.
- Khatcheressian JL, Hurley P, Bantug E, et al. Breast cancer follow-up and management after primary treatment: American Society of Clinical Oncology clinical practice guideline update. J Clin Oncol. 2013; 31:961– 965. [PubMed: 23129741]

- Recommendations | Early and locally advanced breast cancer: diagnosis and management | Guidance | NICE [Available from: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng101/chapter/Recommendations#fo</u> <u>llowup-imaging</u>. Accessed February 05, 2024 ]
- 20. Khatcheressian JL, Hurley P, Bantug E, Esserman LJ, Grunfeld E, Halberg F, Hantel A, Henry NL, Muss HB, Smith TJ, Vogel VG, Wolff AC, Somerfield MR, Davidson NE; American Society of Clinical Oncology. Breast cancer follow-up and management after primary treatment: American Society of Clinical Oncology clinical practice guideline update. J Clin Oncol. 2013 Mar 1;31(7):961-5. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.45.9859. Epub 2012 Nov 5.
- 21. Li J, Dershaw DD, Lee CH, Joo S, Morris EA. Breast MRI after conservation therapy: usual findings in routine follow-up examinations. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2010 Sep;195(3):799-807. doi: 10.2214/AJR.10.4305. Erratum in: AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2010 Oct;195(4):1043. Lee, Carol F [corrected to Lee, Carol H].
- 22. Solomon B, Orel S, Reynolds C, Schnall M. Delayed development of enhancement in fat necrosis after breast conservation therapy: a potential pitfall of MR imaging of the breast. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1998 Apr;170(4):966-8. doi: 10.2214/ajr.170.4.9530045.
- Drukteinis JS, Gombos EC, Raza S, Chikarmane SA, Swami A, Birdwell RL. MR imaging assessment of the breast after breast conservation therapy: distinguishing benign from malignant lesions. Radiographics. 2012 Jan-Feb;32(1):219-34. doi: 10.1148/rg.321115016.
- Wang S, Lou M, Liu T, Cui D, Chen X, Wang Y. Hematoma volume measurement in gradient echo MRI using quantitative susceptibility mapping. Stroke. 2013 Aug;44(8):2315-7. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.113.001638. Epub 2013 May 23.
- Pesapane F, Nicosia L, Tantrige P, et al. Inter-reader agreement of breast magnetic resonance imaging and contrast-enhanced mammography in breast cancer diagnosis: a multi-reader retrospective study. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* 2023;202(3):451-459. doi:10.1007/s10549-023-07093-w

- 26. van Haaren ERM, Spiekerman van Weezelenburg MA, van Bastelaar J, et al. Impact of low dose superparamagnetic iron oxide tracer for sentinel node biopsy in breast conserving treatment on susceptibility artefacts on magnetic resonance imaging and contrast enhanced mammography. *Surg Oncol.* Published online February 5, 2024. doi:10.1016/j.suronc.2024.102045
- 27. Pantiora E, Jazrawi A, Hersi AF, Abdsaleh S, Ahlstedt H, Molnar E, Wärnberg F, Eriksson S, Karakatsanis A. Magnetic Seed vs Guidewire Breast Cancer Localization With Magnetic Lymph Node Detection: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Surg. 2023 Dec 27:e236520. doi: 10.1001/jamasurg.2023.6520. Epub ahead of print.

Table 1. Latten	it character istics	
Age (yea	urs)*, median (iqr)	61 (50, 69)
Body Mass I (n	Index, BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )* nedian, iqr)	25.1 (21, 29.6)
Breast volume	e (mm <sup>3</sup> ) *(median, iqr)	453 (309, 676)
Lesion Size	(mm) *(median, iqr)	16 (12, 25)
Specin	nen Size (mm)*	38.8 (17.7, 60.4)
Lateralization.	Right Breast	52 (53.6)
n,(%)	Left Breast Missing data	44 (45.4)
SPIO	Periareolar	6(62)
injection site in the breast (n.%)	Peritumoral	91 (93.8)
Massage after	No	72 (74.2)
SPIO	Yes	25 (25.8)
injection (n,%)		~ /
Use of blue	No	73 (75.3)
dye (n,%)	Yes	24 (24.7)

## Table 1. Patient characteristics

Days betwee	en SPIO injection and	5 (0, 7)
surger	y* (median, iqr)	
Histology	IBC, Luminal A	48 (49.5)
(n,%)	IBC, Luminal B,	22 (22.7)
	HER2-	
	IBC, Luminal B,	7 (7.2)
	HER2+	
	IBC, Basal-like, HER+	1 (1)
	IBC, Triple negative	8 (8.2)
	breast cancer	
	DCIS/pLCIS	11 (11.3)
Location	Upper Outer Quadrant	55 (56.7)
(n,%)	Upper Inner Quadrant	12 (12.4)
	Lower Inner Quadrant	7 (7.2)
	Lower Outer Quadrant	13 (13.4)
	Central/Retroareolar	7 (7.2)
	Multifocal/Multicentric	3 (3.1)
Type of	Wide Local Excision	36 (37.1)
surgery (n,%)	Oncoplastic BCS	44 (45.4)
	(Volume displacement)	
	Reduction	4 (4.1)
	mammaplasty	
	Oncoplastic BCS	13 (13.4)
	(Volume replacement)	
Successful	No	2 (2.1)
SLN detection	Yes	87 (89.7)
(n,%)	Not performed <sup>*</sup>	8 (8.2)
Number of SL	Ns retrieved* (median,	2 (2, 4)
	iqr)	

Table 1. Patient characteristics. DCIS: Ductal cancer in situ. pLCIS: pleomorphic lobular carcinoma in situ. IBC: invasive breast cancer. iqr: interquartile range. SPIO: super paramagnetic iron oxide. BCS: breast conserving surgery. SLN: Sentinel lymph node. \*DCIS cases in which SLND was not performed.

		Prese	ence of a	ny artefacts			
			Univari	able	M	lultivariab	le
		Yes	No	p-value	OR	95%	p-
	l			-		CI	value
BMI		24.4	26.7	0.020**	0.949	0.847,	0.367
$(kg/m^2)^*$		(22.95	(24.5,			1.063	
		,	30-1)				
		27.55)					
SPIO	Freehan	14	5	0.003****	Ref		
injection	d	(73.7)	(26.7		[1]		
technique			)		_		
***	Image-	26	51		0.250	0.073,	0.028
	guided	(33.8)	(66.2			0.864	
	- C		)				

 Table 3. Factors of association between prevalence of "any artefact" or

 "SPIO-specific artefact"

Post		2700	780	0.002**	1.000	0.9999	3.318
resection		(852,	(0,		0	,	
signal*		9200)	2536)			1.0002	
Signal on		2000	106	< 0.001**	1.000	1.0001	0.021
postoperativ		(393,	(0,		2	,	
e visit*		7584)	930)			1,0003	
	Р	resence of	of SPIO s	specific artefac	ets		
			Univari	able	M	Iultivariab	le
BMI		23.7	26.4	0.009**	0.879	0.709,	0.244
$(kg/m^2)$ *		(22.1.	(23.6.			1.091	
(8)		24.8)	30.1)				
		)	5011)				
SPIO	Freehan	14	5	<0.001***	ref		
injection	d	(737)	(26.3	*	[1]		
technique	u	(13.1)	(20.5		[1]		
***			)				
	Imaga	7(01)	70		0.047	0.010	<0.00
	mage-	7 (9.1)	/0		0.047	0.010,	~0.00 1
	guided		(90.9			0.217	1
			)				
Dt		8000	1000	<0.001**	1.000	0.0000	0.120
Post		8000	1090	<0.001***	1.000	0.9999	0.120
resection		(2000,	(88,		2	,	
signal*		9999)	2800)			1.0004	
Brown	Yes	11		0.001****	1.588	0.290,	0.594
staining on		(47.8)				8.699	
cut surface							
	No	10			ref.		
		(13.5)			[1]		
Signal on		2100	243	0.002**	1.000	0.9999	0.196
postoperativ		(200,	(0,		1	,	
e visit*		8900)	1810)			1.0003	
		)	/				

\*: median (interquartile range, iqr and range for the signals); \*\* Mann-Whitney U test; \*\*\*: n, %; \*\*\*\*: Fisher's exact test (2x2) or Chi-sqare (2x3 or 2x4). BMI: Body Mass Index, measured in kilograms divided by square metres (kg/m<sup>2</sup>); CI: confidence intervals; mI: millilitres; mm: millimetres, OR: odds ratio; Ref.: Reference Category; y: years.

		R1	R2	R3	R4	p-value	kappa	95% CI	percent agreement	95% CI
%										
ny Artefacts in MRI	"Yes" vs "No" vs "Unsure"	116 (74.4)	38 (24.1)	54 (34.2)	91 (57.6)	<0.001	0.293	0.223, 0.363	58.3	53.5, 63.0
	"Yes" vs "No" and "Unsure"	116 (74.4)	38 (24.1)	54 (34.2)	91 (57.6)	<0.001	0.350	0.272, 0.429	66.0	61.5, 70.6
rtefact significance for ly artefact	Artefact that does not impact image and interpretation at all	12 (10.3)	7 (18.4)	8 (14.8)	35 (38.5)					
	Artefact impairs the image interpretation somewhat but does not interfere with characterization and assessment	103 (88.8)	31 (81.6)	46 (85.2)	56 (61.5)	<0.001	0.355	0.288, 0.421	59.6	54.4. 64.4
	Artefact impairs image to make interpretation impossible	1 (0.6)	0(0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)					
PIO specific Artefacts	"Yes" vs "No" vs "Unsure"	43 (27.2)	19 (12.0)	49 (31.0)	78 (49.4)	<0.001	0.255	0.198, 0.312	50.1	45.3, 54.9
1 MRI	"Yes" vs "No" and "Unsure"	43 (27.2)	19 (12.0)	49 (31.0)	78 (49.4)	<0.001	0.293	0.214, 0.372	69.5	65.3, 73.8
rtefact significance for PIO specific artefacts	Artefact that does not impact image and interpretation at all	5 (3.2)	2 (1.3)	8 (5.2)	30 (19.5)					
	Artefact impairs the image interpretation somewhat but does not interfere with characterization and assessment	37 (23.7)	17 (10.7)	41 (26.5)	48 (31.2)	0.021	0.435	0.366, 0.504	91.5	89.7, 93.2
	Artefact impairs image to make interpretation impossible	1 (0.6)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)					
How difficult was it to ssess the MRI?*	median (iqr)	3 (2,3)	2 (1,3)	3 (2,4)	3 (1,4)	0 303**	0 10***	0.14,	23.0	3 7 2 7 6
	mean rank	2.42	2.15	2.86	2.58		0110	0.22***	0.00	0.16,7.00
How difficult was it to ssess the	median (iqr)	1(1,1)	2 (1,2)	2 (2,2)	1 (1,2)	<0.001**	***2900	0.003,	49.5	45 2 53 7
nammogram?.*	mean rank	1.64	3.01	3.13	2.22			$0,131^{***}$		
tecurrence diagnosed n MRI	u (%)	6 (100)	6 (100)	6 (100)	6 (100)	1.000	1.000	1.000, 1.000	100.0	100.0, 100.0

Table 2. Outcomes of the radiological assessment. All summary data in columns R1-R4 are n,% except for \*, which are Likert items summarized as medians (interquartile range; iqr). All p-values correspond to marginal homogeneity (Stuart Maxwell) test, apart from \*\*, that correspond to Friedman's test for k medians. All Kappa values respond to Conger's kappa, apart from \*\*\*, that correspond to Krippendorf's alpha. MRI: Magnetic Resonance Imaging. 1(1)